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ABSTRACT

The study evaluated the adoption of International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSASs) and quality of financial reporting in Lagos State. The study ascertained the level of adoption of IPSASs; identified the challenges faced in the adoption of IPSASs; investigated the determinants of the level of adoption of IPSASs and examined the influence of IPSASs on quality of financial reporting in the public sector.

 The study employed primary and secondary data.  The population consisted of all the public sector accountants and auditors working in Lagos State.  The sample size selected was 300 using stratified random sampling technique.  Data were collected with the aid of questionnaire and disclosure checklist sent to accountants and auditors in Accountant General Office, Auditor General Office, Ministry of Finance and Lagos Internal Revenue Service (LIRS). A total of 291 copies of questionnaire were retrieved from the subjects.  Data were analyzed using descriptive and inferential statistics such as percentages, paired sampled t-test, and ordinal logistic regression technique.       

The results of the study revealed that for all the included standards in IPSASs, the adoption, compliance and disclosure of IPSASs was at least 68% of the expected disclosure in Lagos State.  The study also showed that the major challenges confronting the adoption of IPSASs in Lagos State were the cost of implementation (57.7%) and the increased complexity of financial reporting (51.7%). Furthermore, the study revealed that Cash Accounting Based System (CABS), adequate Multidimensional Reporting Requirement (MDRR), Awareness On the Transition of IPSASs (AOT), Commitment Of Central Entities And Key officials (CCEK), Effective Project Management Structure for IPSASs (EPMS), Budget For Additional Human Resources (BAHR), adequate Technology Capacity And Information System (TCIS), regular Update Of The Governing Bodies On The Progress made in the implementation of IPSASs (UGBP), Interim Financial Statement Report (IFSR), Continuous Testing Of Internal Controls (CTIC) and Prevention Of Corrupt Practice (PCP) are the major determinants of adoption of IPSASs.  An increase in this will raise the likelihood of the occurrence of higher level of adoption of IPSASs by 1.399, 1.304, 1.228, 1.418, 1.261, 1.28, 1.093, 1.128, 1.465, 1.675 and 1.111 respectively.  
However, Total Support and Commitment from the Political Class (TSU) decreases the likelihood of the occurrence of higher level of adoption of IPSASs by 0.71.  Finally, the study unveiled that there was significant influence of the adoption of IPSASs on the quality of financial reports (t-value = 0.0327, p-value < 0.01). The study concluded that the adoption of IPSASs has positive significant effect on the quality of financial reporting in Lagos State. 

CHAPTER ONE

INTRODUCTION

1.1
Background to the Study
The importance of quality financial reporting in the public sector cannot be underestimated.  It provides the financial information that stakeholders in the economy make use of in making daily operative and strategic financial decisions.  Most often, financial reporting in public sector suffers setbacks from cash basis disclosure requirement inadequacies.  Appah and Appiah (2010) opines that cash basis accounting disclosure requirement is a basic setback facing quality financial reporting in the public sector.  Philip (2006) also opines that poor financial management report in Nigeria can be attributed to the inadequacies of the cash basis accounting systems used in the Nigerian public sector. 

The cash accounting system focuses on actual cash flows and whether monies are released as appropriated.  Cash accounting do not give enough information that can be used to evaluate the performance of those entrusted with public resources.  Cash accounting system pay no attention to whether or not the resources so appropriated are efficiently utilized.  Cash accounting system fails to capture information on public sector assets and liabilities and present a very short-term view of public finances report in the financial reports.  This has posed serious hindrance to prudent management of the nation’s resources, macro-economic stability, accountability, transparency, and efficiency in the use of the nation’s resources (Chan, 2008). 
Efforts at ensuring quality financial reporting have always been short lived (Appah, et al, 2010). Kelly and Hartley (2010) opines that the authenticating function of external auditing in accounting has had it fair share of blame, criticism and failures on ensuring quality financial reporting.  Considerable expenditures and investments have been made by governments, institutions and concerned agencies to ensure quality financial reporting.  Legislations such as Economic and Financial Crimes Commission (EFCC) and Independent Corrupt Practices and other related offences Commission (ICPC), either wholly or partly were also targeted to reduce the inadequacies of cash basis disclosure requirement in the public sector.  These equally have not yet solved the problem.  

Kelly and Hartley (2010); Micheal (2016) are of the opinion that financial statements prepared according to a nation’s local accounting standards may fail to meet the needs of investors, creditors, government agencies, management, employees and labour unions.  More so, due to increasing collaboration, trade and commerce amongst the countries of the world, there has been the need for increased uniformity in the standards guiding financial statements so that such statements remain comprehensive and convey the same information to users across the globe.  

The advent of unified accounting standards can be traced to the International Accounting Standards Committee (IASC) formed in 1973, which determines and disseminates information about International Accounting Standards Board (IASB, 2008). In 2001, the International Accounting Standards Committee (IASC) was reconstituted to become the International Accounting Standard Board (IASB) thus making it an independent international standards setter.  The first set of accounting standards issued by the board was known as International Accounting Standard (IAS). IAS was later modified to International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) in 2001.  Therefore, IFRSs refers to the new numbered series of pronouncements that the IASB issued, as distinct from the IASs series.  More broadly, IFRSs refer to the entire body of IASB pronouncements, including standards and interpretations approved by the IASB, Standards Interpretation Committee (SIC) and International Financial Reporting Interpretation Committee (IFRIC). 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) were strictly adopted and applied in commercial entities and were later adapted to public sector accounting.  The compliance by the public sector completes the entire transition cycle, that is, application of IFRS to public accounting, known as International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSASs) as prescribed by International Public Sector Accounting Standard Board (IPSASB) formed in 2004.  IPSASs, therefore, are sets of accounting standards issued by the IPSAS Board for use by public entities around the world in the preparation of financial statements, and are based on IFRSs issued by the IASB.  The IPSASB issues IPSASs dealing with financial reporting under the cash basis of accounting and accrual basis of accounting.  IPSASB encourages the adoption of IPSASs and the harmonization of national requirements with IPSASs (Mukoro, 2013). Thus, IPSASs have become de-facto international benchmark for evaluating government accounting practices worldwide.           

Many governments; Ahmed and Valentine (2004); Hathorn (2007); Hassan (2013); Mukoro (2013) are introducing IPSASs because IPSASs are considered to be good practice.  However, very few governments have actually adopted the standards. One hundred and thirteen countries have adopted or are in the process of adopting IPSASs (Hathorn, 2007). Malahleha (2013) also revealed that countries such as Abu Dhabi, Albania, Australia, Azerbaijan, Bangladesh, Brazil, Canada, Cayman Islands, Cyprus, Costa Rica, East Timor, Fiji, France, Georgia, Japan, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, Latvia, Liberia, Lithuania, Malaysia, New Zealand, Nicaragua, Pakistan, Palestine, Philippines, Romania, Russia, Singapore, Slovak Republic, Solomon Islands, Spain, Sri Lanka, Switzerland, Tanzania, Turkey, United Kingdom, Uruguay, and Uganda  have adopted IPSASs.  
Hassan (2013) noted that only six governments across the world had actually issued financial statements on the full accrual basis.  Hassan further revealed that some countries such as United States of America, Australia, Albania, Chile, Canada, Cyprus and Germany applied accounting standards that are already consistent with IPSASs.  In September 2009, the International Monetary Fund (IMF) also noted that eleven intergovernmental organizations had adopted IPSASs while others were in the process of adopting IPSASs.  World Food Program (WFP) was the first united agency to implement IPSASs.  In its 2008 financial statement, WFP adopted all standards issued by the IPSASB including several standards prior to their effective dates.  However, some of the countries yet to implement IPSASs include Afghanistan, Armani, Austrian, Estonia, Lebanon, Republic of Macedonia, United Arab Emirates and Ghana (Ijeoma & Oghomeh, 2014).

Nigerian public sector notwithstanding, before now identified with the cash basis of accounting in line with provisions of Finance Control and Management Act of 1958, as amended by CAP A15 LFN 2004, which records receipts and incomes when actual cash is received and records expenditure when actual payment is made not minding the accounting period in which the services were made or benefits received. Jim (2013) argued that any government that reports on cash basis does not account for significant liabilities such as pension and infrastructural developments.  Kuye (2010) also argued that crisis of inefficiency of some government organizations such as Power Holding Company of Nigeria Plc., Nigeria Ports Authority Plc., and the Nigerian Police Force were due to financial malpractices and concealment of material facts as a result of lack of transparency and accountability orchestrated by cash-basis accounting.

During the Federal Executive Council (FEC) meeting of 28th July, 2010, the adoption of IPSASs for public sector in Nigeria was approved.  IPSASs were adopted into Nigeria public sector with the view that its adoption will, no doubt, enhance Nigeria's image with foreign investors, reduce its risk profile as well as provide a reliable comparable reporting basis such that the country remains one of the best investment destinations in the African continent. To positively implement the decisions of FEC, the Federation Account Allocation Committee (FAAC) at its meeting held on 13th June, 2011 set up a technical sub-committee to provide a roadmap for the actual adoption of IPSASs in the three tiers of government in Nigeria.  Based on the recommendations of the sub-committee, FAAC approved the implementation of the commencement of IPSASs cash basis by 2014 and IPSASs accrual basis by 2016.

Lagos State Government started complying with IPSASs requirements in 2014 and subsequent financial reports have been prepared and presented based on IPSASs requirements till date (Alamu, 2014). According to Malahleha (2013); Adebimpe (2014); some other state governments in Nigeria including Oyo, Osun, Ogun, Ondo, Ebonyi and Enugu States are fully aware of the practices of IPSASs but are yet to implement IPSASs.  This study therefore was designed to evaluate the level of adoption of IPSASs, identify the challenges faced in adopting IPSASs, investigate the determinants of level of adoption of IPSASs and examine the influence of IPSASs on the quality of financial reporting.  This would give further necessary support to making implementation of IPSASs more effective in Nigeria. 
1.2
Statement of the Problem
The adoption of International Public Sector Accounting Standards in public sector accounting is important in that stakeholders need useful financial information and public sector accounting is supposed to accomplish this need.  The fact that IPSASs are unique and offer high quality is the main argument for making use of them.  IPSASs were adopted in Nigeria in 2010.  Federation Account Allocation Committee (FAAC) fixed implementation commencement dates of IPSASs cash basis to be 1st January, 2014 and IPSASs accrual basis to be 1st January, 2016.  The Federal Government gave directive to all the 36 States in Nigeria on the adoption of IPSASs.  However, only Lagos State has started adopting IPSASs in Nigeria.  Why is it that other state governments have not started adopting IPSASs despite that the Federal Government has enforced IPSASs adoption on all state governments in Nigeria?  This neglect on the part of other States may hinder accountability and transparency in handling public fund and financial reports (Chan, 2008).   
The few researches (such as Shakirat, 2013; Acho, 2014; Ijeoma & Oghoghomeh 2014; Olomiyete, 2014; Oyadonghan, 2014; Udeh & Sopekan, 2015; Okoro, 2015) on the adoption of IPSASs in Nigeria are not specific to mention governments that claimed to have implemented IPSASs.    Moreover, researchers (Jones & Browrey, 2005; Mellet, Macniven & Marriot, 2008; Guthrie, Humphrey, Jones & Olson, 2010; Ellwood & Newberry, 2010; Marissa, 2013) has carried out studies centered on state governments that claimed to have implemented IPSASs were carried out in developed countries.  Also, several researches (such as Noel, 2003; Jones & Browrey, 2005; Guthrie, Mellet, Macniven & Marriot, 2008; Humphrey, Jones & Olson, 2010; Ellwood & Newberry, 2010; Guthrie, Humphrey, Jones & Olson, 2010; Ellwood & Newberry, 2010, Marissa, 2013; Williams, Babonyire & Nicholas, 2016) from developed countries argued that IPSASs ‘promised significantly more in terms of efficiency, better service, and increased public choice than it delivered in practice. 
Researches on the adoption of IPSASs in Nigeria are directed towards the perceived effectiveness and implication of adopting IPSASs.  Formal independent studies of impact of adopting IPSASs, particularly in state governments who claimed to have adopted IPSASs in the public sector are not focused on, most especially in Nigeria. In view of this, more studies on IPSASs adoption should be carried out, concentrating on the state government that claimed to have started adopting IPSASs in the preparation and presentation of their financial reports in Nigeria.  Invariably, some of the actual benefits of adopting IPSASs would be revealed.  Staff of the World Bank and IMF has recently encouraged more critical views to be expressed over the introduction of accrual accounting.  

Also, the poor budget implementation and lack of accountability in the financial reporting of Nigerian public sector under the cash basis regime can also be identified as a problem (Ibanuchuka & James, 2014). According to National Audit Office (2002), Nigeria was ranked 136 out of 175 countries on corruption perception index on public sector transparency and accountability. There also exist various economic crises in many developing countries in Africa and Nigeria inclusive. There is a high government debt levels at various sector; therefore, there is need for high quality financial reporting in order to manage government finances carefully.
Furthermore, cash basis has some short comings such as lack of provision for depreciation of assets.  This will not enhance quality financial reporting.  Also, going through all the States financial reports, it was discovered that many States have arrears of 5 years financial reports (Mohammed 2014). This thereby creates a gap because the financial reports are not available and adequate for enhancing effective qualify financial reporting despite the adoption of IPSASs.  Hence, the study ascertained the level of adoption of IPSASs, identified the challenges in the adoption of IPSASs, investigated the determinants of adoption of IPSASs and examined the influence of adoption of IPSASs on the quality of financial reporting in Lagos State.  This study, therefore, evaluated the adoption of IPSASs and quality of financial reporting in Lagos State.
1.3
Research Questions
The research questions for this study were:

i
What is the level of adoption of IPSASs in Lagos State?
ii
What are the challenges in the adoption of IPSASs in Lagos State?
iii
What are the determinants of the level of adoption of IPSASs in Lagos State?
iv
What is the influence of adoption of IPSASs on the quality of financial reporting in Lagos State?
1.4
Objectives of the Study
The general objective of this study was to assess the adoption of IPSASs in the public sector in Lagos State.  The specific objectives of this study were to:

i. ascertain the level of adoption of IPSASs in the public sector in Lagos State;

ii. identify the challenges in the adoption of IPSASs in the public sector in Lagos State;

iii. investigate the determinants of the level of adoption of IPSASs in the public sector in Lagos State; and

iv. examine the influence of adoption of IPSASs on the quality of financial reporting in the public sector in Lagos State.
1.5
Research Hypotheses
The following hypotheses were formulated in order to achieve the stated objectives:
Ho1
There is no significant association between the level of adoption of IPSASs and the determinants of level of adoption of IPSASs by Lagos State Government.

Ho2
There is no significant influence of adoption of IPSASs on the quality of financial reporting in Lagos State. 

1.6
Significance of the Study
Achieving quality financial reporting is very important to Nigerian society and economy.  Stakeholders in the economy make use of financial report information for making strategic daily operative and strategic financial decision.  Thus, the quality of financial reports is of paramount importance.  The establishment of IPSASs and the implementation of the standards are expected to improve the quality of financial reporting (Udeh & Sopekan, 2015).

With the outcome of this research, Lagos State Government would be able to obtain the necessary information in order to provide better support for planning and managing resources and more generally for the decision-making processes, allowing greater accountability, even between different entities.  Financial statements prepared in accordance with IPSASs would present fairly the financial position, financial performance and cash flows of an entity so that users of such financial statements could make a relevant and timely value relevant decision.  Adoption of IPSASs enhances comparability which reflects the need for government and its agencies to have uniform set of financial statements. This uniformity will place a greater demand for accountability on public officers who manage the activities of the public. This will further enhance public-private partnership because of comparability of financial reporting of public sector entities.  
The adoption of IPSASs will pave way for full disclosure of financial information which will serve the need of different users (Ozugbo, 2009). IPSASs adoption will eliminate partial financial reporting being currently observed in most government accounting entities. Full representation will ensure quality of financial reporting in terms of its contents, relevance and international competitiveness.  The positive outcome of this study in Lagos State would encourage other state governments in Nigeria to appreciate from the findings of the study the need to adopt and change to implementation of IPSASs as the economic implications of its adoption were unveiled.  
The government would be fully aware of the actual gains of disclosure requirements of IPSAS adoption as it affects the quality of financial reporting.  Again, state governments in the South Western Nigeria and beyond would be brought to terms to the realities of IPSASs adoption and the economic benefits.  Preparers, members of the public and users of public sector accounting information would be encouraged on the need for full disclosure arising from IPSASs adoption as it influences quality of financial reporting.
1.7
Scope of the Study
This study focused on the adoption of International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSASs) and quality of financial reporting in the public sector in Lagos State.  2016 financial year was chosen because implementation of IPSASs became mandatory in 2014.  Since Lagos State public sector commenced the adoption of IPSASs in 2014, it is felt by the researcher that three years are enough for the state to overcome its teething problems 
1.8
Operational Definition of Terms
Accrual Basis: This is a method of accounting used to account for revenue only when money is earned and for expenses only when money is incurred.  This is the current adopted method of financial reporting in the public sector in Nigeria.

Adoption of IPSASs Cash Basis: It is the instance of choosing or the decision to be using IPSASs cash basis in financial reporting in Nigeria.

Adoption of IPSASs Accrual Basis: It is the instance of choosing or the decision to start using IPSASs accrual basis in financial reporting in Nigeria.

Determinants of Level of Adoption:  These are transitioning features/best practices for implementing a smooth transition to IPSASs. 
Implementation of IPSASs Accrual Basis:  This refers to the fulfillment use of International Public Sector Accounting Standards accrual basis for preparing government accounting towards achieving quality financial reporting in Nigeria.

Level of Adoption:  This is the accountants and auditors perception of the level of compliance with IPSASs and disclosure requirements of IPSASs in Lagos State.

CHAPTER TWO

LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1
Introduction

Theories as well as empirical studies relating to evaluation of the adoption of IPSASs and quality of financial reporting in Lagos State were examined in this chapter.  Both the theories and empirical studies were reviewed in order to gain insight into the state of knowledge and to serve as input into this study.  To this end, the chapter is divided into five sections.  Section 2.2 was on the conceptual review, and section 2.3 dealt with the theoretical review.  This is followed by section 2.4 which was on empirical studies from developed countries, developing countries, Nigeria and international financial institutions.  Section 2.5, focused on the gap in the literature while section 2.6 focused on the conceptual framework for the study.
2.2
Conceptual Review

This study reviewed the broad abstract concepts, ideas and guiding general principles as regards evaluation of the adoption of IPSASs and quality of financial reporting.  Some of the concepts reviewed include; meaning and importance of public sector, public sector accounting, Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP), public sector accounting reform in Nigeria, financial reporting in Nigeria, quality financial reporting, achieving quality financial reporting in Nigeria and advent of unified accounting standard.  

2.2.1
Meaning and importance of public sector

In the simplest form, public sector can be defined as all organizations which are not privately owned and operated but which are established, run and financed by government on behalf of the public.  The public sector comprises entities or organizations that implement public policy through the provision of services and the redistribution of income and wealth, with both activities supported mainly by compulsory tax or levies on other sectors (Adams, 2009). This comprises governments and all publicly owned, controlled and or publicly funded agencies, enterprises, and other entities of government that deliver public programs, goods, or services (Adams, 2009). It is interested in the receipts, custody, disbursement and rendering of stewardship of public funds entrusted.  The public sector is a term used to identify the portion of a nation’s economy that is focused on providing basic services to citizens.

Ogunle (2004) reported that the scope of services classified as being in the public sector will vary slightly from one country to another, most will include all services that are freely available to all citizens, even those who do not contribute to the upkeep and maintenance of those services. This means that services considered within the public sector benefits virtually everyone, even those who do not directly make use of the service.  One of the most common examples of services provided as part of the public sector is law enforcement. Police departments are operated by municipalities, counties and parishes, and in some cases by states, provinces and even national governments. Protection of this type is provided for everyone living within or visiting the jurisdiction, regardless of whether such person (s) participate in taxation or other means used by the government entity to finance the function of the police force.  This means that even if someone is not a direct victim of a crime, he or she is still indirectly receiving protection from law enforcement, making it possible to move freely through the area with relatively little or no fear of becoming a crime victim.  

Olomiyete (2014); Oyadonghan (2014); Udeh and Sopekan (2015) revealed that education is another example of a service provided in a public sector.  Nations that support a public school system typically do so without requiring students to pay tuition or fees to take advantage of learning opportunities found in a primary and secondary education system. In addition, individuals who are not directly involved with the system still benefit from the  presence of the schools, since graduates are better equipped to function in the community in terms of securing employment and participating in activities that helps to improve the quality of life in that community.  The public sector also includes such important services as the armed services, the creation and maintenance of a public road system, public transit systems that serves larger communities, and in some cases healthcare that is provided for citizens who cannot afford the luxury to pay for private coverage. Olo (2004) pointed out that even something as simple as street light within a municipality would be considered as a service provided within the scope of the public sector. In all forms, the ideas behind public sector services are to allow citizens to enjoy a higher standard of living that would have been impossible otherwise (Olo, 2004). 
2.2.2
Public sector accounting

Accounting generally is a scientific study in which records of expenditure and income of a company, individuals or governments are kept coupled with other useful information for planning, decision making and control.  Public sector accounting on the other hand entails composite activities of analyzing, recording, summarizing, reporting and interpreting the financial transactions of government Ministries, Departments and Agencies (MDAs) (Ahmed & Valentine, 2004). It is clear from this description that the government, like any business organization, should give an account of its activities to the various stakeholders.  Adams (2004) defined public sector accounting as a process of recording, communicating, summarizing, analyzing and interpreting government financial transactions and statistics in aggregate and details.  The main purposes of public sector accounting include: ascertaining the legitimacy of transactions and their compliance with the established norms, regulations and statutes, providing evidence of stewardship, assisting planning and controlling, assisting objective and timely reporting and providing the basis for decision-making.

Public sector accounting is an integral but separate branch of financial accounting, sharing in common many concepts and principles applicable in the private sector such as consistency, materiality, periodicity, duality, entity historical cost and going concern (Adams, 2004). There are five bases under which the financial statements of a public sector are compiled, that is, cash basis, accrual basis, commitment basis, modified cash basis and modified accrual basis.  The cash basis is the basis of accounting under which revenue is recorded only when cash is received, and expenditure is recognized only when cash is paid irrespective of the fact that the transactions might have occurred in the previous accounting period.  Under the accrual basis, revenue is recorded when earned and expenditure acknowledged as liabilities when known or benefits received, notwithstanding the fact that the receipts or payments of cash have taken place wholly or partly in other accounting periods. Commitment basis of account records anticipated expenditure evidenced by a contract or a purchase order.  

In public sector financing, budgetary and accounting system are closely related to the commitment basis (Ahmed & Valentine, 2004).The modified cash basis and accrual basis of accounting use elements of both the cash basis and accrual basis of accounting. Cash basis of accounting recognizes a transaction when there is either incoming cash or outgoing cash. Accrual basis accounting, records revenue when it is earned and expenses when incurred, irrespective of any changes in cash.  Public sector accounting system normally has eight main components: documents providing evidence of transactions, bank accounts through which payments and receipts are handled, accounting records (cash book, ledgers etc.), procedures and controls, a means of aggregation of accounting data, internal accounting reports, external accounting reports (financial statements), and staff.  Sub-systems of public sector accounting system are as follows: general ledger (a system of classified ledger accounts allowing all revenues and expenditures to be sorted into appropriate categories), cash book, payroll, payables, receivables, assets and liabilities including cash management.

2.2.3
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP)
Transactions are recorded in accounts, following certain fundamentals, concepts and conventions, which are referred to as Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP). Accounting principles may be defined as those rules of action or conduct, which is adopted by the accountants, universally, while recording the transactions (Chan, 2003). The main objective behind the accounting principles is that the accounting statements should be both reliable and informative. This objective can be achieved when there is a common agreement and compliance about the accounting principles.  Every profession has developed its own jargon and vocabulary. Like all other professions, accounting has also developed its own concepts and conventions. These concepts and conventions have been evolved after centuries of experimentation and their use have, now, become accepted principles.  “Accounting” is based on a number of rules or conventions, which have evolved over time.  These principles are known as GAAP.

GAAP may be defined as those rules of action or conduct, which are derived from experience and practice, and are accepted as principles of accounting (Chan, 2003). GAAP are, however, not rigid and are subject to change.  GAAP have evolved in order to deal with practical problems experienced by a preparer and a user rather than to reflect some theoretical ideal. GAAP is a term used to describe, broadly, the body of principles that governs the accounting for financial transactions underlying the preparation of a set of financial statements. However, it should be mentioned, at the outset, that an application of many concepts does involve subjective judgment about the selection of methods available for choice, on the part of a person who is preparing the accounts. Depreciation can be provided on fixed assets, either on the basis of straight-line method or written down method. Both the methods are recognized. Same financial data, if different methods are applied, shows different financial results. This means that two different persons using the same source data could produce two entirely different sets of financial statements, with different operational results and financial position. There is no difference of opinion whether depreciation on fixed assets is to be provided or not. Here, the subjective judgment relates to selection of method of depreciation and not providing for depreciation on the fixed assets.
2.2.4
Public sector accounting reform in Nigeria

According to Adegoroye (2008), public sector reforms in Nigeria experience numerous reforms dated back to 1945 as explained by Tudor Davis Commission. Adegoroye stated that the reforms were initiated against the backdrop of departing from the traditional method of running government administration and the urgent need for a renewed public sector. Perhaps, the reform programs stems from efforts geared towards removing financial management, governance and administrative weaknesses that are inherent in the public sector. A very important document for integrating all the reform programs of the Nigerian government into an organic entity within the overall goal of promoting good governance and accelerated national development in Nigeria was the formulation of the National Economic Empowerment and Development Strategy (NEEDS) of 2003 (Shehu, 2010). In the work of  Shehu (2010), he speculated that all public service reform initiatives and programmes of the Nigerian government are to ensure that the objectives of NEEDS are achieved. Within the framework for implementation of the NEEDS is the institutionalization of some of the reform programs such as enactment of the Fiscal Responsibility Act 2007 (budget reform driven and managed by the Budget Office), Public Procurement Act 2007 (driven and managed by Due Process Office), introduction of e-payment system for all government expenditures (accounting reform driven and managed by Accountant General of the Federation), introduction of integrated management system by the Auditor General of the Federation (Adegoroye, 2008). 
Successive public sector reforms are a mixture of opportunity, strategy and tactics has noted by Andrews, Pritchett and Woolcock (2012), therefore public sector reforms should not be approached in isolation. Cross-national comparisons of public sector reform processes have some underlined components of the relevant policies used in their implementation globally (Jones & Browrey, 2013). For example, Ijeoma (2014) expressed that Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) countries aimed at improving the public sector’s performance and redefining its role in the economy through emphasis on greater focus on outputs and results and strengthened accountability and control. Likewise Ijeoma (2014), expressed fair about the credibility of government to operate sound financial practices in Nigeria, have made professionals and regulatory institutions to recommend reforms that will improve transparency in the financial reporting system.

Public sector accounting reform requires political and management support. Success depends on the ability to mobilize support from political leaders, who set the tone by demanding greater accountability and transparency. Their political determination will stand a better chance of realization if it is reinforced by the support of ministers and commissioners to change the way the government operates. Resource support is also critical to successful public sector accounting reform. Sufficient budgetary support is necessary to acquire software and hardware, and to hire qualified staff.  In many developing countries, the shortage of technical personnel imposes a severe constraint, thus, human resources are another obstacle to overcome. Reform involves changing policies and procedures of government accounting. Most countries have some type of rules and regulations for their public sector accounting systems, even though their institutional arrangements for setting such rules and regulations may be different. 
2.2.5
Financial reporting in Nigerian public sector 

The basis for financial reporting in Nigeria is entrenched in a number of conceptual and institutional (or legal) frameworks (Ijeoma, 2014; Izedonmi & Ibadin, 2013; Owolabi, Ocansey, & Dada, 2013). Conceptual framework is the heart of financial reporting in the public sector. It spells out government accounting principles and conventions, which form the basis for the preparation of budgets, financial statements and audits (Ijeoma, 2014). According to Izedonmi and Ibadin (2013), the legal and institutional framework such as the Constitution of the Federal Republic of Nigeria, 1999, the Finance (control and management) Act of 1958, the Fiscal Responsibility Act of  2007, the Audit Ordinance No. 28 of 1956 and the International Public Sector Statement of Accounting Standards) formed the background for developing financial regulations, treasury and financial circulars used in measuring the level of quality of financial reporting in the public sector in Nigeria. The constitution contained provisions for managing government funds, external controls for operating the accounting system, and procedures for annual appropriations (Owolabi, et al, 2013). 

The Finance (control and management) Act 1958 regulates the accounting system adopted for preparation of government financial reports (Izedonmi & Ibadin, 2013). In the works of Izedonmi and Ibadin (2013), it is clear that the most important aspect of Finance (control and management) Act of 1958 is the fact that it is specifically provided for the use of cash accounting basis in the preparation of public sector accounts. The Audit Ordinance Act of 1956 as amended by Audit Act of 1988 provided for the audit and accountability and transparency for the public funds by the government in Nigeria. The Act sets out the duties of the Auditor-General for the federation and timing for audit and presentation of audited financial statements to the public (Izedonmi & Ibadin, 2013). A considerable body of literature has been developed in examining the nature of public sector accounting and financial reporting in Nigeria (Shehu, 2010; Omolehinwa & Naiyeju, 2011; Izedonmi & Ibadin, 2013). 

Also, general and specific comments from national regulatory bodies such as Public Accounts Committee (PAC) and international bodies like United Kingdom’s Department for International Development, World Bank and Transparency International, suggest that there are major weaknesses in the systems for accounting and financial reporting in Nigeria (Aruwa, 2002). According to Aruwa, some of the major issues identified by these international bodies include a perceived gap in the content of government financial report and information need of users, lack of external accountability and transparency, poor linkages between government budgeting and financial reports, and the need to reform budgeting processes in view of the recurring large amount budget variances reported. Okpala (2013) in his study on effectiveness of the Public Accounts Committee (PAC) in conducting their oversight functions on government accounts found out that the PAC has not effectively exercised its statutory oversight function due to availability of weak regulatory framework for reporting and poor committee members’ qualifications and experience in conducting their functions. 

The increased demand for access to government’s financial information from both within and outside the country, global financial crises and enthronement of democracy has put governments under constant pressure to deliver efficiency gains (Jones & Luder, 2011). Individuals and institutions outside the government (such as taxpayers, citizens, investors and international development partners) have become virtually interested in the financial activities of governments and have subjected their financial reporting function to the greatest amount of criticism in recent years (Adegoroye, 2008). Adegoroye stated further that various persons, who have written on the subject of financial reporting in Nigeria, have defined the system adopted as antiquated, fragmented, incomplete, unreliable and lacking timeliness of reporting. Also, various authors and researchers (Aruwa, 2002; Adegoroye, 2008; Izedonmi & Ibadin, 2013; Ibanuichuka & James, 2014) had criticized the mandatory legal requirement by the Finance (control and management) Act for the sole use of cash accounting in government financial reporting.
2.2.6
Quality of financial reporting

As the subject of quality financial reports is broad, several definitions of the term financial reporting quality has been expressed based on the objectives of each research.  Lister (2007) defined financial reporting quality as “the precision with which financial reports convey information about the firm’s operations, in particular its cash flows, in order to inform equity investors”.  Other researchers define financial reporting quality as “the extent to which the financial statements provide true and fair information about the underlying performance and financial position” (Tang, Chen & Zhijun, 2008). However, a commonly accepted definition is provided by Jonas and Blanchet (2000), who state that “quality financial reporting is full and transparent financial information that is not designed to obfuscate or mislead users”.


International Accounting Standard Board (IASB) (2006, 2008), states that “the objective of financial reporting is to provide financial information about the reporting entity that is useful to present and potential equity investors, lenders and other creditors in making decisions in their capacity as capital providers”.  Accordingly, AICPA (1970) defined the purpose of financial accounting and financial statements as “the provision of quantitative financial information about a business enterprise useful to the statement users”. The role however of financial reporting is broader and “aims to provide even handed financial and other information that together with information of other sources facilitates the efficient functioning of capital and other markets and assists the efficient allocation of the scarce resources in the economy” (Federation Accounting Standard Board FASB, 1978). The concept of financial reporting quality is therefore broad and includes financial information, disclosures and non-financial information useful for decision making.

Jonas and Blanchet (2000) described two general perspectives that are widely used in the assessment of financial reporting quality. The first perspective relies on the needs of users.  Under this perspective, quality of financial reporting is determined on the basis of the usefulness of the financial information to its users (Baxter, 2007). The second perspective of financial reporting quality is focused on the notion of shareholder/investor protection. The user needs perspective is mainly concerned with the provision of relevant information to users for making decisions, whereas the shareholder/investor protection perspective aims to ensure that the information provided to users is sufficient for their needs, transparent and competent (Jonas & Blanchet, 2000).

As a response to the need for improvement and convergence of existing financial reporting frameworks of IASB and FASB, IASB issued in 2008 an exposure draft titled “An improved conceptual framework for financial reporting”.  According to IASB’s conceptual framework a key prerequisite for quality in financial reporting is the adherence to the objective and the qualitative characteristics of financial reporting information (IASB, 2008). Financial reports should meet certain qualitative criteria in order to avoid poor quality and accomplish their purpose. Both boards of IASB and FASB in their conceptual framework conclude that high quality is achieved by adherence to the objective and the qualitative characteristics of financial reporting information (IASB, 2008). Qualitative characteristics are the attributes that make financial information useful and comprise of relevance, faithful representation, comparability, verifiability, timeliness and understandability.  Qualitative characteristics are distinguished as fundamental or enhancing information (IASB, 2008). Fundamental qualitative characteristics consist of relevance and faithful representation:

Relevance is defined as “the capability of making a difference in the decisions made by the users in their capacity as capital providers” (IASB, 2008). Reported information therefore is useful only if it relates to the issues that are of prime concern to the users.

Faithful representation is attained when “the depiction of the economic phenomenon is complete, neutral and free from material error” (IASB, 2008). The phenomena to be presented are “economic resources, obligations and the transactions and events that change those resources and obligations” (IASB, 2008).

Enhancing qualitative characteristics are “complementary to the fundamental qualitative characteristics and distinguish more useful from less useful information” (IASB, 2008). Enhancing qualitative characteristics comprise of comparability, verifiability, timeliness and understandability and their definition according to IASB’s conceptual framework is the following:

Comparability is “the quality of information that enables users to identify similarities and differences between two sets of economic phenomena”.

Verifiability is “a quality of information that helps assure users that information faithfully represents the economic phenomena that it purports to report”.

Timeliness- refers to “having information available to decision makers before it loses its capacity to influence decisions”.

Understandability is “the quality that enables users to comprehend its meaning”. Information that users do not understand is not useful even in the case it is relevant.
2.2.7
Achieving quality financial reporting in Nigeria
The legislators in developing countries have the constitutional responsibility to ensure that the public accountants are accountable to the people for the management of public funds (KPMG, 2014). But the reverse is the case in Nigeria, where the legislators are part and parcel of the collapse of the system. However, for quality public sector accounting to be achieved in Nigeria, legislators at all level of government must ensure that appropriate laws and over-sight functions are properly performed by them. One fundamental problem in Nigeria is the failure of the value system. This failure has resulted to the high level of lack of accountability and transparency by public sector accountants.  According to Adegite (2010), corrupt tendencies pervade the strata of the Nigerian society so much that the youths, who are supposed to be the leaders of tomorrow, are neck deep in examination malpractice, 419 and internet fraud. Adegite recommends that for Nigeria to be among the most developed economies in 2020, and then the nation’s value system should be strengthened through the reintroduction of civics and ethics into the curricula of our educational system while a national orientation for the rebirth of our value system should be urgently initiated.     

Accountability and transparency law is only a part of the accountability and transparency process (Oyadonghan, 2014). A proper accountability framework would require that the government should put in place guidelines for preparing and approving work plan, method of monitoring plans, reporting performance, accumulation of portfolio of evidence on performance reporting, system of validation and oversight of performance reports, establishing and resourcing public accountability institutions, training public accountants and guidelines for dealing with political institutions by public accountants.  One fundamental means of achieving optimum accountability and transparency in Nigeria is the protection of the whistle blowers. An effective framework of accountability and transparency requires that those who blow the whistle should be protected against any reprisal (Udeh & Sopekan, 2015). The government in Nigeria should establish appropriate laws to protect the whistle-blowers.  Another is creating an environment of accountability and transparency. An effective framework of accountability rests besides formal structures, on a proper environment. It requires such things as existence of a proper code of conduct, training in ethics, appearance of equal treatment by senior accountants toward all employees, and unforgiving accountability of senior officers. It also means that the oversight bodies should adopt a reasonable attitude toward public accountants.
The success of quality financial reporting in the public sector in Nigeria lies on the proper implementation of the International Public Sector Accounting Standards. Public sector organizations in Nigeria use the cash basis of accounting. It is very necessary that Ministries, Departments and Agencies (MDAs) should begin to use the accrual basis of accounting. A complete accrual basis of accounting would make public accountants accountable for recording and safeguarding of public assets, managing public cash flows, and disclosing and discharging public liabilities. Adegite (2010) said that to attract foreign direct investments to Nigeria, the financial reporting processes must be aligned with international standards.  

According to Olomiyete (2014), public sector accountants are in a business that affects virtually every aspect of a person’s life. People, therefore, have a right to know, how the public sector accountants are doing their business. The legislators need to take a lead in this regard and enact necessary laws making it obligatory for all public entities to report on their performance. Public sector reporting on performance of departments or programs should be made mandatory.  One major problem affecting the growth of public expenditure in Nigeria is the high cost of doing government business. A large number of costs in the form of use of existing assets and facilities are not recorded in the year the assets are used. The government following cash-based accounting does not have a system of charging depreciation to the government assets and allocating them to various programs and projects. Thus, the true cost of doing government business remains hidden. A public sector accounting framework would require that a detailed cost accounting system be introduced in government. 

A very important problem facing public sector accountants in Nigeria is the clear absence of performance benchmark. Public performance reporting requires that benchmarks of efficiency be devised for all ministries, departments and agencies (Hillman, Cannella & Paetzols, 2000). This should be done in consultation with the MDA’s themselves and should remain open for periodic review and revisions.  Public Accounts Committees play a very significant role in the efficiency of public sector accountants in Nigeria. Public accounts committees should be strengthened with a system of familiarizing the members with the audit scope, approach and methods through workshops and powers to take action if their recommendations are not implemented.  

Change in the structure of public sector accounting. Public sector accounting system in Nigeria is grossly deficient. Financial reports are out dated and unreliable at all levels of government. Little attention is paid to quality financial reporting in the public service. Achua (2009) posited that there is an urgent need to protect the commonwealth from poor performance, and to protect individuals from lawless, arbitrary and capricious actions by the state’s surrogate administrators. Therefore, there is an urgent need to restructure the public sector accounting system taking into consideration the frailties and flaws of financial reporting in Nigeria. 
2.2.8
Advent of unified accounting standards
The advent of unified accounting standard can be traced to the International Accounting Standards Committee (IASC) formed in 1973 which determines and disseminates information about International Accounting Standards (Mukoro, 2013). In 2001, the IASC was reconstituted to become the International Accounting Standard Board (IASB) thus making it an independent international standards setter. The first set of accounting standards issued by the board is known as IAS and it contains 41 accounting standards.  By year 2009, over 100 countries of the world had adopted IAS and 13 more countries were in the process of adopting the standard. IAS was later modified to International Financial Accounting Standards (IFRS) in 2001 and has since risen to 55. Therefore, IFRSs refers to the new numbered series of pronouncements that the IASB issued, as distinct from the IASs series issued by its predecessor.  IASB (2008) broadly defined IFRSs as the entire body of IASB pronouncements, including standards and interpretations approved by the IASB, Standard Interpretation Committee (SIC) and International Financial Reporting Interpretation Committee (IFRIC).

IFRS was strictly adopted and applied in commercial entities and was later adapted to public sector accounting.  The compliance by the Public Sector completes the entire transition circle. That is application of IFRS to public accounting, known as International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSASs) as prescribed by International Public Sector Accounting Standard Board (IPSASB) formed in 2004.






Figure 1: Schematic Diagram of IAS, IFRS and IPSASs
Source: Mukoro, 2013


2.2.9
Overview of International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSASs)

IPSASB develops accounting standards for public sector entities (Heald, 2003). The IPSASB recognizes the significant benefits of achieving consistent and comparable financial information across jurisdictions.  Also IPSASB recognizes the right of Governments and national standard-setters to establish accounting standards and guidelines for financial reporting in their jurisdictions.  The IPSASB comprises a total of 18 members.  The countries represented on the IPSASB include: Australia, Canada, China, France, Germany, Japan, Kenya, Morocco, New Zealand, Pakistan, Romania, South Africa, United Kingdom, United States of America and Uruguay.  The IPSAS Board (IPSASB) is the responsible body formed to develop and issue IPSAS under its own authority. Current work program of the IPSASB are;
Phase 1 (1997-2002) through financial support of international institutions development of a first set of accounting standards (Core Set: IPSAS 1 - IPSAS 20; see appendix 3)
Phase 2 (2003-2010) Where relevant for the public sector, convergence with IAS/IFRS as of 31/12/2008 was achieved Issuance of first standards to specific issues of the public sector (IPSAS 21 – IPSAS 24; see appendix 3)
Phase 3 (Since 2010) Development of a Conceptual Framework for the public sector Focus on specific issues of the public sector as well as further development of existing standards (IFRSs convergence) 

IPSASB is a board under the auspices of the International Federation of Accountants (IFAC). IPSASB develops standards that apply to an accrual-based and to the cash basis of accounting. The IPSASB is among the four independent standard-setting boards of International Federation of Accountants (IFAC). 
IFAC is the global organization for the accountancy profession dedicated to serving the public interest by strengthening the profession and contributing to the development of strong international economies. It was founded in 1977. IFAC is comprised of 173 members and associates in 129 countries and jurisdictions which include Nigeria.  IFAC is expected to serve the public interest by: contributing to the development, adoption and implementation of high quality international standards and guideline, contributing to the development of competent professional accountants, promoting the value of professional accountants and trashing out accounting public issues. 

International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSASs) are high-quality global financial reporting standards for application by public sector entities other than Government Business Enterprises (GBEs). Accrual-based IPSASs set out recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure requirements dealing with transactions and events in general purpose financial statements.  IPSASs refer to the recommendations made by the IPSASs Board under the auspices of the International Federation of Accountants.  IPSASs therefore are sets of accounting standards issued by the IPSAS Board for use by public sector entities around the world in the preparation of financial statements, and are based on International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 
Basically, IPSASs are accepted from international organizations.  IPSASs are accepted for accounting for funds provided under World Bank Programs (Chan, 2008). Thus, IPSASs have become de facto international benchmarks for evaluating Government accounting practices worldwide. For these reasons, IPSASs deserves the attention of accounting policy-makers, practitioners and scholars alike. More and more governments and other public sector entities around the world are adopting the accrual-based IPSASs as a basis for their accounting and financial reporting. In total, more than 40 countries have adopted or are adopting IPSASs or comparable standards. 

Africa has been at the forefront of IPSASs adoption, with several countries intending to formally adopt the standards as part of financial management reform programmes. Some of the incentives and programmes for IPSASs adoption in Africa have been funded by donors. 
Table 2.1 IPSASs Adoption in Africa
	Country
	Adoption Status
	Update
	Proposed Implementation Date

	Ghana
	Partially adopted
	Ghana announced in 2014 that the country would implement 

accrual basis IPSAS from 2016, with full roll-out expected to take 

five years
	2016-2021

	Nigeria
	Partially adopted
	Nigeria began IPSAS implementation in 2016. Each of 

Nigeria’s 36 independent states will determine its own 

implementation period.


	2016

	South Africa
	Partially adopted
	Completed at local government level in 2009 using Generally 

Recognized Accounting Practice (GRAP). National and 

provincial public entities report on modified cash basis using 

either adopted IFRS or GRAP.


	2019

	Tanzania
	Completed
	Tanzania adopted accrual IPSAS at all levels of government
	2013

	Zambia
	In progress
	Zambia began adopting cash basis IPSAS in 2016 and is 

committed to fully adopting cash basis IPSAS in 2020.


	2016-2020

	Zimbabwe
	Planned
	Zimbabwe has announced it will adopt accrual basis IPSAS by 

2021. Central government and local authorities are currently 

using cash accounting.


	2021


The literature surrounding IPSASs adoption is less developed and often discussed from the perspective of Anglo-Saxon standard-setting processes.  IPSASs dwells more on accrual accounting.  Anglo-Saxon countries were key pioneers of accruals-based government accounting reforms, which had their origins in the 1980s from being associated with the New Public Management (NPM) movement.  There are 39 standards on the accrual basis of accounting and one standard on the cash basis of accounting (IPSASs Handbook, 2017). When the accrual basis of accounting underlies the preparation of the financial statements, the financial statements will include: the statement of financial position, the statement of financial performance, the cash flow statement, the statement of changes in net assets/equity and the notes to the financial statements, or annex. When the cash basis of accounting underlines the preparation of the financial statements, the primary financial statement is the statement of cash receipts and payments.

IPSASs represent a global standard for best-practice accounting in the public sector. The main benefits of IPSASs are their worldwide acceptance and the increased transparency provided over an entity’s finances. Furthermore, IPSASs require that more information is provided and disclosed in an organization’s financial statements, as compared to cash accounting, leading to better information availability and more transparency for decision-making. 
 The global adoption of IPSASs is based on the facts and values hinged on the following based on the IPSASs documents as listed in appendix 3:

Accountability: while the private sector will observe management as being accountable solely to business owners, public accountants are accountable to multiple stakeholders and more directly to elected officials and ultimately to the people.

Transparency: IPSASs promotes openness and access to information by citizens and their understanding of decision-making mechanisms, thereby bridging the gap between the government and the governed.

International benchmark: IPSASs has become the global accounting language of countries around the world, necessary for information sharing and comparability.

Aggregate quality reporting: IPSASs encourages an all-encompassing financial reporting where consolidation is not the only level of aggregation. It also, encourages columns for governmental and business activities revealing the true and actual position of government’s finances. 

Improved credibility/integrity:  Government accounting/reporting is not credible if government itself decides the rules.
Political leverage:  Government may be required to provide accounting information by a higher or legal authority e.g. United Nations.
International best practice and comparability:  IPSASs seeks to ensure that financial statements prepared in the basis of it are internationally comparable.  Comparable information assists the stakeholders in assessing how well their resources have been utilized.  

IPSASs are recognized as the centerpiece of the worldwide accounting profession’s efforts to influence government accounting reforms in developing countries (Sutcliffe, 2003). The World Bank endorses the use of IPSASs in accounting for its financial assistance to developing countries.  Developing countries regardless of their political and economic system are urged to adopt IPSASs as it would help the International Organizations to provide them the financial assistance that are required (Chan, 2008). Countries regardless of their political and economic systems are also encouraged to harmonize their national standards with IPSASs. IPSASs have the following assumptions:

There are so many common transactions in the private and public sectors that it is possible, and indeed preferable to have one set of generally accepted accounting principles for both sectors. Most IPSASs can therefore be set by making modest changes to the standards promulgated by the International Accounting Standard Board (IASB). Additionally, the IPSASs Board would establish standards for transactions and events unique to the public sector.  Since business firms annually prepare consolidated financial statement under the accrual basis, it is expected that governments should do the same.  Consolidated financial statements cover a primary organization and its subsidiaries in which the primary organization has a majority ownership interest.  The accrual basis is used by business firms with regards to sale (not production) of goods and services as the criterion for judging financial performance. 

Accounting standards are more objective and of a higher quality if the standard  are set by an expert group independent of the organizations, obliged to follow the standards.  For the public sector, independence can be achieved or at least enhanced by giving the task to a private sector body, an advisory board, or increase the number of public (non-government) members. Accounting standard should be produced through due process. Due process means that research and deliberation should precede decisions.  Furthermore, adequate opportunities are provided for interested parties to provide input before standards are finalized.

IPSASs can be applied by national, state and local governments as well as related government entities. However, IPSASs do not apply to government business enterprises. A government business enterprise within the meaning of IPSASs is an entity that has the following characteristics: It is an entity with the power to contract in its own name; It has been assigned the financial and operational authority to carry on a business; It sells goods and services, in the normal course of its business, to other entities at profit or full cost recovery; It is not reliant on continuing government funding to be a going concern (other than purchase of outputs at arm’s length); It is controlled by a public sector entity.  

2.2.10
IPSASs cash basis of accounting

The cash basis IPSASs prescribes the manner in which general purpose financial statements should be presented using the IPSASs cash basis of accounting.  Information about the cash receipt, cash payments and cash balances of an entity is necessary for accountability purposes (Ofoegbu, 2014). It also provides input useful for assessments of the ability of the entity to generate adequate cash in the future and the likely sources and uses of cash.  In making and evaluating decisions about the allocation of cash resources and the sustainability of the entity’s activities, users require an understanding of the timing and certainty of cash receipts and cash payments.

Compliance with the requirements and recommendations of this standard ensures comprehensive and transparent financial reporting of the cash receipts, cash payments and cash balances of the entity (Olomoyete, 2014). It also enhances comparability with the entity’s own financial statements of previous periods and with the financial statements of other entities which adopt the IPSASs cash basis of accounting.  The cash basis IPSASs is specifically for the public sector.  As a result there is no IFRS equivalent.  The standard has two parts.  Part 1, this is mandatory.  It sets out the requirements which are applicable to all entities preparing general purpose financial statements under the cash basis of accounting.  The requirements in this first part of the standard must be complied with by entities which claim to be reporting in accordance with the Cash Basis IPSASs. Part 2, this is not mandatory.  It identifies additional accounting policies and disclosures that an entity is encouraged to adopt to enhance its financial accountability and the transparency of its financial statements.  It includes explanations of alternative methods of presenting certain information.
2.2.11
IPSASs accrual basis of accounting

The IPSASB encourages governments to progress to the accrual basis of accounting and to harmonize national requirements with the IPSASs prepared for application by entities adopting the accrual basis of accounting (Adegite, 2010). There will also be opportunities for a peer review mechanism among the different types of government bodies as well as those that are similar (state versus state) and the harmonization of the budget and accounting functions in the country. The reforms are expected to increase the level of accountability and transparency in government, improve service delivery in the public sector, support efficient internal controls and bring into focus the performance of the agencies (Ahmed & Valentine, 2004). It would enhance credibility of the government’s financial information and help to build the confidence of Nigeria’s development partners.  It would also serve as a mechanism to promote the aims of the Freedom of Information Act of 2013 by ensuring access to government information, and facilitating the preparation of a fiscal operation report for the entire Federal Republic of Nigeria. 

Financial reports prepared on an accrual basis allow users to assess the accountability for all resources the reporting entity controls and the deployment of those resources, performance, financial position and cash flow of the entity and make decisions about providing resources to, or doing business with, the entity.  The accrual-based IPSASs accounts are more complete than the cash-based ones and by definition eliminate the scope for manipulating payments and receipts in order to suit specific reporting and control objectives.  Also, the information available from accrual-based accounts can improve management and decision-making and help organization make more efficient use of resources.  

The accrual-based accounting provides the opportunity to introduce efficient cost accounting features and to change organizational behaviour through the use of incentives and penalties including comparisons of the costs of services provided by the private and public sectors as well as the opportunity to establish effective performance measures that are not impacted by the vagaries of the timing of cash payments and receipts and which include information about fixed and current assets and liabilities.  Accrual-based accounting gives a more reliable picture of an entity’s financial health.  Fair value is defined as the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.  Fair value is also at the heart of the revaluation method for measuring property, plant and equipment after recognition as an asset.  
2.2.12

Impact of IPSASs accrual basis disclosure

Full recognition of liabilities for employee benefits obligations such as After Service Health Insurance (ASHI) and other accruing compensatory benefits, e.g. annual leave and repatriation grants; Recognition and depreciation of capital assets such as buildings, vehicles, furniture and equipment; Recognition of expenses on the basis of the delivery principle, which is more than the current obligation principle. Under the delivery principle, expenditure is recognized on the basis of goods and services received. As a result, during the initial period of IPSASs adoption, there would be a decrease in reported expenditure, in particular the reported expenditure under technical cooperation activities; Changed basis for recognition of revenue from certain voluntary contributions and exchange transactions; Valuation of inventories; Change in structure and content of financial reports at all levels (Organization and donor reporting); Annual, rather than biennial, audit of the financial statements.

Compliance with IPSASs accounting and reporting requirements would necessitate an in-depth analysis of the changes required to existing financial systems. In particular, recording of detailed information on capital assets and depreciation, inventories, employee benefits and expenditure recognition would need to be incorporated in the system. In this regard the possible options of modification, upgrading of the existing system or sourcing a viable alternative would be considered; Budgeting and Funding, implementing IPSASs would change the basis for financial reporting from non IPSASs cash accounting to PSASs based cash accounting and accrual, and later full accrual IPSASs only. This facilitates there conciliation between budgeted and actual results, it would be necessary to align the budget preparation to full accrual. The enhancement of existing capacity allowing reporting and comparison of budget against actual results would also allow for improvement in results-based budgeting.
2.2.13

Nigerian public sector and IPSASs adoption 

IPSASs are a set of accounting standards issued by the IPSASB for use by public sector entities around the world in the preparation of financial statements (IPSASs Handbook, 2015). The accrual IPSASs is based on International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), issued by the International Accounting Standard Board (IASB) where the requirements of those standards are applicable to the public sector. The accrual IPSASs also deal with public sector specific financial reporting issues that are not dealt with in IFRSs. Otunla (2012) reported that in July 2010, the Federal Executive Council (FEC) approved that the country should adopt the provisions of IFRS and IPSAS for both private and public sector. The essence of this adoption is aimed at enhancing the country’s financing reporting standards in line with global standards. Furtherance to this objective, in June 2013, Federation Account Allocation Committee (FAAC) set up a sub-committee to work out a blueprint for the adoption of IPSASs in the three tiers of government. PWC (2012) identified that the objective of IPSASs is to serve public interest by developing quality public sector financial reporting standards and by ensuring the convergence of both national and international standards, thereby enhancing the quality and uniformity of financial reporting throughout the world.
2.2.14
Best practices for implementing IPSASs 

The transition to accrual accounting is a major project for most governments. Like any large-scale project, it requires careful planning and management. Transition is likely to be smoother and faster when the following features are present, that is, a clear mandate, political commitment, the commitment of central entities and key officials, adequate resources (human and financial), an effective project management structure, adequate technological capacity and information systems, and the use of legislation (Ellwood & Newberry, 2010). In addition, Ijeoma (2014) gives the following set of 16 best practices for implementing a smooth transition to IPSASs.

Table 2.2 Best Practices for Implementing IPSASs 
	S/N
	Best Practices for Implementing IPSASs

	1
	Set up an interdepartmental IPSASs project steering committee or equivalent body tasked with ensuring that senior management understand the goals and vision driving the transition to IPSASs. 

	2
	Conduct an in-depth analysis of gaps between existing business processes, procedures, financial reporting and functionalities developed under Statement of Accounting (SAS) and the requirement and impact of each IPSASs Standard. 

	3
	In case of a major shift in the project environment re-assess the initial IPSASs adoption strategy and adjust this as necessary. 

	4
	Apply proven project planning and implementation methodologies including clearly defined strategic objectives, deliverables, timeliness, milestones and mentoring procedures. 

	5
	Develop a strategy for producing IPSASs compliant opening balances for the targeted implementation date (first day of the first year of compliance) as well as the closing balance for the previous day, based on the previous accounting standard i.e. Statement of Accounting Standard (SAS), but easily translatable into IPSASs terms for the opening balance of the targeted year. 

	6
	With a view to ensuring continued engagement of governing bodies in the change process, regularly update the governing bodies on progress made in the implementation of IPSASs and request that IPSASs adopt the relevant decisions, in particular with regard to amendments required to financial regulations and allocation of resources for the project. 

	7
	Determine and budget for the additional human resources required in the administrative budgetary and finance areas to ensure not only effective implementation of the transition to IPSASs but also adequate capacity to maintain future IPSASs compliance. 

	8
	Ensure that financial resources are made available for training where feasible, of in-house experts in accounting, business and change management or for the recruitment of external experts. 

	9
	Thoroughly analyze existing (legacy) information system for comparability and synergy with IPSASs requirements and, as a major element of the initial gap analysis, appreciates the changes that the system must undergo to support IPSASs. 

	10
	Communicate awareness on the transition to IPSASs through all available means of communication, training and documentation. 

	11
	Ensure that existing and future staff, in particular managers, supply chain and finance staff are fully familiarized with the new procedures and requirements through the use of specific documentation (manual) and trainings. 

	12
	Adopt risk assessment, management and mitigation strategies and practices for project implementation in accordance with the projects’ objectives.

	13
	Plan and prepare interim financial statements for review by external auditor(s) well ahead of the final implementation date to avoid unpleasant surprises. 

	14
	Establish and maintain, as soon as feasible, a bilateral dialogue between the organization and its external auditor(s) on the transition to IPSASs to help ensure  that both external and internal auditors gain in depth understanding of the new system and its impact on control procedures, as the implementation of IPSASs would require migration to accrual based accounting.

	15
	Perform continuous testing of internal controls during the preliminary implementation stage of a IPSASs project to ensure the accuracy of the data. 

	16
	Ensure that an independent and comprehensive validation and verification of the system is performed towards the end of its completion. 


Ouda (2014) also gives the following conditions as precedence for a successful migration to accrual basis of accounting.

Table 2.3 Conditions for Successful Migration to Accrual Basis of Accounting 
	S/N
	Conditions

	1
	An acceptable cash accounting based system. Countries with inadequate budget classification, no unified double entry based general ledger system, and inadequate fiscal reporting is advised to adopt IPSASs cash basis of Accounting before migrating to accrual basis. 

	2
	Entities or government considering a move to accrual accounting must have either a core of officials with required technical skills such as accounting, information technology etc., or the capacity to recruit such people for its key positions.

	3
	Total support from the political class 

	4
	Adequate system. With multi-dimensional reporting requirements of accrual based IPSASs, implementation of full accrual accounting can only be effective with the aid of a modern Government Financial Management Information System (GFMIS) with proven functionality in areas such as general ledger, accounts payable, purchases, assets management.


2.2.15
IPSASs adoption and quality of financial reporting 

The International Federation of Accountants (IFAC) by public sector committee developed IPSASs to guide government of the world in reporting high quality financial reporting. IFAC encouraged government and public sector organizations to adopt accrual basis of accounting for their general-purpose financial statement (Udeh & Sopekan, 2015). 
2.2.15.1 IPSASs Adoption and Accountability 

The recent shift to accrual accounting was initiated by the developed countries as a part of the public sector reform, thus, the annual financial statements play a significant role in the accountability of governments to their citizens and their elected representatives (Huges, 2013). Because the cash and cash moderated-based accounting does not allow obtaining the necessary information in order to provide better support for planning and managing resources and more generally for the decision-making processes, allowing greater accountability, even between different entities (Christiaens, Vanhee, Rossi & Aversano, 2013). Hence, Chan (2008) expressed that the international public sector accounting standards (IPSASs) have become de facto international benchmarks for evaluating government accounting practices and measuring accountability worldwide.
2.2.15.2 IPSASs Adoption and Transparency 

Okolieaboh (2013) provided that IPSASs are a collection of public sector accounting standards issued by the International Public Sector Accounting Standards Board (IPSASB). Fashioned after International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), their private sector predecessor, IPSASs seek transparency in public sector financial reporting across jurisdictions. 
 2.2.15.3 IPSASs Adoption and Value Relevance 

Ijeoma and Oghoghomeh (2014) clarified that IPSASs adoption must be value relevant to users of public sector financial statement such as taxpayers, members of parliaments, creditors, suppliers, and media and public sector employees. Financial statements prepared in accordance with IPSASs must present fairly the financial position, financial performance and cash flows of an entity so that users of such financial statements could make a relevant and timely value relevant decision. 

2.2.15.4 IPSASs Adoption and Comparability 

Okoh and Ohwoyibo (2010) opined that comparability reflects the need for government and its agencies to have uniform set of financial statements. This uniformity will place a greater demand for accountability on public officers who manage the activities of the public. This will further enhance public-private partnership because of comparability of financial reporting of public sector entities. 
2.2.15.5 IPSASs Adoption and Full Representation 

The adoption of IPSASs will pave way for full disclosure of financial information which will serve the need of different users (Ozugbo, 2009). In a similar manner Ozugbo further emphasized that IPSASs adoption will eliminate partial financial reporting being currently observed in most government accounting entities. Full representation will ensure quality of financial reporting in terms of its contents, relevance and international competitiveness. 
2.2.16
Relevance of IPSASs to developing countries

According to Chan (2000), IPSASs are primary intended for adoption by developing countries. Most English-speaking developed countries already have government accounting standards that are either similar to or more rigorous than IPSASs.  Even if their national standards are quite different from IPSASs, the other developed nations are under little external or domestic pressure to adopt IPSASs.  Developing countries, on the other hand, face a different situation.  The World Bank endorses the use of IPSASs in accounting for its financial assistance to developing countries (Huges, 2013). Huges further stressed that IPSASs is held up as the best government accounting ideas that the global accounting profession has to offer.  IPSASs therefore have become recognized benchmark for evaluating and improving government accounting in developing countries.  The initial goals of IPSASs were to promote greater government accountability in all countries, improved quality and reliability in accounting and financial reporting, better financial and economic performance, better financial management and discipline, and international harmonization of reporting requirements (IFAC, 2004).
2.2.17
Usefulness of IPSASs for developing countries  

Developing countries face the daunting challenge of raising the standard of living of their people (Shakirat, 2013). The contributions of accountants to institutional capacity building programs are enormous. The success of public sector accounting reform depends on political and management support, in addition to the availability of budgetary and human resources, and information technology. Public sector systems’ hardware is useless without software applications, and software is mindless without accounting standards (Udeh & Sopekan, 2015). IPSASs are a relative newcomer to the club of domestic and international accounting standard-setting bodies. Under the initial leadership and influence of mostly English- speaking countries, the IFAC Public Sector Committee chose to emphasize year-end consolidated financial statements. 
This kind of reporting addresses only external financial accountability at best. The historical orientation of financial accounting information further limits its usefulness for control and planning, which require real-time and future- oriented information. Summarized financial statements are often not sufficiently disaggregated to match the scope of responsibility of accountants. IPSASs-based financial statements are really not designed to demonstrate the accountability of subordinates to their superiors, and of the executive to the legislature. As such, IPSASs can make only a limited contribution to institutional capacity building in developing countries. IPSASs assume the existence of a robust system of internal control in a public sector financial management and accounting system. 

Considering the vulnerability of the government in developing countries to financial misconduct, the reliability of numbers in their financial statements cannot be taken for granted, even if IPSASs are used. For this reason alone, the accounting profession has a stake in the global fight against government corrupt practices. According to Reuters (2003), the World Bank estimated that “some 5 percent of gross domestic product worldwide is lost to fraudulent practices such as misuse of funds and embezzlement.” As a result of such statistics, fighting corrupt practices has become a priority of international organizations and many developing countries. At the end of the year 2003, 114 nations signed the United Nations Convention against corrupt practices. The World Bank established a financial integrity office to investigate allegations of corrupt practices.  Another study by World Bank’s Development Group conducted by Keefer and Khemani (2004), they founded that even in developing countries that are democratic, politicians often have the incentives to divert resources to political rents and to private transfers that benefit a few citizens at the expense of many.

Official corrupt practices threaten a government’s legitimacy and authority and reduce the amount of public money available to fund public services. Incompetent financial management is costly in terms of the inefficiency and disruptions it induces in the government itself and in the economic system. Mismanagement of cash results in financial losses. Imprudent financial investments can lead to greater risk exposure and reduced returns (Spanos, 2005). Delayed or under-collection of taxes reduces the amount of available financial resources and increase liquidity and solvency risks. Failure to pay bills as of when due can potentially create liquidity or solvency problems for employees, contractors and other creditors. Defaulting on interest payments and principal repayments to bond holders harms creditworthiness and may raise the cost of borrowing. For all these reasons, government accountants, auditors and financial managers are on the front-line of the fight against fraudulent practices. 

Currently, IPSASs seems to take for granted that transactions are duly authorized and properly executed. The role of accounting standards is to decide whether to recognize the consequences of these transactions and, if so, how to measure and report these effects. Accounting standard setters are certainly aware of the possibility that transactions may be structured to take advantage of what accounting standards allow. But it is primarily the auditor’s role to deal with this phenomenon. Similarly, unauthorized transactions and improperly executed transactions are matters of concern to auditors and management. This attitude overlooks the auditor’s reliance on the capability of the accounting system to generate audit trails. Besides the broader economic and social considerations, the detrimental effects of financial misconduct on government financial reports should motivate the IPSASs Board to pay explicit attention to financial integrity. Specifically, the board might undertake or encourage research on the implications of financial integrity, or lack thereof, for IPSASs. In principle, weak internal controls may lead to unreliable numbers in financial statements. Less is empirically known about how and to what extent government accounting numbers are distorted by unethical behaviour. 

Generally, accounting standards take on a greater social role as accountability and transparency requirements in countries that require higher standards of ethical behavior (Charity, 2014). Government accounting standards in effect become government accountability standards. Government must answer for the resources or authority it receives from others in the society and economy. Government provides both public goods and private goods, in return for the authority to govern, as well as economic and financial resources, Government accountability requirements are expressed as the terms in the political contracts, social contracts, and economic contracts that government enters into with its stakeholders.
2.3
Theoretical Review
The issue of quality of financial reporting has been studied for years, leading to the establishment of framework of theories to support this review, thus, this study reviewed the agency theory, stakeholders theory, resource dependence theory, stewardship theory, legitimacy theory, institutional theory, political theory and programme integrity theory.  These theories are mostly used in corporate researches and can as well be related to public sector accounting.
2.3.1
Stakeholders Theory
The stakeholder theory is a theory of organizational management and business ethics that addresses morals and values in managing an organization. It was originally detailed by Mitroff in his book "Stakeholders of the Organizational Mind", published in 1983 in San Francisco.  Edward Freeman had an article on Stakeholder theory in the California Management Review in late 1983, but makes no reference to Mitroff's work, attributing the development of the concept to internal discussion in the Stanford Research Institute.  Stakeholder theory instead argues that there are other parties involved, including employees, customers, suppliers, financiers, communities, governmental bodies, political groups, trade associations, and trade unions. Even competitors are sometimes counted as stakeholders their status being derived from their capacity to affect the firm and its stakeholders. The nature of what constitutes a stakeholder is highly contested with hundreds of definitions existing in the academic literature (Miles, 2012). 

This theory centers on the issues concerning the stakeholders in an institution. It stipulates that a corporate entity invariably seeks to provide a balance between the interests of its diverse stakeholders in order to ensure that each interest constituency receives some degree of satisfaction (Abrams, 1951). However, there was an argument that the theory is narrow because it identifies the shareholders as the only interest group of a corporate entity (Coleman, Hacking, Stover, Fisher & Nowak, 2008). Nevertheless, the stakeholder theory is better in explaining the role of corporate governance than the agency theory by highlighting different constituents of a firm (Coleman, et al, 2008).
 With an original view of the firm, the shareholder is the only one recognized by business law in most countries as owners of the companies (Ellwood & Newberry, 2010). In view of this, the firm has a fiduciary duty to maximize their returns and put their needs first. In more recent business models, the institution converts the inputs of investors, employees, and suppliers into forms that are saleable to customers, hence returns back to its shareholders. This model addresses the needs of investors, employers, suppliers and customers. Pertaining to the scenario above, stakeholder theory argues that the parties involved should include governmental bodies, political groups, trade associations, trade unions, communities, associated corporations, prospective employees and the general public. In some scenarios competitors and prospective clients can be regarded as stakeholders to help improve business efficiency in the market place. 

Stakeholder theory has become more prominent because many researchers have recognized that the activities of a corporate entity impact on the external environment requiring accountability of the organization to a wider audience than simply its shareholders. For instance, McDonald and Puxty (1979) proposed that companies are no longer the instrument of shareholders alone but exist within society and, therefore, has responsibilities to that society. One must however point out that large recognition of this fact has rather been a recent phenomenon. Indeed, it has been realized that economic value is created by people who voluntarily come together and cooperate to improve everyone’s position (Freeman, Wicks, & Parmar, 2004). Jensen (2001) critiqued the Stakeholder theory for assuming a single-valued objective (gains that accrue to a firm’s constituency). Jensen continues by suggesting that the performance of a firm is not and should not be measured only by gains to its stakeholders. Other key issues such as flow of information from senior management to lower ranks, interpersonal relations, working environment, etc. are all critical issues that should be considered. Some of these other issues provided a platform for other arguments.

An extension of the theory called an enlightened stakeholder theory was proposed. However, problems relating to empirical testing of the extension have limited its relevance (Sanda, Mikailu, & Garba, 2005). In order to differentiate among stakeholder types, Rodriguez, Ricart, and Sánchez (2002) classification was adopted, these are, consubstantial, contractual and contextual stakeholders. Consubstantial stakeholders are the stakeholders that are essential for the business’s existence (shareholders and investors, strategic partners, employees). Contractual stakeholders, as their name indicates, have some kind of a formal contract with the business (financial institutions, suppliers and sub- contractors, customers). 
Contextual stakeholders are representatives of the social and natural systems in which the business operates and play a fundamental role in obtaining business credibility and, ultimately, the acceptance of their activities (public administration, local communities, countries and societies, knowledge and opinion makers) (Rodriguez, et al, 2002). Rajan and Zingales (1998); Zingales and Luigi (1998) argued that the company has to safeguard the interests of all who contribute to the general value creation, that is, make specific investments to a given corporation. These firms-specific investments can be diverse and include physical, human and social capital.
2.3.2
Resource Dependency Theory
The basic proposition of resource dependence theory is the need for environmental linkages between the firm and outside resources. In this perspective, directors serve to connect the firm with external factors by co-opting the resources needed to survive (Peffer, 1978). Thus, boards of directors are an important mechanism for absorbing critical elements of environmental uncertainty into the firm. Williamson (1985) held that environmental linkages or network governance could reduce transaction costs associated with environmental interdependency. The organizations need to require resources and these lead to the development of exchange relationships or network governance between organizations. Further, the uneven distribution of needed resources results in interdependence in organizational relationships. Several factors would appear to intensify the character of this dependence. For example, the importance of the resource(s), the relative shortage of the resource(s) and the extent to which the resource(s) is concentrated in the environment (Donaldson & Davis, 1991).  

Additionally, directors may serve to link the external resources with the firm to overwhelm uncertainty (Hillman, Cannella and Paetzols, 2000), because managing effectively with uncertainty is crucial for the existence of the company. The resource dependency rule, the directors bring resources such as information, skills, key constituents (suppliers, buyers, public policy decision makers, social groups) and legitimacy that will reduce uncertainty (Gales & Kesner, 1994). Thus, Hillman, et al. (2000) considered the potential results of connecting the firm with external environmental factors and reducing uncertainty which decrease the transaction cost associated with external association. This theory supports the appointment of directors to multiple boards because of their opportunities to gather information and network in various ways.  
2.3.3
Stewardship Theory
In contrast to agency theory, stewardship theory presents a different model of management, where managers are considered good stewards who will act in the best interest of the owners (Donaldson & Davis, 1991). The fundamentals of stewardship theory are based on social psychology, which focuses on the behaviour of executives. The steward’s behaviour is pro- organizational and collectivists, and has higher utility than individualistic self-serving behaviour and the steward’s behaviour will not depart from the interest of the organization because the steward seeks to attain the objectives of the organization (Davis, Schoorman & Donaldson, 1997). According to Smallman (2004) where shareholder’s wealth is maximized, the steward’s utilities are maximized too, because organizational success will serve most requirements and the stewards will have a clear mission. Smallman also stated that, stewards balance tensions between different beneficiaries and other interest groups. Therefore, stewardship theory is an argument put forward in firm performance that satisfies the requirements of the interested parties resulting in dynamic performance equilibrium for balanced governance.  

Stewardship theory sees a strong relationship between managers and the success of the firm, and therefore the stewards protect and maximize shareholder wealth through firm performance. A steward, who improves performance successfully, satisfies most stakeholder groups in an organization, when these groups have interests that are well served by increasing organizational wealth (Davis, Schoorman & Donaldson, 1997). When the position of the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and Chairman is held by a single person, the fate of the organization and the power to determine strategy is the responsibility of a single person. Thus, the focus of stewardship theory is on structures that facilitate and empower rather than monitor and control (Davis, Schoorman & Donaldson, 1997). Therefore, stewardship theory takes a more relaxed view of the separation of the role of chairman and CEO, and supports appointment of a single person for the position of chairman and CEO and a majority of specialist executive directors rather than non-executive directors (Clarke, 2004).
2.3.4
Legitimacy Theory
Legitimacy theory is defined as “a generalized perception or assumption that the actions of an entity are desirable, proper, or appropriate with some socially constructed systems of norms, values, beliefs and definitions” (Suchman, 1995). Similar to social contract theory, legitimacy theory is based upon the notion that there is a social contract between the society and an organization. A firm receives permission to operate from the society and is ultimately accountable to the society for how it operates and what it does, because society provides corporations and authority to own and use natural resources and to hire employees (Deegan, 2004). Traditionally, profit maximization was viewed as a measure of corporate performance. But according to the legitimacy theory, profit is viewed as an all-inclusive measure of organizational legitimacy (Ramanathan, 1976). The emphasis of legitimacy theory is that an organization must consider the rights of the public at large, not merely the rights of the investors. Failure to comply with societal expectations may result in sanctions being imposed in the form of restrictions on the firm's operations, resources and demand for its products. Most empirical researches have used legitimacy theory to study social and environmental reporting, and propose a relationship between corporate disclosures and community expectations (Deegan, 2004).
2.3.5
Institutional Theory
According to new institutional theory, one of the factors that may have influence on organizational success is the extent to which an organization is able to achieve and preserve legitimacy in its environment. Richardson (1987) suggested that accounting constitutes as a legitimating institution. Suchman (1995) tries to define legitimacy in a broad way that incorporates both evaluative and cognitive dimensions: Legitimacy is a generalized perception or assumption that the actions of an entity are desirable, proper, or appropriate within some socially constructed system of norms, values, beliefs, and definitions‖ (Richardson, 1987). Organizations seek legitimacy for many reasons which are to enhance either continuity or credibility and/or to seek active support or merely passive acquiescence (Suchman, 1995). From the perspective of the public sector, legitimacy might be pursued from other national governments, international organizations, investors, groups of interest, and citizens of own country (Baker & Morina, 2006).

According to Neu (1992), management of an organization may mimic the accounting practices of other apparently successful organizations for legitimacy and technical reasons. In the public sector environment setting, government might seek legitimacy for its actions including the decision to adopt accrual accounting by following to measures employed by the private sector, other governments, and even international organizations (Baker & Morina, 2006). When an organization adapts to certain measures thus resulting in homogeneity with other organizations within its environment, the legitimacy of this organizations will ultimately increase.  According to DioGuardi, (1992), he suggest the new institutional theory as the process of adapting institutionally acceptable practices where organizations resemble each other both culturally and structurally is recognized as institutional isomorphism.
Equally Neu (1992) added that there are three mechanisms through which institutional isomorphic change takes place: coercive isomorphism which stems from political influence and legitimacy problems, mimetic isomorphism which is standard response to uncertainty, and normative isomorphism which is associated with professionalization. While all three mechanisms intermingle in empirical setting, they tend to derive from different conditions thus leading to different result (Lorsch & MacIver, 1989). 
According to Baker and Morina 2006, coercive isomorphism results from both formal and informal pressures exerted on organizations by other organizations upon cultural expectations in the society within the organizations function‖ (p.150). The natures of how these pressures are felt in the organizations differ, might be felt as forces, persuasion, or even invitation. In the context of public sector accrual accounting, a form of coercive isomorphism is when international lending agencies (such as the International Monetary Fund (IMF), the World Bank, African Development Bank (ADB), or (UNDP) exert pressure on the use of accrual accounting on developing countries as a required prerequisite to be able to access the loan.

Mimetic isomorphism emerges under the condition of uncertainty which acts as a powerful force encouraging organizations to imitate other successful organizations (Neu, 1992) . Enhancing legitimacy or avoiding loss of legitimacy has been the desired outcome of mimetic isomorphism. Related to mimetic isomorphism, Baker and Morina (2006) noted that while these organizations may not be certain about what should be done when faced with challenges, by adopting structures and processes used by similar organizations, they are at the very least being seen to be doing something” (p. 88). In the perspective of accrual accounting in the public sector, the concept of mimetic isomorphism can be perceived in the case of developing countries following the accounting measure used in developed countries where its application has been successful. The practice of accrual accounting in developed countries is perceived as legitimate, thus, by following the mentioned practice, developing countries can enhance their legitimacy or at least avoid further loss of legitimacy.

According to DioGuardi (1992), normative isomorphism is derived from two aspects of professionalism. First is the resting of formal education and of legitimating of a cognitive base and the second one is the growth of professional network that cross organizations and between which new models are diffused (DioGuardi, 1992). Normative isomorphism represents the influences of what are perceived as normal standards and conduct. This type of isomorphism explains how professional networks facilitate information exchange across organizations and thereby diffusion of new practice is achieved, leading to similar behaviour by members of distinguishable professional groups. In the context of public sector accrual accounting, NPM related reforms in governmental organizations can be perceived as one form of normative isomorphism. Adapting business management styles, which are seen as superior, means conforming to the practice of professions from the private sector. This action leads to the application of the same measures in both public and private sectors.

Coercive, mimetic, and normative isomorphism can result in increased homogeneity which is comprehended as a way to increase legitimacy within an organization. Where legitimating activities do occur, however, decoupling may exist. Decoupling represents a divergence of legitimacy-seeking activities and technical activities (Baker & Morina, 2006). It means that even though legitimating formal structures are being maintained, actual activities will vary based on technical requirements. In the case that decoupling occurs, adopting accrual accounting as a legitimacy-seeking activity will not result in the changes it was intended to effect (Baker & Morina, 2006).

2.3.6
Political Theory
Political theory brings the approach of developing voting support from shareholders, rather by purchasing voting power. Hence, having a political influence in corporate governance may direct corporate governance within the organization. Public interest is much reserved as the government participates in corporate decision making, taking into consideration cultural challenges (Pound, 1983). The political theory highlights the allocation of corporate power, profits and privileges that are determined via the governments’ favour. The political theory of corporate governance can have an immense influence on governance developments. Over the last decades, the government of a country has been seen to have a strong political influence on firms. As a result, there is an entrance of politics into the governance structure or firms’ mechanism (Hawley & Williams, 1996).
2.3.7
Programme Integrity Theory
At the core of implementation is the concept of programme integrity, defined as the degree to which a programme is implemented as originally planned. Programme integrity consists of five main dimensions: adherence, dosage, quality of delivery, participant responsiveness, and programme differentiation (Dane & Schneider, 1998).
Adherence refers to how closely programme implementation matches operational expectations; Dosage represents the amount of a provided service received by a participant; Quality of Delivery deals with the manner in which the service was provided; Participant Responsiveness measures individuals' engagement and involvement in the programme (Domitrovich & Greenberg, 2000) and Programme Differentiation identifies programme components in order to ascertain their unique contributions to the outcomes (Dusenbury, Brannigan, Falco, & Hansen, 2003). 

Evaluations too often focus solely on programme outcomes without considering how the programme and its components actually produced the observed results. In other words, understanding is gained regarding what happened as a result of the programme without a clear picture of how it happened. This approach can lead to inaccurate claims about how programme actually produced its observed outcomes (Chen, 1998). Understanding whether or not a programme was implemented correctly allows researchers to more accurately interpret the relationship between the programme and observed outcomes (Gresham & Gansle, 1993; Durlak, 1998). Implementation research also helps researchers more accurately describe programme components and their associated degree of programme integrity, thus fostering more accurate replication of the intervention. Without a clear understanding of these issues difficulties can arise when replicating previously successful programmes because practitioners will lack information regarding how best to implement the programme and the degree of integrity needed to produce observed outcomes (Backer, Liberman, & Kuehnel, 1986).

To illustrate this point, consider the hypothetical example of a youth programme designed to promote team building. The original developers of the programme have experienced significant success at realizing targeted outcomes and have solid evaluation data to support their claims. Unfortunately, developed countries did not collect implementation data and thus do not realize that a large portion of the programme success is tied to the quality of youth and staff interactions, which are due to the organization's extensive, on-going staff training programme. Without understanding the role of staff training in the programme's success, other organizations that attempt to replicate the programme may not realize the same outcomes. When implementation data is collected it allows researchers to more accurately determine the components of the programme responsible for observed changes.  Assessing implementation increases the quality of evaluation findings because it provides insights into how programmes work and why programmes succeed or fail, rather than just focusing on outcomes (Chen, 1998; Domitrovich & Greenberg, 2000).

Existing research supports the case for assessing implementation when evaluating programmes and interventions. Findings suggest that implementation influences programme outcomes (Dane & Schneider, 1998; Dusenbury, et al., 2003). Although implementation is often overlooked in outcome focused studies, assessing programme integrity offers important insights into why outcomes do or do not occur. Research has also shown that implementation varies widely across sites and change agents, meaning that a programme implemented in multiple sites may experience varying degrees of success due to different degrees of programme integrity (Durlak, 1998). In addition to the aforementioned benefits of implementation research, gathering programme integrity data can increase statistical power and promote dissemination. Moncher and Prinz (1991) suggest that since higher levels of programme integrity may increase a programme's probability of producing targeted outcomes; Moncher and Prinz also improve an evaluator's ability to detect change.  Additionally, when researchers can accurately describe both programme processes and outcomes, it makes it easier to identify and disseminate information about programmes that work (Domitrovich & Greenberg, 2000; Dusenbury, et al., 2003).
2.4
Empirical Review

In order to gain more insight into this study, the study reviewed empirical literature based on evidence of IPSASs adoption from developed countries, evidence of IPSASs adoption from developing countries, evidence of IPSASs adoption from Nigeria and evidence of IPSASs adoption from international financial institutions.
2.4.1
Level of adoption of IPSASs

Tudor (2010) studied Romanian public institutions financial statements on the way of harmonization with IPSASs.  The study aim was to analyze the specific issue of financial reporting under the IPSASs, in order to determine the extent to which the national accounting system has absorbed the foresight of the IPSASs concerning the financial statements.  A theoretical description and an empirical evidence for the similarities and dissimilarities between the Romanian accounting referential and IPSASs have been done.  The results of the research showed a high degree of correspondence between two analyzed sets of regulations, concerning the financial statements, but further developments are needed to be done, in line to characterize the whole Romanian regulations harmony with IPSASs. 

Christiaens, Vanhee, Rossi, and Aversano (2013) examined the extent to which European governments adopt IPSASs accrual accounting.  The study explores how the differing levels of adoption can be explained through the medium of a survey on related experts. Christiaens, Vanhee, Rossi, and Aversano reveal that there is no uniform method to the adoption process of IPSASs and accrual accounting as well as some governments’ still use cash based accounting with a smaller fraction applying IPSASs. The majority of local and central governments apply accrual accounting disregarding IPSASs which can be explained by the need for transparency and efficiency. The study disclosed that the main argument for the usage of IPSASs is the fact that it offers uniqueness and specific know-how and argues that the success of IPSASs strongly depends on setting out its strengths and emphasizing the necessary settings to be met.

Owolabi, Ocansey and Dada (2013) postulated that in national budget and debt as measures of public sector performance: Empirical evidence from Nigeria opined that, the objective of this study is to empirically investigate the relationship between national budget and debt as measures of public sector performance.  The data for the study were basically secondary data about Nigeria government as an emerging economy for the period 1960-2010.  The data so collected were subjected to regression analysis, with budget performance as the independent variable and domestic, external and national debt as dependent variables. Augmented Dickey-Fuller Tests equation was employed to perform unit root tests for stationary and co-integration tests. The findings show that there is significant relationship between budget performance and domestic, external and national debt and these are appropriate and adequate in measuring public sector. The results also indicate that the poorer the budget performance the more the burden of national debt and its attendant cost, resulting into poor public sector performance and national underdevelopment. 

Olomiyete (2014) reviewed accountability and financial reporting issues in Nigeria considering a change from cash accounting to accrual accounting.  The ills of the Nigerian public sector have been identified at various fora to include lack of financial accountability and poor reporting of government performance. With the enthronement of democracy, citizens’ expectations from the government are drifting from mere provision of public services to efficiency and accountability. One of the major challenges to achieving accountability in Nigeria is the capability of the cash basis of accounting to meet the reporting requirements of policies and programs of the government. This paper discussed the growing trend in debate about adoption of private sector financial management processes in the public sector as part of the public sector reform programs. The paper does not claim ultimate superiority of accrual over cash accounting, but shows how it will help to further strengthen the quality of government accounting and reporting.
Oyadonghan (2014), in his study discussed a critique on cash basis of accounting and budget implementation in Nigeria opined that in public sector accounting, government ministries and parastatals operate a cash basis of accounting which is believed to be simple in operation and understanding by staff that may not simply have a rigorous training in accounting. A great disadvantage is that it does not recognize assets, debtors and liabilities.  Oyadonghan analyzed the implications of cash basis in relation to the consistent problem of poor budget implementation in Nigeria. This study was based on empirical analysis of one hundred and thirty (130) questionnaires distributed to 130 public servants in the civil service of Bayelsa, Delta and Rivers States of Nigeria. The researchers used version 19 of SPSS to analyze the data using paired sample “t” test with the result that cash basis has a positive effect on budget implementation and fair presentation of the financial position of a government.  The researchers recommended that the accrual basis of accounting should be adopted by all government ministries and extra-ministerial departments in Nigeria.
Okoro (2015) reviewed the introduction of accrual accounting in the public sector of Nigeria. Okoro revealed the perception of auditors, accountants and accounting academics to the plan by the Nigerian government to introduce the accrual system of accounting in its public sector. A cross sectional survey research design was adopted for this study. Questionnaire was distributed to respondents and descriptive statistics were used to analyze the responses. The Percentage and one way Anova test statistics were used to analyze the hypotheses of the study. Findings included the fact that auditors, accountants and accounting academics welcome the proposed introduction of accrual accounting in the public sector of Nigeria. However, Okoro caution that certain factors (such as lack of correct information, improper presentation) could easily prevent the full realization of the gains of accrual system if not handled properly. The implication is that the introduction of accrual accounting system must be accompanied by an enabling environment that is favourable to its success. The study recommended, among others, continued spirited fight against corruption in Nigeria and injection of qualified and competent manpower to drive the change to accrual accounting system.
Olurankinse (2016) assessed the level of awareness and adoption of IPSASs in the curriculum of accounting education in selected tertiary institutions in Ondo and Ekiti States, Nigeria.  The emergence of international public sector accounting standards (IPSASs) is therefore seen as leverage as it aims at improving the quality of general purpose financial reporting by public sector entities thereby increasing transparency and accountability. IPSASs are a new concept that all institutions must fully adopts. The crux of this study is to find out to what extent is the awareness and adoption of IPSASs to both students and lecturers in-terms of teaching, learning and inclusion in the curriculum of accounting education. The methodology involved the use of well-designed questionnaires to obtain information from some selected institutions and the analysis was done with the use of maximum likelihood ordered probit regression. The result of the analysis shows that despite a high level of sensitization/awareness of IPSASs, the degree of adoption is still low due to low level of desirability by students and lecturers. The study recommends the need for the government to enact an enabling law to back up the adoption and more importantly to institute appropriate sanctions to ensure full compliance.

Egbunike, Onojo and Utojuba (2017) examined accountants’ perception of IPSASs acceptance in Nigerian public sector financial management and reporting. There are conflicting or divergent views as to what was accrue or what Nigeria stand to gain as result of adoption or implementation of IPSASs in Nigerian public sectors financial management and reporting. Egbunike, Onojo and Utojuba adopted survey research design, Taro Yamane was used to determine the sample size, 283 were selected from the total population of 972 accountants. Data were obtained through the use of questionnaires administered on a sample size of 283 respondents from the offices of Accountant and Auditor General of Kogi and Benue States. Mean, standard deviation, line graph estimated marginal means and General Linear Model Univariate analysis were used to analyze the primary data via SPSS Version 20. The study revealed that the adoption of IPSASs will increase transparency and answerability in financial management and reporting of Nigerian Public Sector. Also that adoption and implementation of IPSASs will facilitate the quality of financial accounting reporting in the Nigerian Public Sector. Another finding is that the benefits of adoption of IPSASs override the costs in Nigerian Public Sector. Egbunike, Onojo and Utojuba recommend amongst others that efforts should be geared to enshrine the requirements of IPSASs into Nigerian regulatory framework for financial management and reporting and the constitution of the Federal Republic of Nigeria. 
2.4.2
Challenges in the adoption of IPSASs

Jones and Browrey (2005) studied accrual accounting and parliamentary financial control.  Jones and Browrey noted that, accrual budgeting and especially the associated outcomes and outputs framework, while resulting in some improvements in transparency, have posed challenges for parliament’s control of the appropriations processes.  The fact that a decade after its introduction, Australian parliamentarians were still noting the potential for accrual accounting and budgeting did not really provide a ringing endorsement of this type of reform. It was recommended that the reintroduction of the Cash Accounting and Budgeting System (CABS) is necessary for fiscal policy determination and management purposes.  
Hyndman and Connolly (2005) studied the costs and benefits of adopting accrual accounting in Northern Ireland (NI). Their research revealed that there was little evidence that (accrual accounting) information was extensively used in decision making within the public sector. The interviewees identified the problems of unnecessary complexity and incomprehensibility of their information undermining its potential use.  This also included the increased costs of employing significantly more professionally qualified accountants. Their research concluded that serious deficiencies in the accounting skills available contributed to a rushed, confusing and uneven implementation process.  

Adriana and Mutiu (2006) studied cash versus accrual accounting in public sector.  In public sector the cash basis of accounting has been traditionally used, but in the last period there have been discussions over the benefits of a change to the accrual basis. There are a lot of important supporters of accrual basis like IFAC, who issued 40 IPSASs, based on IAS/IFRS, EU commission and IMF. Many organizations (like SIGMA and the DFID) work in transitional and developing countries question the priority for these countries at least, of moving from the cash to the accrual basis of accounting. Hence, the study concluded that the move to the accrual basis for public sector financial reporting has not gained universal acceptance. 
Guthrie, Humphrey, Jones and Olson (2010) reviewed presentation of budget and accrual accounting.  It was noted that observations of actual outcomes of the New Public Financial Management (NPFM) change processes (including accrual accounting) have been limited to those made by the initiators themselves, while formal independent studies of public sector change impact have been rare.  It was also noted that the mode of presentation of the accrual budgets and financial statements of Australian government departments have become a controversial matter.  It has led to a widespread dissatisfaction in parliament and parts of the public service. The study concluded that the adoption of accrual accounting and budgeting has the potential for enhancing the management of the Commonwealth’s funding and expenditure and has done so to an extent.  

Ellwood and Newberry (2010) reviewed the effect of adopting accrual accounting and parliamentary control in New Zealand.  Ellwood and Newberry also argued that this reform ‘promised significantly more in terms of efficiency, better service, and increased public choice than it delivered in practice. Also much of the literature evaluating New Zealand’s financial management reforms has been written by the key reformers themselves and appears more promotional than objective.  It was observed in the context of accrual accounting reforms in the UK and New Zealand that the fundamental purpose of governmental accounting is protection of public money, and that business sector accounting practices were not devised for that purpose. As with the UK and Australia, the introduction of accrual accounting in New Zealand has been accompanied by misunderstandings and confusion. The two academics concluded that various financial mechanisms built on the accrual accounting basis have, over the long term, had a detrimental effect on departmental capability in a manner that has escaped parliamentary understanding and control. 
Hamisi (2012) examined the factors affecting the implementation of IPSASs in Kenya.  The study sought to established factors affecting the implementation of IPSASs in Kenya hence the level of implementation. This study therefore was a descriptive study.  The target population was 38 Heads of accounting units and their deputies in 14 key ministries headquarters’. The sampling procedure used the stratified sampling method. This study gathered both primary and secondary data. Primary data was collected at the source by the researcher. Secondary data was data previously collected by other researchers which was also used in this study. Inferential statistics regression and correlations were done to establish the extent to which the factors affected implementation of international public sector accounting standards in Kenya.  From the findings, the study established that failure to tackle specific accounting issues, lack of adoption of information technology, lack of international financial support significantly affected implementation of international public sector accounting standards in the public sector in Kenya. The study concluded that there are fundamental problems that currently inhibit the efficiency and effectiveness of the IPSASs implementation. The study recommends that a legal framework to be crafted in order to prescribe IPSASs, all stakeholders and partners in the government embrace IPSASs reporting system in order to enhance financial management in the public sector, government upgrade Information technology and enhance adoption of ICT in order to cope with the financial data requirements of the IPSAS standards.

Marissa (2013) reviewed in his study debates on accrual accounting in the public sector: a discrepancy between practitioners and academicians. The study aims at revisiting the debates surrounding accrual accounting in the public sector. The study also aims at presenting how discrepancy of opinions either supporting or not supporting occurs based on the contributors of the literature. The research is conducted by examining literature concerning the use of accrual-based accounting in the public sector based on the sources and the opinions.  Findings showed that most sources from practitioners opt for accrual accounting while most of literatures from academicians were not in support of accrual accounting. The finding suggests that there is a missing link between academic accounting research and professional practice in the public sector. 

Mohammed (2014) examined government accounting system reform and the adoption of IPSASs in Iraq.  Mohammed identified the needs of reforming the government accounting system in Iraq as a developing country through the adoption of an accrual accounting based on IPSASs. It tries to search the reasons and requirements to apply IPSASs, discover the challenges which may face the Iraqi public financial management and discuss supported factors that help public management to adopt the accrual base, based on IPSASs. In furtherance to the above statement, the research generally aims to contribute in the development of the public sector accounting and evaluate comprehensively the usefulness, feasibility and abilities of adopting the IPSASs through accrual base in Iraq. The study mainly focused on the central government.  The research used qualitative methodology through a questionnaire sent to accountants in the finance ministry, auditors in Iraqi supreme audit board and lecturers in Iraqi universities, specialized in government accounting to get data about reasons, requirements, challenges and supported factors of adopting the IPSASs to the government accounting in Iraq.  The study strongly revealed the need to reform the government accounting system through the adoption of an accrual accounting based on IPSASs.
Acho (2014) looked at the challenges of adopting International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSASs) by Nigeria. The study which aimed at examining the challenges facing Nigeria in the adoption of IPSASs used questionnaires in data collection in a random sampling technique. Five point Likert scale and simple percentage were also used in the analysis of the data collected. Findings of the study unveiled that the adoption of IPSASs would significantly improve accounting financial reporting and recording system in the Nigerian public sector which would in no doubt enhance comparability and other ill practices in the public sector. The study then recommended that all the three tiers of Nigeria government should join hands together and ensure its full adoption and possible implementation. 
Williams, Babonyire and Nicholas (2016) reviewed transitioning to IPSASs in Africa: an analysis of the benefits and challenges.  Williams, Babonyire and Nicholas disclosed that IPSASs have gained worldwide acceptance and acclaim as an accounting and reporting framework as far as public sector financial reporting is concerned. IPSASs are therefore of interest to public sector accounting in many jurisdictions and this interest appears to be more and surging in the developing economies of the world, including the African region. The study first explained the fundamental principles underlying IPSASs, followed by a discussion of the benefits and challenges in transitioning to IPSASs in general, and by African governments in particular. Cash and accrual IPSASs are examined and the status of IPSASs adoption by African countries discussed. Williams, Babonyire and Nicholas latter elucidated and proposed the approach African governments may use for effective transition to IPSASs. The study concluded with recommendations to guide such transition to IPSASs.
2.4.3
Determinants of the level of adoption of IPSASs

Agbo (2014), investigated accountability in the Nigerian Public Sector. The population of the study is Nigeria public sector and the sample frames was drawn from Ministry of Finance, Presidency, Ministry of Works, and National Assembly.  Source of data was primary and were collected through structured questionnaire which was distributed to 100 management staff of the above organizations at random. Data were analyzed using Pearson Product Moment Correlation with the aid of SPSS. The result showed that there is weak accountability in Nigeria due to weak accounting infrastructure, poor regulatory framework and attitude of government officials.  According to the study, measures like legislative committees, financial audit, ministerial control, judicial reviews, anticorruption agencies, advisory committees, parliamentary questions and public hearing to ensure accountability in the public sector as in developed countries were adopted yet no tangible result has been achieved. 
International Monetary Fund’s (IMF) (2016) manual on, Implementing Accrual Accounting in the Public Sector, this technical note and manual (TNM) explains what accrual accounting means for the public sector and discusses current trends in moving from cash to accrual accounting. It outlines factors governments should consider in preparing for the move and sequencing of the transition. The note recognizes that governments considering accounting reforms will have different starting points across the public sector, different objectives, and varying coverage of the existing financial statements, it therefore recommends that governments consider each of these, and the materiality of stocks, flows and entities outside of government accounts when planning reforms and design the sequencing and stages involved accordingly. Building on international experiences, the note proposes four possible phases for progressively increasing the financial operations reported in the balance sheet and operating statement, with the ultimate aim of including all institutional units under the effective control of government in fiscal reports.
Yosra and Yosra (2017) reviewed Institutional and economic factors affecting the adoption of IPSASs.  This work investigates the environmental factors associated with countries’ decision to adopt International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSASs). Based on a sample of 110 countries, the results reveal a positive influence of external public funding (coercive isomorphic pressure), the degree of external openness (mimetic isomorphic pressure), and public sector organizations’ importance on IPSASs adoption. The result show a negative effect of the availability of local GAAP on this decision, whereas education level (normative isomorphic pressure) is a non-significant factor.  This research contributes to the international accounting literature in the public sector.  The results are relevant to standard-setters, regulators, researchers, international financial organizations, and non-adopting countries.

Flynn (2018) reviewed the roadmap for adopting IPSASs.  Despite these strong benefits, there is a wide variation in the rate of progress made with IPSASs adoption. Taking the sample of countries as examples, the review suggests progress remains slower than is desirable. Specific, complex and consistent implementation challenges have faced adopting countries, which need to be overcome.  Here are further issues to consider in the transition towards successful full adoption of IPSASs: stakeholder engagement, structural and legal transformation, transformation and change management, skills capacity, cost, technology and infrastructure, implementation approach and external support.
2.4.4
Influence of adoption of IPSASs

Noel (2003) reviewed moves towards the introduction of accrual accounting in Australia. The researcher was concerned that the claimed benefits of accrual accounting are being over sold especially to the governments of developing or transitional countries. Noel concluded that, to introduce accrual accounting is costly, time consuming and requires a diversion of resources from other activities. It requires a great deal of co-operation from key actors and need significant changes of substance to the organization, procedures and responsibilities of managers. As parliament is also affected because of the changes that was required for cash allocation, budgetary control processes to need for consultation.  What is more, accrual accounting provides wide scope for the exercise of judgment and this requires technical knowledge, a disciplined approach and an audit system capable of monitoring how judgment is exercised. For these reasons the introduction of accrual accounting also carries considerable risk.  

Mellet, Macniven and Marriot (2008) studied costs and benefits of adopting accrual accounting.  Mellet, Macniven and Marriot also revealed that the UK health service is highly capital intensive and so it may be assumed that the move to accrual accounting from 1991 would have provided significant benefits in terms of the more efficient use of these capital assets, for example, hospitals and medical equipment.  However, a research report by leading UK academics in the field (Mellet et al., 2008), funded by the Scottish Institute of Chartered Accounting concluded that there was no evidence that the perceived benefits from the introduction of accrual accounting were realized. Mellet, et al. (2008) provided further details, indicating that no positive impact on decision making was found. Accounting measures did not influence rent or buy or retain or dispose decisions, although the desire not to take an adverse hit to the bottom line could impede disposal decisions. Similarly, no evidence was found of the opportunity cost of capital expenditure being recognized as reflected through the measures based on resource accounting, this being a matter for active consideration when acquiring or constructing fixed assets. In the article written by Mellet et al, it was  concluded that governments who  have responsibility to implement accrual accounting should therefore be aware that expected potential benefits may not be realized.   
Atuilik (2013) examined the relationship between the announcement of adopting IPSAS and the perceived levels of corruption in the developing and developed countries. The study employed quasi experimental research design where the Corruption Perception Index (CPI) compiled by Transparency International was used to measure perceptions of corruption. This establish that the levels of perceptions of corruption for developed countries that have announced IPSASs adoption do not differ significantly with the levels of perceived corruption for the developed countries that have not announced their IPSASs adoption. The result is the opposite for developing that shows a certain extent of differences. He suggested that the governments of developed countries may not have expected the IPSASs adoption certainly to enhance their ratings on the perceptions of corruption while governments of developing countries may expect to improve their ratings on perceptions of corruption through the adoption and implementation of IPSASs. 
Shakirat (2013) examined the effect of adoption of accrual based budgeting on transparency and accountability in the Nigerian public sector.  The study appraised the effects of adoption of accrual-based budgeting on transparency and accountability in the Nigerian public sector. A sample of two hundred and ninety-five respondents in the Nigerian public sector, was drawn from Cross River, Edo and Kwara States of the federation, was used to conduct the study. Two hundred and fifty-eight valid responses representing 87% of the sample were used in the analysis. This study employed Karl Pearson coefficient of correlation “r” statistics for analysis. Findings from this study indicated significant impact of accrual budgeting on transparency and accountability, there is also significant impact of transparency and accountability on economic growth in the Nigerian public sector. This study provided important management information, and can be used in enhancing fiscal transparency and accountability towards good governance in the Nigerian public sector.
Hassan (2013) examined the impact of public sector accounting in Nigeria financial control system using Esan South East Local Government area of Edo state as a case study. The purpose was to find out if the control of public fund adopted by the local government is appropriate, to determine whether the public sector accounting principle applied by the local government is appropriate and effective and also to investigate whether the source of revenue to the local government is enough for them etc. The population size used was the staff and members of Esan south east local government area of Edo state, out of which the sample size was selected using the Taro Yamane’s sampling techniques. Data for this study were primarily and secondarily sourced. Chi-square was used to analyze the responses gotten from the distributed questionnaires. The findings are; the public accounting principles applied by the said local government area was inappropriate and ineffective and the control of public fund measures adopted was also inappropriate etc., as the result reported. The conclusion was drawn that the public sector accounting principles applied by the local government was inappropriate and also the control of public fund measures adopted was inappropriate.  Since these results are uncertain, the researcher set out to determine the perception of accountants on the application of IPSASs in Nigeria Public Sector financial management in achieving transparency, accountability, and improved quality of accounting reporting as well the extent of cost and additional risks associated with the application.

Alshujairi (2014) provided evidence that developing countries are greatly affected by corruption. Trang (2012) had carried out a similar study which examined that whether or not the Vietnamese government accounting should operate the IPSASs, and describes the extent to which IPSASs can be applied within the existing settings of Vietnam and appraise in detail the usefulness and feasibility of the IPSASs for the Vietnamese government accounting and financial statements. Alshujairi (2014) advocated that the movement in the accounting systems from cash to an accrual basis is usually an element of a broader set of their reforms, those changes are increased in delegation, departments are directed to provide a service for citizens rather than follow set rules, and there is better transparency of public sector in terms of reporting and performance measurement.
Alshujairi (2014) studied the government accounting system reform and the adoption of IPSASs in Iraq. The study aimed at examining the need for public sector accounting reform and the adequacy of the public sector financial management of Iraq considering its status as a developing country to adopt full accrual accounting based IPSASs and advance accountability, transparency, credibility and comparability of financial information targeted at eradicating corruption in the Iraqi public sector. The study adopted qualitative methodology and collected data using well-structured questionnaire sent to the selected accountants working with the ministry of finance; the auditors in the Iraqi supreme audit board; and the lecturers in the Iraqi universities. The findings of the study revealed that there are good reasons and needs to reform the Iraqi public sector accounting systems via the adoption of full accrual accounting based IPSASs which in turn would ensure transparency, credibility, and comparability. The study therefore, recommended that Iraqi government should adopt and implement the full accrual accounting based IPSASs if the country wants to maintain a robust public sector financial system capable of eradicating corruption and subsequently, engender transparency, accountability, and comparability of financial information in the country.

Mhaka (2014) studied IPSASs, a guaranteed way of quality government financial reporting.  The study aimed at examining the cost benefit analysis of IPSASs adoption in Zimbabwe by way of comparing the existing cash accounting basis and Mhaka proposed IPSASs based accounting reporting. The study adopted the methodology of reviewing and analyzing of relevant discourse, publications, and documentary materials from some professional accounting organizations, notable authors and Non-Governmental Organizations (NGOs), success stories of IPSASs adoption.  It was observed from the study that IPSASs adoption improves the quality of public sector financial information, and level of accountabilities, thereby increasing the confidence of both domestic and foreign donor organizations to make financial assistance available for public sector entities use. The study recommended that the Zimbabwe government should work with the relevant stakeholders, such as the accounting professional bodies, NGOs, and the existing staff of the Zimbabwe ministry of finance and provide necessary financial resources for the employment and training of accounting personnel, and procurement of necessary accounting packages as well as changing the accounting laws and policies to ensure effective adoption and implementation of the international standards.

Charity (2014), studied IPSASs, a guaranteed way of quality government financial reporting.  The paper made a cost benefit analysis of IPSASs adoption in Zimbabwe. It compares the existing cash accounting basis and the proposed IPSASs based accounting reporting to make a cost benefit comparison.  The paper employed a predominantly review approach. It was an analysis of discourse within a range of archival evidence and is based on an examination of major publications and documentary materials emanating from major professional accounting bodies (relating reporting, regulations conferences and training education) and major NGOs’ success stories of IPSASs adoption. The paper recommended that professional bodies, regulators and the government should work together to forestall IPSASs adoption challenges to facilitate smooth adoption, implementation and monitoring phases of IPSASs in Zimbabwe.

Ofoegbu (2014) studied the new public management and accrual accounting basis for transparency and accountability in the Nigerian public sector.  The objective of the study was to ascertain the expert’s perception on the implementation of IPSASs accrual basis of accounting in achieving transparency, accountability, and improved quality of accounting information in the Nigerian public sector. The study adopted survey design and administered questionnaire to 112 respondents comprising Auditors and Accountants in the public sector. The data collected were analyzed using descriptive statistics, while the hypotheses were tested using standard deviations, means, and Friedman’s test statistics via SPSS. Findings of the study indicated that the adoption and implementations of IPSASs in the Nigerian public sector would significantly enhance transparency though, with some challenges that may slow the implementations and realizations of the lofty objectives. The study recommended that government should provide the legal frameworks for effective implementations of IPSASs accrual basis of accounting in Nigeria.

Ijeoma and Oghoghomeh (2014) examined the expectations, benefits and challenges of adoption of International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSASs) in Nigeria. The objectives of this study were to determine the impact of adoption of IPSASs on the level of accountability and transparency in the Public Sector of Nigeria and to ascertain the contribution of adoption of IPSASs in enhancing comparability and international best practices. Primary source of data was employed to generate the data of interest. The statistical tools employed were the Percentage test, Kruskal Wallis test and descriptive analysis.  From the findings of the study, it was observed that adoption of IPSASs is expected to increase the level of accountability and transparency in public sector of Nigeria. It was found that the adoption of IPSASs would enhance comparability and international best practices. Also, it was denoted that adoption of IPSASs based standards will enable provide more meaningful information for decision makers and improve the quality of the financial reporting system in Nigeria. In addition, it was found that adoption of IPSASs by Nigerian government will improve comparability of financial information reported by public sector entities in Nigeria and around the world. Hence, Ijeoma and Oghoghomeh (2014) concluded that the adoption of IPSASs in Nigeria is expected to impact operating procedures, reporting practices thereby strengthening good governance and relations with the government and the governed.

Udeh and Sopekan (2015) studied implications of adopting International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSASs) on the quality of financial reporting of public sector organizations in Nigeria.  This study examined the implications of adopting International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSASs) on the quality of financial reporting of public sector organizations in Nigeria. Primary source of data was employed.  Percentage test and Kruskal Wallis test were employed. Findings from the study showed that adoption of IPSASs would increase the level of reliance on the financial reporting of public sector organizations in Nigeria. In addition, it was found that applying IPSASs to public sector financial reporting would make the results of financial reporting of public sector organizations comparable. It was concluded that IPSASs have the potential to give a better financial integrity assurance. The study recommended reforms in public financial management and strengthening of legislative capacity to balance the executive power. 
2.5
Gap in the Literature
The sovereign debt crisis has illustrated the dire consequences of insufficient transparency and accountability of governments and poor public finance management and reporting.  Governments are not risk-free and the failure of fiscal management in the public sector has an economic impact that will far exceed the impact of losses incurred by corporate failures.  This jeopardizes both the interests of the public as well as investors.  Today, many key decision-makers, politicians, and public finance management leaders are taking the key steps toward meaningful reform, including the adoption and implementation of accrual accounting and International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS). 
Several researches from developed countries (such as Noel, 2003; Jones & Browrey, 2005; Guthrie, Humphrey, Jones & Olson, 2010; Ellwood & Newberry, 2010) are concerned that these claimed benefits of adopting IPSASs are being over sold to the governments of developing countries, yet independent studies of impact of implementing IPSASs in public sector is not emphasized.  The few researches on the adoption of IPSASs in Nigeria are not specific to state government that claimed to have implemented IPSASs, (such work include Shakirat, 2013; Acho, 2014; Ijeoma & Oghoghomeh, 2014; Olomiyete, 2014; Oyadonghan, 2014; Udeh & Sopekan, 2015; Okoro, 2015). Studies that concentrate on state government that claimed to have implemented IPSASs were carried out in developed countries (such as Jones & Browrey, 2005; Mellet, Macniven & Marriot, 2008; Guthrie, Humphrey, Jones & Olson, 2010; Ellwood & Newberry, 2010; Marissa, 2013).   

Previous studies in Nigeria clustered around perceived benefits and implication of adoption of IPSASs.  Studies reviewed in this study in Nigeria have confirmed that researches conducted to evaluate the actual adoption of IPSASs in the states that claimed to have adopted IPSASs in Nigeria are not mentioned.  It has been revealed that Lagos State has commenced implementation of IPSASs in preparing their financial reports through the notes to the accounts from 2014 up to 2016 financial year.  The study therefore focused researches on evaluating actual adoption of IPSAS in Lagos State, that is, reviewed implementation of IPSASs towards improving the quality of general purpose financial reporting in the state government that has started adopting IPSASs rather than emphasizing on perception of stakeholders on the implication of adopting IPSASs in the States that have not started adopting IPSASs.     

2.6
Theoretical Framework

Stewardship theory of Donaldson and Davis (1991) provides the theoretical foundation upon which this study is based and built. 

2.6.1
Stewardship Theory
Regardless of the size of a firm whether it is publicly or privately held, it needs a structure in place to monitor performance and plan for the future. An organization can use one of several corporate governance theories as a model, and its success is based on selecting the right one. Flynn (2018)  defined steward as someone who protects and takes care of the needs of others Under the stewardship theory, company executives protect the interests of the owners or shareholders and make decisions on their behalf. Their sole objective is to create and maintain a successful organization so the shareholders prosper. Firms that embrace stewardship place the CEO and Chairman responsibilities under one executive, with a board comprised mostly of in-house members.  This allows for intimate knowledge of organizational operation and a deep commitment to success (Flynn, 2018).
Stewardship theory underpins the relationship between two parties, the principal (government) and the stewards (employees) (Donaldson & Davis, 1991). Stewardship theory is built upon the quality of the relationship between the principal and steward and ideals of the organization (Corbetta & Salvato, 2004). The assumption of the theory is that the relationship between principal and steward is based on choice.  Once both parties choose to behave as stewards and put the principal’s interest first, theory thus suggest a positive influence performance because both parties work towards a common goal (Eddleston & Kellermanns, 2007).

This study was built on the quality of the relationship between these three concepts, that is, the principal, the steward and the ideals of the organization.  The principal represented quality of financial reports prepared with IPSASs in Lagos State, the steward represented the adoption of IPSASs while the ideals of the organization represented the relationship between the principal and steward, that is, the level of adoption of IPSASs, challenges faced on the adoption of IPSASs and determinants of the level of adoption of IPSASs.  The assumption of the study was that the relationship between the adoption of IPSASs and quality of financial reporting was based on choice.  Once both parties, that is, the adoption of IIPSASs and quality of financial reporting agree or choose to protect and take care of the needs of others and put principals interest first, the study thus suggest a positive impact on quality of financial reporting because both parties work towards a common goal.  

2.7
Conceptual Framework

Currently the concepts related to public sector financial statements are embedded in the existing IPSASs. Many of the IPSASs currently on issue are based on International Accounting Standards (IASs/IFRSs) to the extent that the requirements of the IASs/IFRSs are relevant to the public sector. Therefore, the current IPSASs draw on concepts and definitions in the IASB Framework with modifications where necessary to address public sector circumstances. The IASB is currently updating its Framework in a joint project with the Financial Accounting Standards Board of the United States of America (USA). The IPSASB is monitoring progress on that project and lead authors of IPSASB project components liaise with their IASB/FASB counterparts.

Financial reports provide valuable information for different stakeholders.  The major objective of financial reports is that information about the financial position, performance and changes in the financial position of an enterprise was provided (Elliot & Elliot, 2005). According to Meigs and Meigs (1993), financial statements are the principal means of reporting general purpose financial information to users.  The accounting data presented in the financial statements must be relevant and meaningful to the users (Omolehinwa, 2000).

In line with the objectives of this research work and in order to evaluate the adoption of IPSASs in Lagos State, a conceptual framework was developed to ascertaining the level of adoption of the standards, identifying the challenges in the adoption of IPSASs, investigating the determinants of the level of adoption of IPSASs and examining the influence of IPSASs on the quality of financial reports of Lagos State.  From the conceptual framework, determinants of the level of adoption of IPSASs were seen as factors that affect the level of adoption of IPSASs in Lagos State (Objective three). Here, the determinants of the level of adoption were used as independent variables of the study while level of adoption of IPSASs was the dependent variable to test the objective.  Also, quality of financial reporting is being influenced by the level of adoption of IPSASs in Lagos State (objective four). This shows that quality of financial reporting was being treated as the dependent variable while level of adoption of IPSASs was used as the independent variable to test the objective. 








Figure 2: Conceptual Framework for the Adoption of IPSASs and Quality of Financial Reporting in Lagos State.
Source: The Researcher, 2018
CHAPTER THREE

METHODOLOGY

3.1
Introduction

This chapter discussed area of study, research design, population of the study, sample size and sampling technique for the study, sources of data, research instrument, validity of research instrument and testing, measurement of variables, model specification and data analysis techniques.  
3.2
Area of Study
The area of study was Lagos State.  This was because Lagos State Government has started adopting IPSASs in preparing and presenting their financial reports.  Lagos State government started implementing IPSASs since 2014.  Lagos State is the smallest in area of Nigeria's 36 states, arguably the most economically important state of the country.  It is a major financial center and would be the fifth largest economy in Africa, if it were a country.  The latest estimated population report of Lagos was 21 million, making Lagos the largest city in Africa (Okoro, 2015). Lagos conurbation includes Ikeja which is the capital of Lagos State.

3.3
Research Design


This study adopted a survey research design.  This study was designed to evaluate the views of public sector accountants and auditors on the adoption of IPSASs and its effect on quality of financial reporting in Lagos State.  This research type involved answering research questions and testing of hypotheses.   
 3.4
Population of the Study


The population for this study consisted of all the public sector accountants and auditors working with Lagos State Government Accountant Generals’ Office, Auditor Generals’ Office, Ministry of Finance and Lagos Internal Revenue Service.  The public sector accountants and auditors are the set of people saddled with the implementation of IPSASs in the public sector.  According to IFAC 2011, public sector accountants and auditors are obliged to seeing to the successful implementation of IPSASs.  In addition, public sector accountants and auditors are responsible for the preparation and presentation of financial statements, which are expected not only to produce quality information but must also comply with all the requirements of IPSASs.  Accountants and auditors of public sector organizations in Nigeria are deemed knowledgeable in IPSASs (Udeh & Sopekan, 2015). Therefore, accountants and auditors  are in a better position to assist in achieving the various objectives of the study.  


The choice of the ministry and department is because they are directly concerned with finances and auditing of finances (Klynveld Peat Marwick Goerdeler, KPMG, 2016). Most often, more of accountants and auditors are found in these ministries, departments and agencies (MDAs) (Udeh & Sopekan, 2015). The selection of the subjects of the study was limited to accountants and internal auditors because they have been charged to see to the successful implementation of IPSASs (KPMG, 2016). The table below shows the population of public sector accountants and auditors working with Lagos State Accountant Generals’ Office, Auditor Generals’ Office, Ministry of Finance and Lagos Internal Revenue Service.
Table: 3.1 Population of the Study

	S/N
	Name of Ministry and Department
	Population

	1
	Auditor General’s Office
	216

	2
	Accountant General’s Office
	288

	3
	Ministry of Finance
	336

	4
	Lagos Internal Revenue Service
	360

	
	Total
	1200


3.5
Sample Size and Sampling Techniques


Stratified random sampling technique was used in selecting the samples of the study.  Four ministry and departments were selected in Lagos State. The number of accountants and auditors selected from each stratum is shown below:  

Table: 3:2 Selected Participants 
	S/N
	Name of Ministry and Department
	Sample

	1
	Auditor General’s Office
	53

	2
	Accountant General’s Office
	71

	3
	Ministry of Finance
	85

	4
	Lagos Internal Revenue Service
	91

	
	Total
	300


The sample size selected for the study was 300.  A total of 291 copies of questionnaire were retrieved from the respondents.  The sample size covers those who have their qualifications in accounting and accounting related fields.  

3.6
Sources of Data


Primary source of data was employed in this study.  The adoption of primary source of data was preferred because; the view of the researcher, public sector accountants and public sector auditors who are the primary subjects of the study would be easily captured.       
3.7
Research Instrument

For the purpose of this work, data were collected through the use of structured questionnaire.  The use of structured questionnaire for this study is justified for survey research of this nature.  The questionnaire was drafted to elicit answers to the research questions and objectives raised in this work.  The structures of the questions that feature in this questionnaire were basically closed-ended questions.  Data collection exercise lasted for eight weeks.  A copy of the structured questionnaire was attached as appendix 1.
The questionnaire was divided into two parts, parts A and B.  Part A sourced relevant demographic background information about the subjects.  These were information regarding age, academic qualifications, professional qualifications, years of experience in public sector, years of experience as accountant/auditor, years of experience on the present job and job tittle.   Data collected were analyzed to produce frequencies and means of group of information.  Part B was on the objectives of the study and it was sub-divided into four sections:  Section one included questions on the level of adoption of IPSASs; section two included questions on the challenges faced on the adoption of IPSASs; section three included questions on the determinants of the level of adoption of IPSASs while the forth section included questions on the quality of financial reports produced after the adoption of IPSASs.  The reliability of the instrument was determined using Cronbach Alpha method.
The second research instrument (appendix 2), that is, compliance/disclosure checklist questionnaire (adoption index), data was sourced using annual financial report prepared in compliance with IPSASs in Lagos State for the year ended 2016.  Since Lagos State public sector commenced the adoption of IPSASs in 2014, it was felt by the researcher that three years are enough for the state to overcome its teething problems.  The checklist was used to achieve objective one and four, that is, to ascertain the level of adoption of IPSASs in public sector in Lagos State and to examine the influence IPSASs adoption on quality of financial reporting in the public sector in Lagos State.  

3.8
Validation of Research Instruments


A three-stage technique of validation was adopted for the research instruments of this study.  In the first instance, the draft of the questionnaire was made available to experts in social and management research.  The comments and suggestions of this group of people were used to improve the quality and ensure both the face and content validity of the instruments.  In the second stage, the revised questionnaire, based on experts’ suggestions, was subjected to split half reliability test before developing the final copy.  To do this, a pilot test was conducted and the feedback collected was used to further improve the design and contents of the questionnaire.

Cronbach’s Alpha (α) coefficient test was used to calculate the reliability of the subscale and the scale that were used.  There were four sections in the questionnaire.  The reliability coefficients of the sections were as follows; section one is 0.81, section two is 0.77, section three is 0.89 and section four is 0.92.  The overall reliability coefficient for the instrument was 0.83.  George and Mallery (2013) as cited in Obadimu (2015) provided the following rules of thumb in respect of results from Cronbach’s Alpha tests: α > 0.9 (Excellent): 0.8 < α < 0.9 (Good), 0.7 < α < 0.8 (Acceptable), 0.6 < α < 0.7 (Questionable), 0.5 < α < 0.6 (Poor), and 0.0 < α < 0.5 (Poor). The reliability coefficient of the second instrument, that is, the adoption/compliance/disclosure checklist was 0.87. 
3.9
Variables of the Study

The selection of the variables for this study was guided by the results of the previous empirical studies (Micheal, 2016; Acho, 2014 & Udeh & Sopekan). The independent and dependent variables were defined so that the variables will be consistent with the objectives of the study. 
Objective Three:  The determinants of the level of adoption of IPSASs in the public sector in Lagos State.
Dependent Variable: The dependent variable for the study was level of adoption of IPSASs in Lagos State public sector.
Independent Variable: The independent variable for this study was the determinants of the level of adoption of IPSASs.  This is a vector of several factors which include; cash accounting based system (CABS), adequate multidimensional reporting requirement (MDRR), awareness on the transition of IPSAS (AOT), total support and commitment from the political class (TSU), commitment of central entities and key officials (CCEK), effective project management structure for IPSAS (EPMS), budget for additional human resources (BAHR), adequate technology capacity and information system (TCIS), regular update of the governing bodies on the progress made in the implementation of IPSAS (UGBP), interim financial statement (IFSR), continuous testing of internal controls (CTIC) and prevention of corrupt practice (PCP).
Objective Four:  The influence of adoption of IPSASs on the quality of financial reporting in the public sector in Lagos State.
Dependent Variable: The dependent variable for the study was quality of financial reporting in the public sector in Lagos State. 
Independent Variable:  The independent variable for the study was the level of adoption of IPSASs in the public sector in Lagos State.
3.10
Model Specification 

The basis for model specification was hinged on the conceptual framework which sought to explain the relationship between IPSASs adoption and quality of financial reporting in Lagos State.  

3.10.1
 Model on determinants of the level of adoption of IPSAS

From the conceptual framework, the following functional form was drawn for the determinants of the level of the adoption of IPSASs.
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Where;
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Note that DLA is a vector of several factors that determine the level of the adoption of IPSASs which include; cash accounting based system (CABS), adequate multidimensional reporting requirement (MDRR), awareness on the transition of IPSAS (AOT), total support and commitment from the political class (TSU), commitment of central entities and key officials (CCEK), effective project management structure for IPSAS (EPMS), budget for additional human resources (BAHR), adequate technology capacity and information system (TCIS), regular update of the governing bodies on the progress made in the implementation of IPSAS (UGBP), interim financial statement (IFSR), continuous testing of internal controls (CTIC) and prevention of corrupt practice (PCP).
Assuming a linear relationship, consequently, equation (3.1) can be explicitly expressed as:
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3.10.2
Model on influence of IPSASs adoption on the quality of financial reporting

From the conceptual framework, the model to achieve the influence of the adoption of IPSASs on the quality of financial reporting is stated thus;
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Where;
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Assuming a linear relationship, consequently, equation (3.3) can be explicitly expressed as:
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3.11
Measurement of Variables
3.11.1
Level of adoption of IPSASs 


This was measured using checklist to ascertain the disclosure of IPSASs in the annual financial report of Lagos State: Number disclosed/ Number expected to disclose × 100.  Also, questionnaire was administered to corroborate the checklist generated by calculating the percentages of respondents’ opinion.

3.11.2
Quality of financial reporting


This was measured using the checklist to examine the influence of IPSASs adoption on quality of financial reporting in the public sector in Lagos State.  The variable was analyzed using paired sampled t-test and ordinal logit regression analysis.  There are two important and contentious issues in previous researches on the scoring of compliance items (Barako, 2007). The issues are whether the compliance items should be weighted or unweighted.  Barako (2007) argued that both approaches have been criticized.  The weighted approach may introduce a bias towards a particular user-orientation.  The unweighted approach dwells on the fundamental assumption that all items are equally important, which may not necessarily be true.  According to Chavent, Ding, Fu, Stolowy and Wang (2006), the major argument against weighted approach is that of Cooke (1989) stating that ‘one class of users will attach different weights to an item than another class’ and that ‘the subjective weights of user groups will average each other out’.  Cooke (1989) proposed the unweighted model hence this model is generally referred to as Cooke index. 


This research adopted the unweighted approach for the scoring.  Unweighted approach is preferred because it is based on the assumption that each item of compliance is equally important, it reduces subjectivity and it provides a neutral assessment of items.  This approach uses a dichotomous procedure to develop a scoring scheme that captures the level of compliance. Complete annual reports from Lagos State Government were reviewed by the researcher in order to understand the nature and complexity of the department’s/ministry’s transactions and to form an opinion about the departments/ministries before scoring the items.  Each item on the IPSASs checklist was assigned a value of ‘1’ if it is adopted and ‘0’ if it is not adopted.  The score (index) for adopted standards is the ratio of actual adoption divided by expected adoption.    

3.11.3
 Other explanatory variables  


Questionnaire was used to capture other explanatory variables such as challenges of adoption of IPSASs and determinants of the level of adoption of IPSASs in the public sector in Lagos State in part B as described under research instrument above. Also, questionnaire was cited for regression analysis in order to fulfill the number of observation considering the measurement of explanatory variables.  In order to measure these variables, responses to the questionnaire were captured using 5-point Likert scale method.  5-point Likert scale can easily be used in transforming feelings into seemingly interval scale which could be translated to statistical analysis.  The scale contained value loading with varying degree of intensity of the alternatives ranging from; 

SA- Strongly Agree (5 points), 

A- Agree (4points), 

U- Undecided (3 points),

D- Disagree (2 points), and

SD- Strongly Disagree (1 point) 
3.12
Data Analysis Techniques


Data were presented and analyzed using descriptive and inferential statistics to aid easy understanding of the study.  Objective one ascertained the level of adoption of IPSASs in Lagos State Government.  The objective was achieved using descriptive statistics (percentages). Objective two identified the challenges faced in the adoption of IPSASs in Lagos State Government and was achieved using descriptive statistics (percentages). 

Objective three investigated the determinants of the level of adoption of IPSASs by Lagos State Government and data analysis was done using ordinal logistic regression.  The Ordinal Logistic models estimated include:
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This expression is simply a convenient way to refer to the odds in the transformed outcome variable, rather than predicting LAI directly, hence, the prediction of the (log of the) odds of LAI = 1. The link function describes the process of linking the original of LAI to transformed outcome: 
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Objective four examined the influence of IPSASs on the quality of financial reporting in Lagos State Government.  Paired sampled t-test and Ordinal logit regression were used to achieve this objective. Thus, as seen in objective three, the final model estimated was drawn as stated below:
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Table 3.1:   Summary of Data Analysis Techniques

	S/N
	Research Questions
	Objectives of the Study
	Variables
	Statistical Analysis Techniques

	1.
	What is the level of adoption of IPSASs in Lagos State?
	To ascertain the level of adoption of IPSASs in the public sector in Lagos State.
	Level of the adoption of IPSASs
	Descriptive statistics: percentages

	2.
	What are the challenges in the adoption of IPSASs in Lagos State?


	To identify the challenges faced in the adoption of IPSASs in the public sector in Lagos State.
	Challenges in the adoption of IPSASs
	Descriptive statistics: percentages

	3.
	What are the determinants of the level of adoption of IPSASs in Lagos State?
	To investigate the determinants of level of adoption of IPSASs in the public sector in Lagos State.
	Determinants of the level of adoption of IPSASs.
	Inferential statistics: Ordinal logit regression

	4
	What is the influence of IPSASs on the quality of financial reporting in Lagos State?
	To examine the influence of IPSASs on the quality of financial reporting in the public sector in Lagos State.
	Influence of the adoption of IPSASs
	Inferential statistics: Paired sampled t-test and Ordinal logit regression


Source: The researcher, 2018
CHAPTER FOUR

RESULTS AND DISCUSIONS

4.1
Introduction


This chapter outlined and discussed the results of this study.  The focus of the study was to evaluate the adoption of IPSASs and quality of financial reporting in Lagos State by ascertaining the level of adoption of IPSASs in the public sector in Lagos State; identifying the challenges faced in the adoption of IPSASs in the public sector in Lagos State; investigating the determinants of the level of adoption of IPSASs in the public sector in Lagos State and examining the influence of adoption of IPSASs on the quality of financial report in the public sector in Lagos State.
4.2
Demographic Characteristics of Respondents
The descriptive statistics shown in Table 4.1 gave information about the socio-demographic characteristics of the respondents. These characteristics include; age, academic qualifications, professional qualifications, years of experience and job title of the respondents in their respective department/ministry.

The analysis showed that 58% of the respondents were between 40 and 49 years of age. This high percentage of middle-aged respondents suggested that public service comprises men and women who are mature and capable of discharging their assigned duties (Mohammed, 2014). This was followed by respondents between age 30 and 39 with 23%. The population of respondents between these two age brackets represented more than 81% of the respondents. By implication, workers between 30 and 49 years of age dominate the workforce in public service.  It was therefore reasonable to depend on the responses of the respondents in drawing inferences and conclusion for the study.  The percentages of respondents who were above 51 years of age were 16% and those who are below 29 years of age were 3% and these are in the minority.  

On academic qualification, the descriptive statistics showed that 25% of the respondents had completed their postgraduate studies, 53% of them had obtained first degree certificate (B. Sc.) and also 22% had obtained its equivalent which is Higher National Diploma (HND). About 62% of the respondents had acquired additional professional qualification of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Nigeria (ICAN), 33% were also members of Association of National Accountants of Nigeria (ANAN), 3% were Associates of Certified Chartered Accountants (ACCA) and 2% indicated that respondents had acquired one or more additional professional qualifications.  The analysis showed that most of the subjects held multiple accounting qualifications.  All subjects who held professional qualifications in accounting also held academic qualifications in accounting.  For example, those who held ANAN or ICAN also held either HND or B.Sc. in accounting.  Multiple qualifications in the context of the study were seen as an advantage as it assisted the subjects to respond appropriately to the research instrument through technical know-how.   

Also, 47% of the respondents had been in public practice for the period between 11 and 15 years. The respondents who had worked between the period of 6 and 10 years were 27%, only 6% had spent minimum of 1 to 5 years in the public service while 20% had spent 16 years and above as public service workers. This shows that there is high level of education, expertise and years of experience of the respondents.   High level of education, expertise and years of experience of the respondents in public service enhance better understanding of work done (Barako, 2007). Therefore the information supplied by the respondents were considered reliable and adequate to a large extent.

Table 4.1: Distribution by Background Information of Respondents

	Characteristics
	Items
	Frequency
	Percentages

	Age (Years)
	Below 29years

30 – 39years

40 – 49years

50 years and above

Total
	9

68

168

45

291
	3

23

58

16

100

	Academic Qualifications
	HND

B.Sc.

M. Sc.

Total
	64

154

73

291
	22

53

25

100

	Professional Qualifications
	ACCA

ICAN

ANAN

Others

Total
	8

181

97

5

291
	3

62

33

2

100

	Year of Experience in Public Sector
	1 – 5years

6 – 10years

11 – 15years

16 years and above

Total
	18

79

135

59

291
	6

27

47

20

100

	Job Title
	Accountants

Auditor

Others

Total
	246

35

10
291
	85

12

3
100


Source: Field Survey, 2017
4.3
The Level of Adoption of IPSASs in the Public Sector in Lagos State Using the Checklist.

Table 4.2 shows the level of adoption and compliance of IPSASs in the public sector in Lagos State.  

	IPSAS
	Pronouncement
	Disclosed
	Not

Disclosed

	IPSAS 1
	Presentation of Financial Statements
	1
	

	IPSAS 2
	Cash Flow Statements
	1
	

	IPSAS 3
	Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors
	1
	

	IPSAS 4
	The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates
	1
	

	IPSAS 5
	Borrowing Costs
	
	0

	IPSAS 6
	Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
	1
	

	IPSAS 7
	Investments in Associates
	1
	

	IPSAS 8
	Interests in Joint Ventures
	1
	

	IPSAS 9
	Revenue from Exchange Transactions
	1
	

	IPSAS 10
	Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies
	1
	

	IPSAS 11
	Construction Contracts
	1
	

	IPSAS 12
	Inventories
	1
	

	IPSAS 13
	Leases
	1
	

	IPSAS 14
	Events After the Reporting Date
	
	0

	IPSAS 15
	Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation — superseded by IPSAS 28 and IPSAS 30
	1
	

	IPSAS 16
	Investment Property
	1
	

	IPSAS 17
	Property, Plant and Equipment
	1
	

	IPSAS 18
	Segment Reporting
	1
	

	IPSAS 19
	Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 
	1
	

	IPSAS 20
	Related Party Disclosure
	1
	

	IPSAS 21
	Impairment of Non-Cash-Generating Assets
	1
	

	IPSAS 22
	Disclosure of Financial Information About the General Government Sector
	1
	

	IPSAS 23
	Revenue from Non-Exchange Transactions (Taxes and Transfers)
	
	0

	IPSAS 24
	Presentation of Budget Information in Financial Statements
	1
	

	IPSAS 25
	Employee Benefits — superseded by IPSAS 39
	
	0

	IPSAS 26
	Impairment of Cash-Generating Assets
	1
	

	IPSAS 27
	Agriculture
	1
	

	IPSAS 28
	Financial Instruments: Presentation
	1
	

	IPSAS 29
	Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
	1
	

	IPSAS 30
	Financial Instruments: Disclosures
	
	0

	IPSAS 31
	Intangible Assets
	1
	

	IPSAS 32
	Service Concession Arrangements: Grantor
	1
	

	IPSAS 33
	First-time Adoption of Accrual Basis IPSASs
	
	0

	IPSAS 34
	Separate Financial Statements
	
	0

	IPSAS 35
	Consolidated Financial Statements
	
	0

	IPSAS 36
	Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures
	
	0

	IPSAS 37
	Joint Arrangements
	
	0

	IPSAS 38
	Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
	
	0

	IPSAS 39
	Employee Benefits
	
	0

	IPSAS 40
	Public Sector Combinations
	
	0

	
	Total
	27
	13


Table 4.3 shows the level of adoption, compliance and disclosure of IPSASs in the public sector in Lagos State.  This was done by computing the ratio of actual disclosure as obtained from the checklist to the expected (full) disclosure in the public sector in Lagos State.  

Number of disclosure


×

100

Number expected to disclose

The table showed that for all the included standards in IPSASs, the adoption, compliance and disclosure of IPSASs was at least 68% of the expected disclosure. This showed that all the relevant standards of IPSASs tested by the study were adopted to a great extent.

This is importantly so because the financial statements which IPSASs provisions supposed to enhance must present fairly the financial position, financial performance and cash flows of an entity. Thus, fair presentation requires the faithful representation of the effects of transactions, other events, and conditions in accordance with the definitions and recognition criteria for assets, liabilities, income and expenses set out in IPSASs. Hence, IPSASs require that an entity whose financial statements adopt and comply with relevant standards make explicit and unreserved statements (disclosure) of such compliance in the notes to the financial statements.

However, the faithful representation of transactions, which financial statements aim to achieve, will provide information to the government and other users ensure comparability both with the department’s own financial statement of previous period and with financial statements of other departments or ministries. Thus, the adoption, compliance and disclosure of IPSASs along with other information in notes to the accounts assist the governments and other users of financial statements of Ministries, Departments and Agencies (MDAs) in predicting the entity’s future performance.


The results of the study revealed that at least 68% adoption, compliance and disclosure of relevant IPSASs exist in the public sector in Lagos State.  This indicates that the provisions of IPSASs were being adopted, complied with and disclosed by departments and ministries in Lagos State.  This means if more effort is put into implementation of IPSASs, IPSASs could be fully adopted in Lagos State.  Noel (2003) was of the opinion that commitment on embarking in professional development can be seen as an important factor to professional development.  Owolabi, Ocansey and Dada (2013) pointed out that IPSASs adoption has brough about significant relationship between budget performance and domestic, external and national debt and these are appropriate and adequate in measuring public sector. The various MDAs still need to improve on the adoption, compliance and disclosure on IPSASs.  The regulatory bodies need to emphasis more commitments on the adoption of IPSASs.  

The findings are in line with the work of Alshujairi (2014); Acho (2014); Okoro (2015) where they recommended that regulatory bodies should impose penalties on governments that have not commenced implementation of IPSASs.  This is to ensure a robust public sector financial reporting system which subsequently engenders transparency, accountability, prudence and comparability of financial information in the country.   Okoro (2015); Mokoro (2013) also opined that implementation of the adoption of IPSASs requires a great deal of co-operation from key actors.  However, Lagos State Government should encourage further development to enhance full implementation of accrual basis of IPSAS.  Tudor (2010), add that further developments are needed to be done, in line to characterize countries regulations to harmonize with IPSASs. 

In the work of Oyadonghan (2014), the researcher recommended that the accrual basis of accounting should be adopted by all government ministries and extra-ministerial departments in Nigeria.  There is the need for the government to enact an enabling law to back up the adoption and more importantly to institute appropriate sanctions to ensure full compliance (Olurankinse, 2016). The study therefore recommended among others, continued spirited fight against corruption in Nigeria and injection of qualified and competent manpower to drive the change to accrual accounting system.  Efforts should be geared to enshrine the requirements of IPSASs into Nigerian regulatory framework for financial management and reporting and the constitution of the Federal Republic of Nigeria. 
Table 4.3
Level of Adoption/Disclosure Made in the Annual Financial Report in the Public Sector in Lagos State.

	Standard
	Disclosure
	Percentage

	Disclosed 
	27
	68

	Not disclosed
	13
	32

	Total

	40
	100


Source: Field Survey, 2017
In addition to the results in Table 4.3, which showed the level of adoption of IPSASs in Lagos State using the checklist, the respondents’ opinion on the level of adoption and compliance of IPSASs was also ascertained in the study. Table 4.4 shows the level of adoption of IPSASs in the public sector in Lagos State.
Compliance of financial statements with IPSASs is a statutory requirement and any organization that adopts the provisions of IPSASs must expressly disclose its compliance in the financial statements. About 60% of the respondents strongly agreed that their department/ministry adopted and complied with relevant IPSASs. Also, 33% of the respondents agreed that the financial statements are being prepared to comply with the provisions of IPSASs. These percentages represent about 93% of the respondents which revealed that department/ministry complied with the provision of IPSASs in preparing and presenting their financial statements although, 5% respondents were undecided.

Accounting policies are determined by applying the relevant IPSASs. Hence, the relevant accounting policies should be disclosed in notes to the accounts. About 58% of the respondents strongly agreed that relevant accounting policies of IPSASs used by department/ministry are being disclosed in notes to the accounts and likewise, 40.2% agreed with this disclosure. These represent 97.2% of the respondents which showed that their respective department/ministry disclosed the relevant accounting policies of IPSASs through notes to the accounts, however, 1.4% of the respondents were undecided.

The disclosure on the net exchange differences at the beginning and end of accounting period is being adopted by department/ministry. This is evident from the fact that 42.6% of the respondents strongly agreed that differences of the net exchange are being disclosed and 52.9% agreed with this disclosure. Thus, about 95.5% of the respondent supported the adoption and the disclosure of net exchange differences as required by IPSASs for each period although, 3.4% respondents were undecided.

Borrowing cost which deals with interest and other costs incurred in connection with the borrowed funds requires appropriate disclosure in the financial statement. About 41.9% strongly agreed that borrowing costs as an accounting policy of IPSASs was adopted and disclosed, and 50.9% agreed that the disclosure of borrowing costs is put in the financial statement but 5.8% of the responded were undecided about this disclosure. This represent about 92.8% of the total respondents which opined that borrowing costs as one of the IPSASs requirements is being disclosed by ministry/department.

The financial statements in which the assets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows are presented must not only be prepared and presented based on relevant accounting policies but the department/ministry must comply with disclosure requirements for preparing and presenting the consolidated financial statement in line with IPSASs. About 46.4% strongly agreed and 48.8% agreed that the requirements of preparing and presenting consolidated financial statements are being complied with by their respective department/ministry but 3.1% of the responded were undecided about this disclosure.  This represents about 95.2% of the total respondents which opined that department/ministry comply with disclosure requirements for preparing and presenting the consolidated financial statement.

The responses on disclosure requirements on the amount of each significant category of revenue recognized during the period showed that 44.3% strongly agreed and 47.7% agreed that their department/ministry adopt and complied with these requirements to a large extent but 6.5% were undecided. This represents about 92% of the total respondents which opined that the requirement on amount of each significant category of revenue recognized during the period was disclosed by department/ministry.

Also, 36.4% strongly agreed that the amount of inventories-down that is recognized as expenses during the period was adequately disclosed and 50.9% agreed that the provision of this IPSASs is being disclosed by the department/ministry although, 7.6% respondents were undecided.  This represents about 87.3% of the total respondents which opined that the amount of inventories-down that is recognized as expenses during the period was adequately disclosed by department/ministry.

Events after the reporting period are those events, both favourable and unfavourable, that occur between the reporting date and the date on which the financial statements are authorized for issue.  Some of these events could be adjusted (adjusting events) while some could not be adjusted (non-adjusting events). About 40.5% of the respondents strongly agreed and 46.4% agreed that the provisions of the relevant IPSASs on event after the reporting period is being adopted and disclosed but 6.5% were undecided.  This represents about 86.9% of the total respondents which opined that the department/ministry disclose non-adjusting events and adjusting events, stating its nature and financial efforts.

On the disclosure as to whether the fair value or cost model is being used revealed that 43.3% respondents strongly agreed and 44.3% agreed that there is adequate disclosure but 6.9% were undecided.  This represents about 87.6% of the total respondents which opined that fair value or cost model is being used and disclosed by MDAs.

IPSASs also require full disclosure of items of property, plants and equipment that are pledge as securities for loans. About 43% respondents showed strongly agreed, 41.2% agreed but 9.6% were undecided as to whether adequate disclosure was made on pledge assets in the financial statements.  This represents about 84.2% of the total respondents which opined that adequate disclosure was made on pledge assets in the financial statements.    

Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets are uncertainties that must be accounted for consistently if financial statements must contain necessary information about an entity. The study showed that 41.6% of respondents strongly agreed, 44.7% agreed while 10.3% were undecided as to whether adequate disclosures were made on this IPSASs by their respective department/ministry.  This represents about 86.3% of the respondents which aver that accounting policies for provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets were disclosed by the department/ministry.  

Also, the policies adopted for impairment losses in the income statement should be adequately disclosed. While 43% strongly agreed, 47.7% agreed and 7.2% were undecided about the adoption and compliance of department and ministry to this IPSASs provisions.  This represents about 90.7% of the respondents which averred that the policies adopted for impairment losses in the income statement were disclosed by the department/ministry.

Generally, the study revealed that all the relevant standards as contained in IPSASs were being adopted to a great extent by the sampled departments and ministry. This inference was drawn from the fact that the percentages of respondents that strongly agreed and also agreed to the high level of adoption of IPSASs in Lagos State were at least 80% of the total number of all the respondents. The remaining 20% of the respondents were undecided, disagreed or strongly disagreed. Hence, the study showed that, to a great extent, the provisions of IPSASs were being adopted, complied with and disclosed by departments and ministries in Lagos State.

Table 4.4: Distribution of Respondents on the Level of Adoption of IPSAS

	S/N
	Level of Adoption
	SA
	A
	UD
	D
	SD
	Total Agree

	1
	The department disclosed that the financial statements comply with IPSASs.
	59.8
	32.5
	5.0
	2.0
	0.7
	92.3

	2
	The department disclosed through notes to the accounts its accounting policies.
	57.7
	40.2
	1.4
	0.0
	0.3
	97.9

	3
	Net exchange differences at the beginning and end of the period was disclosed by the department.
	42.6
	52.9
	3.4
	0.7
	0.0
	95.5

	4
	The accounting policy adopted for borrowing costs was disclosed by the department. 
	41.9
	50.9
	5.8
	1.0
	0.0
	92.8

	5
	The department disclosed the requirements for preparing and presenting consolidated financial statements.
	46.4
	48.8
	3.1
	0.7
	0.0
	95.2

	6
	The department disclosed the amount of each significant category of revenue recognized during the period.
	44.3
	47.4
	6.5
	1.4
	0.3
	91.7

	7
	The amount of inventories-down that is recognized as expenses during the period was disclosed by the department.
	36.4
	50.9
	7.6
	3.4
	1.4
	87.3

	8
	The department disclosed non-adjusting events and adjusting events, stating its nature and financial effects.
	40.5
	46.4
	6.5
	4.1
	2.1
	86.9

	9
	The department disclosed whether the fair value or the cost model is used.
	43.3
	44.3
	6.9
	2.1
	2.4
	87.6

	10
	The exercise and amount of property, plant equipment whose title was restricted and pledged as security for liabilities was disclosed by the department.  
	43.0
	41.2
	9.6
	3.4
	2.4
	84.2

	11
	The department disclosed the accounting policies for provisions, contingent liability and contingent assets.
	41.6
	44.7
	10.3
	2.4
	0.7
	86.3

	12
	The department disclosed the policies adopted for impairment losses in the income statement for classes of assets.
	43.0
	47.7
	7.2
	1.4
	0.7
	90.7

	13
	Requirements for governments which elect to present information about the general government section were disclosed by the department. 
	43.6
	45.7
	7.6
	0.7
	2.4
	89.3

	14
	The department disclosed the amount from non-exchange transactions (taxes and transfers).
	48.5
	44.7
	4.1
	2.4
	0.3
	93.2

	15
	The department complied with the approved budget for which they are held publicly accountable.
	45.4
	49.8
	3.4
	0.7
	0.7
	95.2

	16
	The department adopted the accounting treatment and disclosure for agricultural activities.
	57.7
	36.1
	4.5
	1.4
	0.3
	93.8

	17
	The department clarified the classification of the instruments issued by the entity as a liability or as equity.
	41.2
	52.6
	4.5
	1.4
	0.3
	93.8

	18
	The department disclosed the principles used for recognizing, derecognizing & measuring financial assets & fin. Liabilities.
	44.3
	49.8
	3.1
	1.4
	1.4
	94.1

	19
	The department disclosed the carrying amounts of its financial assets and liabilities.
	40.2
	51.9
	4.1
	2.7
	0.7
	92.1

	20
	Information about service concession arrangements was disclosed by the department.
	40.9
	50.2
	5.8
	2.7
	0.3
	91.1

	21
	The department disclosed in the consolidated financial statements the list of all ministries’ and departments’ reports.
	40.9
	46.4
	8.2
	3.1
	0.7
	87.3

	22
	The accruable employee benefits were disclosed by the department in the general purpose financial statements
	47.4
	44.3
	5.5
	2.1
	0.7
	91.7


Source: Field Survey, 2017
4.4
Challenges Faced in the Adoption of IPSASs in the Public Sector in Lagos State 

Table 4.5 shows the challenges faced on the adoption of IPSASs in the public sector in Lagos State.  The body of knowledge presents a number of drawbacks facing the adoption of IPSASs. Some of these challenges identified form the basis of enquiry in a bid to examine the challenges facing the adoption, compliance, and disclosure of relevant IPSASs that have been identified as a means to prepare and present a useful financial statement for public entities. Questionnaire was used as an instrument of enquiry and certain questions pertaining to the challenges of IPSASs were raised so as to understand the challenges that public sector is facing in the adoption and implementation of IPSASs.
Cost of implementation of IPSAS was examined as a challenge facing the adoption and compliance of IPSASs. 23.7% of the respondents disagreed that cost of adoption could be impeding the implementation of IPSASs. Conversely, the results also revealed that 32.3% of respondents agreed that the cost of adoption could be a possible cause of the problem facing the adoption of IPSASs. Also, 25.4% of the respondents strongly agreed that cost incurred on the adoption of IPSASs happened to be the major challenge facing the departments and ministry. This represents 57.7% of the respondents’ view that cost of adoption could be a possible cause of the problem facing the adoption of IPSASs. While 9.3% were undecided (indifferent) about cost of adoption, 9.3% strongly disagreed that it has any major influence. 


Financial statements are expected to have certain qualities one of which is simplicity. The question on whether IPSASs increased the complexity of financial statements revealed that 19.9% strongly agreed and 31.8% agreed that financial statements could be somewhat complex by the adoption of IPSASs. This represents about 51.7% of the respondents’ view that IPSASs increased the complexity of financial reporting. On the other hand, 14.7% strongly disagreed and 26.6% disagreed that IPSASs provisions complicated financial reporting, 9.3% were undecided about the influence of IPSASs on the complexity of financial reporting.

The study showed that there were enough number of skilled and competence manpower in the adoption of IPSASs. This is evident from the fact that 37.1% respondents disagreed and 17.1% respondents strongly disagreed that there was lack of skilled and competence manpower. These percentages put together is more than the percentage of those who agreed and strongly agreed that there was no enough skilled and competent manpower to adopt IPSASs as 11.9% respondents were undecided. 

Similarly, majority of the respondents disagreed (42.2%) and strongly disagreed (19.5%) that there was lack of competent specialists in the adoption of IPSASs. Although 10.1% respondents were undecided, the percentage of those who said that lack of competent specialist is not a challenge was more than those who agreed (18.5%) and those who strongly agreed (9.8%) that lack of competent specialists was a challenge to IPSASs adoption.

IPSASs implementation guidelines do not constitute any challenge to the adoption of the standards. This could be inferred from the proportion of those who confirmed the availability of IPSASs guidelines. About 40.6% disagreed and 22.7% strongly disagreed that there was lack of IPSASs guidelines to work with. In other words, over 62% of the respondents believed that there were IPSASs implementation guidelines. This goes against the small number of people who agreed (15.0%) and strongly agreed (9.4%) that there was lack of IPSASs implementation guidelines.

The problem with IPSASs adoption seems not to be the problem of people resistance to implementation and boredom at work. This could be seen from the percentage of those who disagreed (40.6%) and strongly disagreed (21.9%) that there was resistance to implementation. Although, 17.4% agreed and 8.7% strongly agreed that there was resistance to implementation and boredom. Yet, the general opinion of the respondents was that boredom and resistance was not part of the challenges facing IPSASs adoption.

About 37.5% disagreed and 19.4% strongly disagreed that absence of adequate training among staff and management is an impediment on the adoption of IPSASs. In other words, the setback of IPSASs adoption is not as a result of lack of adequate training by the accounting staff. On the contrary, 23.0% of respondents agreed that the challenges faced in the adoption of IPSASs come from inadequate training of staff and 10.2% strongly agreed with this assertion. Therefore, there may not be an urgent need for retraining members of staff on the adoption of IPSASs. 

The question on the complexity of software system revealed that there was no complex procedure in the application of the software. About 65.3% disagreed and strongly disagreed that complexity of software system was a challenge to IPSASs adoption as against the 24.2% who agreed and strongly agreed that software system was complex. Also, 72.1% disagreed and strongly disagreed that there was lack of proper instruction from the regulatory bodies of IPSASs as against 19.9% who agreed and strongly agreed that there was lack of proper instruction from the regulatory bodies of IPSASs.

The study showed that lack of organizational structure, employees’ dissatisfaction, neglect of system capability and accountability, ambiguity, lack of sensitization and awareness do not constitute the challenges of IPSASs adoption. Majority of the respondents strongly disagreed and disagreed that the above listed issues constitute a challenge to IPSASs adoption. Although, some agreed that all these could be a challenge, the number of those who believed that these are not parts of the challenges out weights those who opined that these are part of the challenges.
Out of all the challenges examined by the study, the cost of adoption and IPSASs complexity of financial reporting were the only two issues that the respondents perceived as challenges facing the adoption of IPSASs. A higher percentage of respondents (57.7%) agreed and strongly agreed that high cost incurred on the implementation of IPSAS is a major challenge facing the adoption of IPSASs. Conversely, 33.0% disagreed and strongly disagreed that high cost of adoption is a challenge to IPSAS adoption while 9.3% respondents were undecided. This could be said to be true particularly if the cost to be incurred by the adoption of IPSASs outweighs the benefits to be derived from it. Also, about 51.7% of the respondents agreed and strongly agreed that IPSASs increased the complexity of financial reporting while only 26.6% disagreed and strongly disagreed that IPSASs provisions complicated financial reporting.

Table 4.5: Distribution of Respondents on Challenges Facing the Adoption of IPSASs in Lagos State

	S/N
	Challenges
	SA
	A
	UD
	D
	SD
	Total Agree

	1
	The implementation of IPSASs was too costly.
	25.4
	32.3
	9.3
	23.7
	9.3
	57.7

	2
	IPSASs increased the complexity of financial reporting. 
	19.9
	31.8
	7.0
	26.6
	14.7
	51.7

	3
	There was low number of skilled and competent manpower.
	10.1
	23.8
	11.9
	37.1
	17.1
	33.9

	4
	There was lack of competent specialists on IPSASs.
	9.8
	18.5
	10.1
	42.2
	19.5
	28.3

	5
	There was lack of IPSASs implementation guidelines.
	9.4
	15.0
	12.2
	40.6
	22.7
	24.4

	6
	There was resistance to implementation and boredom at work.
	8.7
	17.4
	11.5
	40.6
	21.9
	26.1

	7
	There was need for re-training on the adoption of IPSASs.
	10.2
	23.0
	9.9
	37.5
	19.4
	33.2

	8
	There was complexity of software system.
	9.5
	14.7
	10.5
	41.1
	24.2
	24.2

	9
	There was lack of proper instructions from the regulatory bodies.
	5.6
	14.3
	8.0
	48.1
	24.0
	19.9

	10
	There was lack of organizational structure proportional to change.
	5.9
	16.3
	8.3
	49.8
	19.7
	22.2

	11
	There was people’s dissatisfaction due to high work load, low salary and job security.
	7.0
	16.4
	8.7
	43.0
	24.8
	23.4



	12
	IPSASs increase neglect of system capability and accountability.
	4.8
	13.6
	6.3
	49.0
	26.2
	18.4

	13
	The adoption of IPSASs brought about ambiguous stance on the basis of accounting.
	3.1
	15.2
	6.9
	52.2
	22.5
	18.3

	14
	There was lack of enlightenment and sensitization of political leaders on the adoption of IPSASs.
	5.2
	15.2
	6.2
	45.5
	27.9
	20.4

	15
	There was unawareness of the benefits of the new financial system.
	6.3
	19.6
	4.2
	42.1
	27.7
	25.9


Source: Field Survey, 2017
Table 4.6 shows the positions of challenges facing the adoption of IPSASs in Lagos State.  Out of the challenges examined by the study, two challenges ranked a bit above the average, the cost of adoption and IPSASs complexity of financial reporting.  A higher percentage of respondents (57.7%) agreed and strongly agreed that high cost incurred on the adoption and implementation is a major challenge facing the adoption of IPSASs while 33.0% disagreed and strongly disagreed that high cost of implementation is a challenge to IPSASs adoption.  

Bakari (2018) unveiled that the Federal Government has commenced moves to address some of the implementation challenges to the adoption of the International Public Sector Accounting Standards.  The Federal Executive Council had in 2010 approved the adoption of the IPSAS by public sector entities to enhance transparency and accountability in the preparation and presentation of financial statements among the three tiers of government.  Following FEC’s approval, the accounting format of the three tiers of government was migrated in 2016 from IPSAS cash basis to IPSAS accrual basis.  The movement from cash to accrual based recording of government financial transactions is to record such transactions in a manner that will show when revenues are earned and not when cash is received, and when expenditures are incurred and not when paid.  
Bakari (2018) said that transiting to IPSAS required a lot of capacity building and commitment by stakeholders.  Bakari stated that while some deficiencies had been identified during the first year of implementation, the government was putting in place adequate measures to ensure better implementation.  For instance, Bakari (2018) noted that guidelines and treasury circulars had been issued, while sensitization as well as accrual manual had been released to guide the agencies of government.  Idris (2018) reported that, “Transiting to IPSAS accrual basis requires a lot of capacity building and commitment by all process owners.
Noel (2003); Hyndman and Connolly (2005) supported this fact by revealing that introducing accrual accounting is costly.  Hyndman and Connolly (2005) opined that serious deficiencies in the accounting skills available contribute to confusing and uneven implementation process.  International Journal on Government Financial Management (2008) also averred that to introduce accrual accounting is costly and time consuming.  Mokoro (2013) opined that implementation of the adoption of IPSASs also requires a great deal of co-operation from key actors and competent manpower.  In line with these facts, Ellwood and Newberry (2010) revealed that governments which have undertaken to implement accrual accounting should be aware that many challenges may be encountered.


A high percentage of the respondents (51.7%) agreed and strongly agreed that IPSASs increased the complexity of financial reporting while on 26.6% disagreed and strongly disagreed that IPSASs provisions complicated financial reporting.  This could be said to be true since financial statements are expected to have certain qualities one of which is simplicity.  The findings of the study is supported by the work of Hyndman and Connolly (2005), which concluded that many interviews identified that there is unnecessary complexity in adopting new standard. Jones and Browrey (2013) also opined that accrual accounting has posed challenges on the preparation of financial statements.


There are problems that currently inhibit the efficiency and effectiveness of the IPSASs implementation.  A legal framework should be crafted in order to prescribe IPSASs, all stakeholders and partners in the government to embrace IPSASs reporting system in order to enhance financial management in the public sector.  Hamisi (2012) stated that government should upgrade Information technology and enhance adoption of ICT in order to cope with the financial data requirements of the IPSASs standards.  
Table 4.6: Ranking of Challenges Facing the Adoption of IPSASs in Lagos State

	S/N
	Standards
	Rank

	1
	The adoption of IPSASs was too costly.
	1

	2
	IPSASs increased the complexity of financial reporting. 
	2

	3
	There was low number of skilled and competent manpower.
	3

	4
	There was need for re-training on the adoption of IPSASs.
	4

	5
	There was lack of competent specialists on IPSASs.
	5

	6
	There was resistance to implementation and boredom at work.
	6

	7
	There was lack of IPSASs implementation guidelines.
	7

	8
	There was lack of organizational structure proportional to change.
	8

	9
	There was complexity of software system.
	9

	10
	There was people’s dissatisfaction due to high work load, low salary and job security.
	10

	11
	There was unawareness of the benefits of the new financial system.
	11

	12
	IPSASs increase neglect of system capability and accountability.
	12

	13
	There was lack of proper instructions from the regulatory bodies.
	13

	14
	The adoption of IPSASs brought about ambiguous stance on the basis of accounting.
	14

	15
	There was lack of enlightenment and sensitization of political leaders on the adoption of IPSASs.
	15


Source: Field Survey, 2017
4.5
Determinants of the Level of Adoption of IPSASs in the Public Sector in Lagos State
There were five models estimated in order to establish the determinants of the level of adoption of IPSASs in Lagos State. four (4) of the five models (that is model 1 to model 4) correspond to the sampled public offices such as; Auditor General’s office, Accountant General’s office, Ministry of Finance and Lagos Internal Revenue Service, respectively and the last model (model 5) pooled the whole samples.  

Table 4.7 shows the determinants of the level of adoption of IPSASs in the public sector in Lagos state.  From table 4.7, the diagnostics tests for the models reveal that the variation in the level of the adoption of IPSASs as explained by variation in the determinants (as seen in Pseudo R2) is up to 21.22% in model 1, 6.85% in model 2, 7.11% in model 3, 4.97% in model 4 and 5.86% in model 5. Jointly, at 1% level of significance, the included variables in the models are significant in explaining this variation except for model 1 which remains insignificant.

In model 1 (which corresponds to the level of adoption of IPSASs in the office of the auditor general) apart from acceptable Cash Accounting Based System (CABS) which is significant at 5%, none of these determinants are significant in explaining the level of adoption of IPSASs in the office of the auditor general. A rise in acceptable in cash accounting based system increases the odds of the occurrence of having a higher level of adoption of IPSASs by 4.564 while an increase in the awareness on the transition of IPSASs (AOT) makes the odd likelihood of the adoption of IPSASs to rise by 2.561.

This trend is seen for total support and commitment from the political class (TSU), effective project management structure for IPSASs (EPMS), adequate technology capacity and information system (TCIS), regular update of the governing bodies on the progress made in the implementation of IPSASs (UGBP), interim financial statement (IFSR) and continuous testing of internal controls (CTIC): such that an increase in this will raise the likelihood of the occurrence of higher level of adoption of IPSASs by 1.735, 1.181, 1.183, 1.628,1.205 and 1.934 respectively.  However, evidence has it that when adequate multidimensional reporting requirement (MDRR) raises the odds likelihood of higher adoption of IPSASs falls by 0.513, an increase in commitment of central entities and key officials (CCEK) lowers the likelihood of a higher adoption of IPSASs by 0.579, while an increase in budget for additional human resources (BAHR) make the likely occurrence of a higher IPSASs adoption to fall by 0.812 and increase in prevention of corrupt practice (PCP) leads to the fall in the likelihood of the occurrence of higher adoption of IPSASs to the tune of 0.840.

In model 2 (which corresponds to the level of adoption of IPSASs in the office of the accountant general) apart from acceptable cash accounting based system (CABS), adequate multi-dimensional reporting requirements (MDRR), awareness on the transition of IPSASs (AOT), commitment of central entities and key officials (CCEK) and budget for additional human resources (BAHR) which are significant at 1%, 5%,5%,5% and 5% respectively, other determinants are not significant in explaining the level of adoption of IPSASs in the office of the accountant general. A rise in acceptable cash accounting based system (CABS) increases the odds of the occurrence of having a higher level of adoption of IPSASs by 3.646 while an increase in adequate multidimensional reporting requirement (MDRR) raises the odds likelihood of higher adoption of IPSASs by 2.119. Also, when the awareness on the transition of IPSASs increases, it makes the odd likelihood of the adoption of IPSASs to rise.

This trend is seen for commitment of central entities and key officials (CCEK), effective project management structure for IPSASs (EPMS), budget for additional human resources (BAHR), adequate technology capacity and information system (TCIS), interim financial statement (IFSR), continuous testing of internal controls (CTIC) and prevention of corrupt practice (PCP): such that an increase in this will raise the likelihood of the occurrence of higher level of adoption of IPSASs by 2.173, 1.995, 2.345, 1.693, 2.105, 2.011 and 2.037 respectively. However, evidence has it that when total support and commitment from the political class (TSU) and regular update of the governing bodies on the progress made in the implementation of IPSASs (UGBP) increases, there is the likelihood that the level of the adoption of IPSASs will reduce.

In model 3 (which corresponds to the level of adoption of IPSASs in the ministry of finance) asides adequate multi-dimensional reporting requirements (MDRR), commitment of central entities and key officials (CCEK) and interim financial statement (IFSR) that are significant at 5% each, none of the other determinants are individually significant in explaining the level of disclosure of IPSASs in the ministry of finance.  Thus, while an increase in adequate multidimensional reporting requirement (MDRR) raises the odds likelihood of higher adoption of IPSASs by 2.202, an increase in total support and commitment from the political class (TSU) improves the likely occurrence of a higher adoption of IPSASs by about 1.47. Similarly, when the commitment of central entities and key officials (CCEK) increases, the odds likelihood of the occurrence of the adoption of IPSASs the Ministry of Finance raises by 2.121.

This trend is seen for, effective project management structure for IPSASs (EPMS), budget for additional human resources (BAHR), adequate technology capacity and information system (TCIS), regular update of the governing bodies on the progress made in the implementation of IPSASs (UGBP), interim financial statement (IFSR) and continuous testing of internal controls (CTIC): such that an increase in these will raise the likelihood of the occurrence of a higher level of adoption of IPSASs by 1.42, 1.239, 1.319, 1.348, 2.267 and 1.27 respectively. whereas, evidence has it that when acceptable in cash accounting based system (CABS), awareness on the transition of IPSASs (AOT) and prevention of corrupt practice (PCP) increases, there is the likelihood that the level of the adoption of IPSASs will drops by 0.742, 6.273 and 0.687 respectively.

In model 4 (which corresponds to the level of adoption of IPSASs in the Lagos state Internal Revenue Service) there are no variables that are significant in explaining variations in the level of the adoption of IPSASs. Although a rise in acceptable in cash accounting based system (CABS) increases the odds of the occurrence of having a higher level of adoption of IPSASs by 1.419 while an increase in adequate multidimensional reporting requirement (MDRR) raises the odds likelihood of higher adoption of IPSASs by 1.148. Also, when the awareness on the transition of IPSASs (AOT) increases, it makes the odd likelihood of the adoption of IPSASs to rise by 1.042.

This trend is seen for total support and commitment from the political class (TSU), commitment of central entities and key officials (CCEK), budget for additional human resources (BAHR), regular update of the governing bodies on the progress made in the implementation of IPSASs (UGBP), interim financial statement (IFSR), continuous testing of internal controls (CTIC) and prevention of corrupt practice (PCP): such that an increase in this will raise the likelihood of the occurrence of higher level of adoption of IPSASs by 1.306, 1.652, 1.510, 1.042, 1.291, 1.751 and 1.561 respectively. Nonetheless, when there is an increase in effective project management structure for IPSASs (EPMS) and adequate technology capacity and information system (TCIS), there is the likelihood that the level of the adoption of IPSASs will reduce by 0.67 and 0.589 respectively.
In model 5 (which corresponds to the level of adoption of IPSASs in the overall sampled public offices) only acceptable cash accounting based system (CABS), interim financial statement (IFSR) and continuous testing of internal controls (CTIC) are significant in explaining the level of adoption of IPSASs in the overall sampled public offices at 5% each. Interestingly, a rise in acceptable in cash accounting based system (CABS) increases the odds of the occurrence of having a higher level of adoption of IPSASs by 1.399 while an increase in adequate multidimensional reporting requirement (MDRR) raises the odds likelihood of higher adoption of IPSASs by 1.304. Also, when the awareness on the transition of IPSASs (AOT) increases, it makes the odd likelihood of the adoption of IPSASs (AOT) to rise by 1.228.

In the same vein, commitment of central entities and key officials (CCEK), effective project management structure for IPSASs (EPMS), budget for additional human resources (BAHR), adequate technology capacity and information system (TCIS), regular update of the governing bodies on the progress made in the implementation of IPSASs (UGBP), interim financial statement (IFSR), continuous testing of internal controls (CTIC) and prevention of corrupt practice (PCP): such that an increase in this will raise the likelihood of the occurrence of higher level of adoption of IPSASs by 1.418, 1.261, 1.28, 1.093, 1.128, 1.465, 1.675 and 1.111 respectively.  However, total support and commitment from the political class (TSU) decreases the likelihood of the occurrence of higher level of adoption of IPSASs by 0.71.  From these indices, it can be said that there is significant association between the level of adoption of IPSASs and the determinants of level of adoption of IPSASs in the sampled public offices.  Therefore, the hypothesis which states that there is no significant association between the level of adoption of IPSASs and the determinants of level of adoption of IPSASs by Lagos State government is rejected.


The findings of the study revealed that on the whole, the overall result is significant in explaining the variation between the level of adoption and determinants of adoption of IPSASs for the study.  This implies that there is significant association between the level of adoption of IPSASs and the determinants of adoption of IPSASs.  
Reforms in public sector’s financial management systems and processes are becoming critical in response to increasing demands for greater transparency and accountability in the management of the public’s finances. In Nigeria as is widely acknowledged, there are fundamental problems that currently inhibit the efficiency and effectiveness of the public sector’s finance and accounting functions. This is due to poor performance of basic financial functions, poor supervision, inadequate financial information and decision support, poor staff motivation and attitudes to accounting and accountability. These inherent problems have suggested as contributing to the slow progress by the Nigerian Government in implementing its Public sector reforms in Particular the IPSASs compared to other Countries of the World. 
Hamisi (2012) established that failure to tackle specific accounting issues, lack of adoption of information technology, lack of international financial support significantly affected implementation of international public sector accounting standards in the public sector. These are fundamental problems that currently inhibit the efficiency and effectiveness of the IPSAS implementation. According to Flynn (2018), low level of technology adoption, lack of political and weak legal framework, failure by parliament to enact new financial management Act 2004 to recognize IPSASs, lack of trained and competent staff on the adoption of IPSASs systems of financial reporting were the factors that affected implementation on IPSAS in the government sectors. A legal framework can be crafted in order to prescribe IPSAS, all stakeholders and partners in the government embrace IPSAS reporting system in order to enhance financial management in the public sector, government upgrade Information technology and enhance adoption of ICT in order to cope with the financial data requirements of the IPSAS standards  (Hamisi, 2012).

The findings corroborate Jones and Browrey (2013) who found that the re-introduction of the cash accounting and budgeting system (CABS) have great influence on changes in cash allocation such that it serves as basis for government entity that desires to adopt IPSASs accrual basis of accounting.

Gruthrie, Humphry, Jones and Olson (2010) also averred that introduction of accrual accounting allows for interim financial reporting which assist management of government in funding and expenditure capital investments.  However, the finding of this study negates the thought of Mellet, Macniven and Marriot (2008) that governments of developing countries may not experience improvement in the rating of internal controls through the adoption and implementation of IPSASs.  Consequently, Shakirat (2013) found that there has been positive significant impact of financial control on appropriation processes and budgetary controls in Nigeria public sector.  The findings of the study negate Agbo (2014), according to the study, measures like legislative committees, financial audit, ministerial control, judicial reviews, anticorruption agencies, advisory committees, parliamentary questions and public hearing to ensure accountability in the public sector as in developed countries were adopted yet no tangible result has been achieved.  Flynn (2018) gave further issues to consider in the transition towards successful full adoption of IPSASs and which include stakeholder engagement, structural and legal transformation, transformation and change management, skills capacity, cost, technology and infrastructure, implementation approach and external support.
Table 4.7: Ordinal Logistic Regression for the Determinants of the level of Adoption of IPSASs in Lagos State

	Variable
	Model 1
	Model 2
	Model 3
	Model 4
	Model 5

	CABS
	4.564**

(2.25)
	3.646*

(2.97)
	0.742

(-0.96)
	1.419

(1.23)
	1.399**

(2.15)

	MDRR
	0.513

(-1.27)
	2.119**

(2.21)
	2.207**

(1.98)
	1.148

(0.49)
	1.304

(1.73)

	AOT
	2.561

(1.80)
	2.615**

(2.32)
	0.627

(-1.21)
	1.042

(0.15)
	1.228

(1.21)

	TSU
	1.735

(1.08)
	0.904

(-0.24)
	1.470

(1.16)
	1.306

(0.79)
	0.971

(-0.17)

	CCEK
	0.579

(-1.30)
	2.173**

(1.98)
	2.121**

(2.10)
	1.652

(1.26)
	1.418

(1.95)

	EPMS
	1.181

(0.39)
	1.995

(1.27)
	1.420

(1.10)
	0.670

(-1.04)
	1.261

(1.29)

	BAHR
	0.812

(-0.48)
	2.345**

(2.42)
	1.239

(0.59)
	1.510

(1.32)
	1.280

(1.56)

	TCIS
	1.183

(0.36)
	1.693

(1.27)
	1.319

(0.80)
	0.589

(-1.74)
	1.093

(0.55)

	UGBP
	1.628

(1.04)
	0.591

(-1.12)
	1.348

(1.08)
	1.042

(0.14)
	1.128

(0.79)

	IFSR
	1.205

(0.44)
	2.105

(1.68)
	2.267**

(2.33)
	1.291

(0.80)
	1.465**

(2.17)

	CTIC
	1.934

(1.30)
	2.011

(1.49)
	1.270

(0.62)
	1.751

(1.41)
	1.675**

(2.56)

	PCP
	0.840

(-0.30)
	2.037

(1.52)
	0.687

(-1.04)
	1.561

(1.09)
	1.111

(0.55)

	Number of Observations
	42
	70
	72
	90
	274

	LR Chi-Squared
	17.31
	81.18
	31.18
	27.00
	104.55

	Pseudo R2
	0.0685
	0.2122
	0.0711
	0.0497
	0.0586

	Prob>Chi-Squared
	0.1384
	0.0000
	0.0019
	0.0077
	0.0000

	Log-Likelihood
	-117.6471
	-150.7148
	-203.7723
	-257.8283
	-839.9359


The figure without bracket is the odds ratio while the figure with bracket is the Z test score for each variable.* represents 1% and ** represents 5% levels of significance

Source: Field Survey, 2017
4.6
Influence of Adoption of IPSASs on the Quality of Financial Reporting in the Public Sector in Lagos State

Table 4.8 shows whether the adoption of IPSASs has influence on the quality of financial reporting, a paired sample t-test was carried out and observations were gotten from Lagos State public sector from 2016 financial report.

The table below depicts the test result of Lagos State public service.  The paired sample t- test evidence (t = -28.787, p = 0.000) reveals that there is a significant influence in the quality of financial reporting in Lagos State.  From these indices, it can be said that the adoption of IPSASs has contributed to the increase in the quality of financial reporting in the sampled public offices.  Therefore, the hypothesis which states that there is no significant influence in the quality of financial reports prepared by Lagos State government is rejected.

Table 4.8: Paired Sampled T Test for the Influence of the Adoption of IPSASs on the Quality of Financial Reporting in Lagos State
	Paired Samples Test

	 
	Paired Differences
	T
	Df
	Sig. (2-tailed)

	
	Mean
	Std. Deviation
	Std. Error Mean
	95% Confidence Interval of the Difference
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	Lower
	Upper
	
	
	

	Model
	-3.139
	1.096
	0.109
	-3.355
	-2.922
	-28.787
	100
	0.000


Source: Field Survey, 2017
To further substantiate the above evidence, ordinal logistic regression for the influence of adoption of IPSASs on quality of financial reporting in Lagos State was used.  The diagnostic test for the model depicted below shows that in the model, 3.27% of variations in the level of adoption of IPSASs were captured by the variations in the included variables in the model. The included variables were jointly significant at 1%.

Table 4.9 presents the ordinal logistic regression for the influence of the level of adoption of IPSASs on financial reporting quality in Lagos State.  The odd of having a quality financial report is increased by a factor of 32717.67 and significant at 1%.  The table shows that the adoption of IPSASs has brought the possibility of increased financial reporting quality to the sampled Lagos State public offices.  The included variables are significant at 1%, r = 0.0327.  The findings of this study negate Ellwood and Newberry (2010) when explains that the introduction of IPSASs in New-Zealand has been accompanied by misunderstanding and confusion.  Ellwood and Newberry (2010) also commented that there was little evidence that information was extensively used in decision making within the public sector.  Meanwhile, Acho (2014); Ofoegbu (2014) unveiled that the adoption of IPSASs has significantly improved objective and timely financial reporting and recording system.  Findings from Mhaka (2014) also observed that, IPSASs adoption improves the quality of public sector financial information, thereby increasing the confidence of both domestic and foreign donors and investment organizations in making financial assistance available for public sector entities.

Acho (2014) unveiled that the adoption of IPSASs would significantly improve accounting financial reporting and recording system in the Nigerian public sector which would in no doubt enhance comparability and other ill practices in the public sector.  Noel (2003) revealed that accrual accounting provides wide scope for the exercise of judgment and this requires technical knowledge, a disciplined approach and an audit system capable of monitoring how judgment is exercised.  Mhaka (2014) observed from his study that IPSASs adoption improves the quality of public sector financial information, and level of accountabilities, thereby increasing the confidence of both domestic and foreign donor organizations to make financial assistance available for public sector entities use.  Ijeoma and Oghoghomeh (2014) found that the adoption of IPSASs will enhance comparability and international best practices, adoption of IPSASs based standards will enable provide more meaningful information for decision makers and improve the quality of the financial reporting system in Nigeria and finally that adoption of IPSASs by Nigerian government will improve comparability of financial information reported by public sector entities in Nigeria and around the world. 
Alshujairi (2014) contributed that State Governments should adopt and implement the full accrual accounting based IPSASs if the country wants to maintain a robust public sector financial system capable of eradicating corruption and subsequently, engender transparency, accountability, and comparability of financial information in the country.  Mellet, Macniven and Marriot (2008) negates the findings of the study, that is, IPSASs adoption and quality of financial reporting where Mellet, Macniven and Marriot concluded by saying governments which have undertaken to implement accrual accounting should therefore be aware that many potential benefits may not be realized.   
Table 4.9: Ordinal logistic Regression for the Influence of Adoption of IPSASs on Quality of Financial Reporting in Lagos State

	Variable
	Model

	Level of Disclosure
	32717.67*

(46002.9)

	Number of Observations
	291

	LR Chi-Squared
	60.19

	Pseudo R2
	0.0327

	Prob>Chi-Squared
	0.0000

	Log-Likelihood
	-891.2407


The figure without bracket is the Odds ratio while the figure with bracket is the Z test score for each variable.* represents 1% and ** represents 5% levels of significance

Source: Field Survey, 2017
4.7
Data Analysis
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	Professional
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	N
	Valid
	291
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	Missing
	0
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	0
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	0
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	Gender

	
	Frequency
	Percent
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	14
	4.8
	4.8
	4.8

	
	FEMALE
	60
	20.6
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	25.4
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	74.6
	74.6
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	291
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	Age
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	BSC
	154
	52.9
	52.9
	74.9
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	ACCA
	8
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	ExpinPub
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	Missing
	System
	3
	1.0
	
	

	Total
	291
	100.0
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	1
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	.3
	2.1
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	94
	32.3
	32.4
	40.0

	
	SA
	174
	59.8
	60.0
	100.0
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	129
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	Total
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	Frequency
	Percent
	Valid Percent
	Cumulative Percent
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	SD
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	1.4
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	D
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	4.8
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	SD
	6
	2.1
	2.1
	2.1

	
	D
	12
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	4.1
	6.2

	
	UD
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	6.6
	12.8

	
	A
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	46.6
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	SA
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	40.7
	100.0

	
	Total
	290
	99.7
	100.0
	

	Missing
	System
	1
	.3
	
	

	Total
	291
	100.0
	
	

	Fair value cost model

	
	Frequency
	Percent
	Valid Percent
	Cumulative Percent

	Valid
	SD
	7
	2.4
	2.4
	2.4

	
	D
	6
	2.1
	2.1
	4.5

	
	UD
	20
	6.9
	6.9
	11.5

	
	A
	129
	44.3
	44.8
	56.3

	
	SA
	126
	43.3
	43.8
	100.0

	
	Total
	288
	99.0
	100.0
	

	Missing
	System
	3
	1.0
	
	

	Total
	291
	100.0
	
	

	Property equipment

	
	Frequency
	Percent
	Valid Percent
	Cumulative Percent

	Valid
	SD
	7
	2.4
	2.4
	2.4

	
	D
	10
	3.4
	3.4
	5.9

	
	UD
	28
	9.6
	9.7
	15.5

	
	A
	120
	41.2
	41.4
	56.9

	
	SA
	125
	43.0
	43.1
	100.0

	
	Total
	290
	99.7
	100.0
	

	Missing
	System
	1
	.3
	
	

	Total
	291
	100.0
	
	

	Contigent liability asset

	
	Frequency
	Percent
	Valid Percent
	Cumulative Percent

	Valid
	SD
	2
	.7
	.7
	.7

	
	D
	7
	2.4
	2.4
	3.1

	
	UD
	30
	10.3
	10.3
	13.4

	
	A
	130
	44.7
	44.7
	58.1

	
	SA
	121
	41.6
	41.6
	99.7

	
	55.00
	1
	.3
	.3
	100.0

	
	Total
	291
	100.0
	100.0
	


	Impairment losses

	
	Frequency
	Percent
	Valid Percent
	Cumulative Percent

	Valid
	SD
	2
	.7
	.7
	.7

	
	D
	4
	1.4
	1.4
	2.1

	
	UD
	21
	7.2
	7.2
	9.3

	
	A
	138
	47.4
	47.6
	56.9

	
	SA
	125
	43.0
	43.1
	100.0

	
	Total
	290
	99.7
	100.0
	

	Missing
	System
	1
	.3
	
	

	Total
	291
	100.0
	
	

	Requirement for govt

	
	Frequency
	Percent
	Valid Percent
	Cumulative Percent

	Valid
	SD
	7
	2.4
	2.4
	2.4

	
	D
	2
	.7
	.7
	3.1

	
	UD
	22
	7.6
	7.6
	10.7

	
	A
	133
	45.7
	45.7
	56.4

	
	SA
	127
	43.6
	43.6
	100.0

	
	Total
	291
	100.0
	100.0
	

	Non-exchange transaction

	
	Frequency
	Percent
	Valid Percent
	Cumulative Percent

	Valid
	SD
	1
	.3
	.3
	.3

	
	D
	7
	2.4
	2.4
	2.7

	
	UD
	12
	4.1
	4.1
	6.9

	
	A
	130
	44.7
	44.7
	51.5

	
	SA
	141
	48.5
	48.5
	100.0

	
	Total
	291
	100.0
	100.0
	

	Approve budget compliement

	
	Frequency
	Percent
	Valid Percent
	Cumulative Percent

	Valid
	SD
	2
	.7
	.7
	.7

	
	D
	2
	.7
	.7
	1.4

	
	UD
	10
	3.4
	3.4
	4.8

	
	A
	145
	49.8
	49.8
	54.6

	
	SA
	132
	45.4
	45.4
	100.0

	
	Total
	291
	100.0
	100.0
	


	Acc treatment

	
	Frequency
	Percent
	Valid Percent
	Cumulative Percent

	Valid
	SD
	1
	.3
	.3
	.3

	
	D
	4
	1.4
	1.4
	1.7

	
	UD
	13
	4.5
	4.5
	6.2

	
	A
	105
	36.1
	36.1
	42.3

	
	SA
	168
	57.7
	57.7
	100.0

	
	Total
	291
	100.0
	100.0
	

	Clarification of instrument

	
	Frequency
	Percent
	Valid Percent
	Cumulative Percent

	Valid
	SD
	1
	.3
	.3
	.3

	
	D
	4
	1.4
	1.4
	1.7

	
	UD
	13
	4.5
	4.5
	6.2

	
	A
	153
	52.6
	52.6
	58.8

	
	SA
	120
	41.2
	41.2
	100.0

	
	Total
	291
	100.0
	100.0
	

	Principle used

	
	Frequency
	Percent
	Valid Percent
	Cumulative Percent

	Valid
	SD
	4
	1.4
	1.4
	1.4

	
	D
	4
	1.4
	1.4
	2.7

	
	UD
	9
	3.1
	3.1
	5.8

	
	A
	145
	49.8
	49.8
	55.7

	
	SA
	129
	44.3
	44.3
	100.0

	
	Total
	291
	100.0
	100.0
	

	Carrying amount

	
	Frequency
	Percent
	Valid Percent
	Cumulative Percent

	Valid
	SD
	2
	.7
	.7
	.7

	
	D
	8
	2.7
	2.8
	3.4

	
	UD
	12
	4.1
	4.1
	7.6

	
	A
	151
	51.9
	52.1
	59.7

	
	SA
	117
	40.2
	40.3
	100.0

	
	Total
	290
	99.7
	100.0
	

	Missing
	System
	1
	.3
	
	

	Total
	291
	100.0
	
	


	Service concession

	
	Frequency
	Percent
	Valid Percent
	Cumulative Percent

	Valid
	SD
	1
	.3
	.3
	.3

	
	D
	8
	2.7
	2.7
	3.1

	
	UD
	17
	5.8
	5.8
	8.9

	
	A
	146
	50.2
	50.2
	59.1

	
	SA
	119
	40.9
	40.9
	100.0

	
	Total
	291
	100.0
	100.0
	

	List of ministries Dept

	
	Frequency
	Percent
	Valid Percent
	Cumulative Percent

	Valid
	SD
	2
	.7
	.7
	.7

	
	D
	9
	3.1
	3.1
	3.8

	
	UD
	24
	8.2
	8.3
	12.1

	
	A
	135
	46.4
	46.7
	58.8

	
	SA
	119
	40.9
	41.2
	100.0

	
	Total
	289
	99.3
	100.0
	

	Missing
	System
	2
	.7
	
	

	Total
	291
	100.0
	
	

	General purpose finstatement

	
	Frequency
	Percent
	Valid Percent
	Cumulative Percent

	Valid
	SD
	2
	.7
	.7
	.7

	
	D
	6
	2.1
	2.1
	2.7

	
	UD
	16
	5.5
	5.5
	8.2

	
	A
	129
	44.3
	44.3
	52.6

	
	SA
	138
	47.4
	47.4
	100.0

	
	Total
	291
	100.0
	100.0
	


3. OBJECTIVE 2

Descriptive
	Notes

	Output Created
	23-SEP-2017 20:18:39

	Comments
	

	Input
	Data
	C:\Users\8\Desktop\BOWEN UNIVERSITY THESIS.sav

	
	Active Dataset
	DataSet1

	
	Filter
	<none>

	
	Weight
	<none>

	
	Split File
	<none>

	
	N of Rows in Working Data File
	291

	Missing Value Handling
	Definition of Missing
	User defined missing values are treated as missing.

	
	Cases Used
	All non-missing data are used.

	ntax
	DESCRIPTIVES VARIABLES=IPSASadoption Complexityoffinreporting Manpower Specialists Implemenguide Resistancetoimplementation Needforretraning Softwarecomplexity Properinstruction Organisationalstructure Dissatisfaction Neglectsystemcapabilityacc

Stanceonacctgbasis Enlightmentsensitisation unawareness

  /STATISTICS=MEAN STDDEV MIN MAX.

	Resources
	Processor Time
	00:00:00.03

	
	Elapsed Time
	00:00:00.08


[DataSet1] C:\Users\8\Desktop\BOWEN UNIVERSITY THESIS.sav

	Descriptive Statistics

	
	N
	Minimum
	Maximum
	Mean
	Std. Deviation

	IPSASimplementation
	291
	1.00
	5.00
	3.4089
	1.33692

	Complexityoffinreporting
	286
	1.00
	5.00
	3.1573
	1.39664

	Manpower
	286
	1.00
	5.00
	2.7273
	1.27696

	Specialists
	287
	1.00
	5.00
	2.5679
	1.26329

	Implemenguide
	286
	1.00
	5.00
	2.4790
	1.25569

	Resistancetoimplementation
	288
	1.00
	5.00
	2.5035
	1.24939

	Needforretraning
	283
	1.00
	5.00
	2.6714
	1.29981

	Softwarecomplexity
	285
	1.00
	5.00
	2.4421
	1.26476

	Properinstruction
	287
	1.00
	5.00
	2.2927
	1.14570

	Organisationalstructure
	289
	1.00
	5.00
	2.3875
	1.14655

	Dissatisfaction
	286
	1.00
	5.00
	2.3776
	1.21859

	Neglectsystemcapabilityacc
	286
	1.00
	44.00
	2.3566
	2.71036

	Stanceonacctgbasis
	289
	1.00
	5.00
	2.2422
	1.06237

	Enlightmentsensitisation
	290
	1.00
	5.00
	2.2414
	1.16628

	Unawareness
	285
	1.00
	5.00
	2.3474
	1.24839

	Valid N (listwise)
	242
	
	
	
	


Frequencies

	Notes

	Output Created
	23-SEP-2017 20:19:45

	Comments
	

	Input
	Data
	C:\Users\8\Desktop\BOWEN UNIVERSITY THESIS.sav

	
	Active Dataset
	DataSet1

	
	Filter
	<none>

	
	Weight
	<none>

	
	Split File
	<none>

	
	N of Rows in Working Data File
	291

	Missing Value Handling
	Definition of Missing
	User-defined missing values are treated as missing.

	
	Cases Used
	Statistics are based on all cases with valid data.

	Syntax
	FREQUENCIES VARIABLES=IPSASadoption Complexityoffinreporting Manpower Specialists Implemenguide Resistancetoimplementation Needforretraning Softwarecomplexity Properinstruction Organisationalstructure Dissatisfaction Neglectsystemcapabilityacc

Stanceonacctgbasis Enlightmentsensitisation unawareness

  /ORDER=ANALYSIS.

	Resources
	Processor Time
	00:00:00.05

	
	Elapsed Time
	00:00:00.05


[DataSet1] C:\Users\8\Desktop\BOWEN UNIVERSITY THESIS.sav

Frequency Table

	IPSASadoption

	
	Frequency
	Percent
	Valid Percent
	Cumulative Percent

	Valid
	SD
	27
	9.3
	9.3
	9.3

	
	D
	69
	23.7
	23.7
	33.0

	
	UD
	27
	9.3
	9.3
	42.3

	
	A
	94
	32.3
	32.3
	74.6

	
	SA
	74
	25.4
	25.4
	100.0

	
	Total
	291
	100.0
	100.0
	

	Complexityoffinreporting

	
	Frequency
	Percent
	Valid Percent
	Cumulative Percent

	Valid
	SD
	42
	14.4
	14.7
	14.7

	
	D
	76
	26.1
	26.6
	41.3

	
	UD
	20
	6.9
	7.0
	48.3

	
	A
	91
	31.3
	31.8
	80.1

	
	SA
	57
	19.6
	19.9
	100.0

	
	Total
	286
	98.3
	100.0
	

	Missing
	System
	5
	1.7
	
	

	Total
	291
	100.0
	
	

	Manpower

	
	Frequency
	Percent
	Valid Percent
	Cumulative Percent

	Valid
	SD
	49
	16.8
	17.1
	17.1

	
	D
	106
	36.4
	37.1
	54.2

	
	UD
	34
	11.7
	11.9
	66.1

	
	A
	68
	23.4
	23.8
	89.9

	
	SA
	29
	10.0
	10.1
	100.0

	
	Total
	286
	98.3
	100.0
	

	Missing
	System
	5
	1.7
	
	

	Total
	291
	100.0
	
	


	Specialists

	
	Frequency
	Percent
	Valid Percent
	Cumulative Percent

	Valid
	SD
	56
	19.2
	19.5
	19.5

	
	D
	121
	41.6
	42.2
	61.7

	
	UD
	29
	10.0
	10.1
	71.8

	
	A
	53
	18.2
	18.5
	90.2

	
	SA
	28
	9.6
	9.8
	100.0

	
	Total
	287
	98.6
	100.0
	

	Missing
	System
	4
	1.4
	
	

	Total
	291
	100.0
	
	

	Implemenguide

	
	Frequency
	Percent
	Valid Percent
	Cumulative Percent

	Valid
	SD
	65
	22.3
	22.7
	22.7

	
	D
	116
	39.9
	40.6
	63.3

	
	UD
	35
	12.0
	12.2
	75.5

	
	A
	43
	14.8
	15.0
	90.6

	
	SA
	27
	9.3
	9.4
	100.0

	
	Total
	286
	98.3
	100.0
	

	Missing
	System
	5
	1.7
	
	

	Total
	291
	100.0
	
	

	Resistancetoimplementation

	
	Frequency
	Percent
	Valid Percent
	Cumulative Percent

	Valid
	SD
	63
	21.6
	21.9
	21.9

	
	D
	117
	40.2
	40.6
	62.5

	
	UD
	33
	11.3
	11.5
	74.0

	
	A
	50
	17.2
	17.4
	91.3

	
	SA
	25
	8.6
	8.7
	100.0

	
	Total
	288
	99.0
	100.0
	

	Missing
	System
	3
	1.0
	
	

	Total
	291
	100.0
	
	


	Needforretraning

	
	Frequency
	Percent
	Valid Percent
	Cumulative Percent

	Valid
	SD
	55
	18.9
	19.4
	19.4

	
	D
	106
	36.4
	37.5
	56.9

	
	UD
	28
	9.6
	9.9
	66.8

	
	A
	65
	22.3
	23.0
	89.8

	
	SA
	29
	10.0
	10.2
	100.0

	
	Total
	283
	97.3
	100.0
	

	Missing
	System
	8
	2.7
	
	

	Total
	291
	100.0
	
	

	Software complexity

	
	Frequency
	Percent
	Valid Percent
	Cumulative Percent

	Valid
	SD
	69
	23.7
	24.2
	24.2

	
	D
	117
	40.2
	41.1
	65.3

	
	UD
	30
	10.3
	10.5
	75.8

	
	A
	42
	14.4
	14.7
	90.5

	
	SA
	27
	9.3
	9.5
	100.0

	
	Total
	285
	97.9
	100.0
	

	Missing
	System
	6
	2.1
	
	

	Total
	291
	100.0
	
	

	Proper instruction

	
	Frequency
	Percent
	Valid Percent
	Cumulative Percent

	Valid
	SD
	69
	23.7
	24.0
	24.0

	
	D
	138
	47.4
	48.1
	72.1

	
	UD
	23
	7.9
	8.0
	80.1

	
	A
	41
	14.1
	14.3
	94.4

	
	SA
	16
	5.5
	5.6
	100.0

	
	Total
	287
	98.6
	100.0
	

	Missing
	System
	4
	1.4
	
	

	Total
	291
	100.0
	
	

	Organisational structure

	
	Frequency
	Percent
	Valid Percent
	Cumulative Percent

	Valid
	SD
	57
	19.6
	19.7
	19.7

	
	D
	144
	49.5
	49.8
	69.6

	
	UD
	24
	8.2
	8.3
	77.9

	
	A
	47
	16.2
	16.3
	94.1

	
	SA
	17
	5.8
	5.9
	100.0

	
	Total
	289
	99.3
	100.0
	

	Missing
	System
	2
	.7
	
	

	Total
	291
	100.0
	
	

	Dissatisfaction

	
	Frequency
	Percent
	Valid Percent
	Cumulative Percent

	Valid
	SD
	71
	24.4
	24.8
	24.8

	
	D
	123
	42.3
	43.0
	67.8

	
	UD
	25
	8.6
	8.7
	76.6

	
	A
	47
	16.2
	16.4
	93.0

	
	SA
	20
	6.9
	7.0
	100.0

	
	Total
	286
	98.3
	100.0
	

	Missing
	System
	5
	1.7
	
	

	Total
	291
	100.0
	
	

	Neglect system capability acc

	
	Frequency
	Percent
	Valid Percent
	Cumulative Percent

	Valid
	SD
	75
	25.8
	26.2
	26.2

	
	D
	140
	48.1
	49.0
	75.2

	
	UD
	18
	6.2
	6.3
	81.5

	
	A
	39
	13.4
	13.6
	95.1

	
	SA
	13
	4.5
	4.5
	99.7

	
	44.00
	1
	.3
	.3
	100.0

	
	Total
	286
	98.3
	100.0
	

	Missing
	System
	5
	1.7
	
	

	Total
	291
	100.0
	
	

	Stanceonacctg basis

	
	Frequency
	Percent
	Valid Percent
	Cumulative Percent

	Valid
	SD
	65
	22.3
	22.5
	22.5

	
	D
	151
	51.9
	52.2
	74.7

	
	UD
	20
	6.9
	6.9
	81.7

	
	A
	44
	15.1
	15.2
	96.9

	
	SA
	9
	3.1
	3.1
	100.0

	
	Total
	289
	99.3
	100.0
	

	Missing
	System
	2
	.7
	
	

	Total
	291
	100.0
	
	

	Enlightment sensitisation

	
	Frequency
	Percent
	Valid Percent
	Cumulative Percent

	Valid
	SD
	81
	27.8
	27.9
	27.9

	
	D
	132
	45.4
	45.5
	73.4

	
	UD
	18
	6.2
	6.2
	79.7

	
	A
	44
	15.1
	15.2
	94.8

	
	SA
	15
	5.2
	5.2
	100.0

	
	Total
	290
	99.7
	100.0
	

	Missing
	System
	1
	.3
	
	

	Total
	291
	100.0
	
	

	Unawareness

	
	Frequency
	Percent
	Valid Percent
	Cumulative Percent

	Valid
	SD
	79
	27.1
	27.7
	27.7

	
	D
	120
	41.2
	42.1
	69.8

	
	UD
	12
	4.1
	4.2
	74.0

	
	A
	56
	19.2
	19.6
	93.7

	
	SA
	18
	6.2
	6.3
	100.0

	
	Total
	285
	97.9
	100.0
	

	Missing
	System
	6
	2.1
	
	

	Total
	291
	100.0
	
	


1. OBJECTIVE 3

[image: image20.emf]. 

                                                                                               

                       /cut19     38.53393   5.511812                      27.73098    49.33688

                       /cut18     38.05688    5.48718                      27.30221    48.81156

                       /cut17     37.69874   5.472375                      26.97308    48.42439

                       /cut16     35.34611   5.358655                      24.84334    45.84888

                       /cut15     33.85943   5.196914                      23.67366    44.04519

                       /cut14     33.59229   5.140042                      23.51799    43.66658

                       /cut13     33.10687   5.047305                      23.21434    42.99941

                       /cut12     32.68927   4.981785                      22.92515    42.45339

                       /cut11     32.27385   4.912325                      22.64587    41.90183

                       /cut10     31.72032   4.832016                      22.24974     41.1909

                        /cut9     31.20243   4.764402                      21.86437    40.54049

                        /cut8     30.73038   4.712549                      21.49395    39.96681

                        /cut7     30.34757   4.683406                      21.16826    39.52687

                        /cut6     30.23184   4.675694                      21.06764    39.39603

                        /cut5     30.00028    4.66053                      20.86581    39.13475

                        /cut4     29.67419   4.643182                      20.57372    38.77466

                        /cut3     28.79587   4.610576                      19.75931    37.83243

                        /cut2     28.23316   4.597269                      19.22268    37.24364

                        /cut1     26.73077   4.581589                      17.75102    35.71052

                                                                                               

             corruptpractices     .7112444   .4689023     1.52   0.129    -.2077872    1.630276

              internalcontrol     .6984218   .4692772     1.49   0.137    -.2213445    1.618188

          interimfinstatement     .7445352   .4427592     1.68   0.093    -.1232568    1.612327

              governingbodies    -.5266925    .469559    -1.12   0.262    -1.447011    .3936264

                 techcapacity     .5266264   .4141459     1.27   0.204    -.2850847    1.338337

               humanresources     .8521366   .3518356     2.42   0.015     .1625514    1.541722

            projectmanagement     .6906433   .5451554     1.27   0.205    -.3778417    1.759128

              centralentities     .7762831   .3919249     1.98   0.048     .0081245    1.544442

               politicalclass    -.1013712   .4305183    -0.24   0.814    -.9451715    .7424292

communicationanddocumentation      .961384   .4152155     2.32   0.021     .1475766    1.775191

    multidimensionalreporting     .7510417   .3402039     2.21   0.027     .0842544    1.417829

           cashaccbasedsystem      1.29356   .4350906     2.97   0.003      .440798    2.146322

                                                                                               

            levelofdisclosure        Coef.   Std. Err.      z    P>|z|     [95% Conf. Interval]

                                                                                               

Log likelihood = -150.71482                     Pseudo R2         =     0.2122

                                                Prob > chi2       =     0.0000

                                                LR chi2(12)       =      81.18

Ordered logistic regression                     Number of obs     =         70

Iteration 5:   log likelihood = -150.71482  

Iteration 4:   log likelihood = -150.71482  

Iteration 3:   log likelihood = -150.71972  

Iteration 2:   log likelihood = -151.16874  

Iteration 1:   log likelihood = -158.29417  

Iteration 0:   log likelihood =  -191.3025  

> anagement humanresources techcapacity governingbodies interimfinstatement internalcontrol corruptpractices

. ologit levelofdisclosure cashaccbasedsystem multidimensionalreporting communicationanddocumentation politicalclass centralentities projectm
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                       /cut19     38.53393   5.511812                      27.73098    49.33688

                       /cut18     38.05688    5.48718                      27.30221    48.81156

                       /cut17     37.69874   5.472375                      26.97308    48.42439

                       /cut16     35.34611   5.358655                      24.84334    45.84888

                       /cut15     33.85943   5.196914                      23.67366    44.04519

                       /cut14     33.59229   5.140042                      23.51799    43.66658

                       /cut13     33.10687   5.047305                      23.21434    42.99941

                       /cut12     32.68927   4.981785                      22.92515    42.45339

                       /cut11     32.27385   4.912325                      22.64587    41.90183

                       /cut10     31.72032   4.832016                      22.24974     41.1909

                        /cut9     31.20243   4.764402                      21.86437    40.54049

                        /cut8     30.73038   4.712549                      21.49395    39.96681

                        /cut7     30.34757   4.683406                      21.16826    39.52687

                        /cut6     30.23184   4.675694                      21.06764    39.39603

                        /cut5     30.00028    4.66053                      20.86581    39.13475

                        /cut4     29.67419   4.643182                      20.57372    38.77466

                        /cut3     28.79587   4.610576                      19.75931    37.83243

                        /cut2     28.23316   4.597269                      19.22268    37.24364

                        /cut1     26.73077   4.581589                      17.75102    35.71052

                                                                                               

             corruptpractices     2.036524   .9549307     1.52   0.129     .8123799    5.105284

              internalcontrol     2.010577   .9435179     1.49   0.137     .8014405    5.043943

          interimfinstatement     2.105463   .9322129     1.68   0.093     .8840366    5.014468

              governingbodies      .590555   .2773005    -1.12   0.262     .2352724    1.482347

                 techcapacity      1.69321   .7012362     1.27   0.204     .7519506      3.8127

               humanresources     2.344651   .8249318     2.42   0.015     1.176509    4.672629

            projectmanagement     1.994998   1.087584     1.27   0.205      .685339    5.807373

              centralentities     2.173379   .8518014     1.98   0.048     1.008158    4.685356

               politicalclass     .9035976   .3890153    -0.24   0.814     .3886129    2.101033

communicationanddocumentation     2.615314   1.085919     2.32   0.021     1.159022    5.901411

    multidimensionalreporting     2.119206   .7209622     2.21   0.027     1.087906    4.128148

           cashaccbasedsystem     3.645742   1.586228     2.97   0.003     1.553947    8.553339

                                                                                               

            levelofdisclosure   Odds Ratio   Std. Err.      z    P>|z|     [95% Conf. Interval]

                                                                                               

Log likelihood = -150.71482                     Pseudo R2         =     0.2122

                                                Prob > chi2       =     0.0000

                                                LR chi2(12)       =      81.18

Ordered logistic regression                     Number of obs     =         70

Iteration 5:   log likelihood = -150.71482  

Iteration 4:   log likelihood = -150.71482  

Iteration 3:   log likelihood = -150.71972  

Iteration 2:   log likelihood = -151.16874  

Iteration 1:   log likelihood = -158.29417  

Iteration 0:   log likelihood =  -191.3025  

> anagement humanresources techcapacity governingbodies interimfinstatement internalcontrol corruptpractices, or

. ologit levelofdisclosure cashaccbasedsystem multidimensionalreporting communicationanddocumentation politicalclass centralentities projectm


[image: image22.emf]. 

                                                                                               

                       /cut22     16.94063    4.58038                      7.963246    25.91801

                       /cut21     16.46402   4.547782                      7.550529    25.37751

                       /cut20     16.11554   4.527801                      7.241217    24.98987

                       /cut19     15.37683   4.487962                      6.580581    24.17307

                       /cut18     15.18245   4.477574                       6.40657    23.95834

                       /cut17     15.00295   4.466938                      6.247908    23.75798

                       /cut16     14.82921   4.453651                      6.100211     23.5582

                       /cut15     14.49065   4.422913                      5.821895     23.1594

                       /cut14     14.04674   4.382076                      5.458025    22.63545

                       /cut13     13.77547   4.356233                      5.237405    22.31353

                       /cut12     13.63076   4.339294                      5.125899    22.13562

                       /cut11     13.07176   4.281369                      4.680431    21.46309

                       /cut10     12.81707   4.263528                      4.460708    21.17343

                        /cut9     12.57809   4.252224                      4.243885     20.9123

                        /cut8     12.34121   4.244992                      4.021176    20.66124

                        /cut7       12.077   4.236188                      3.774225    20.37978

                        /cut6     11.43463   4.219581                      3.164407    19.70486

                        /cut5     11.25119   4.221328                       2.97754    19.52484

                        /cut4     10.57615   4.240645                      2.264634    18.88766

                        /cut3     10.24975   4.251893                      1.916189     18.5833

                        /cut2     9.794418   4.266869                      1.431508    18.15733

                        /cut1     9.050384   4.316716                       .589777    17.51099

                                                                                               

             corruptpractices     -.174203   .5801518    -0.30   0.764     -1.31128    .9628736

              internalcontrol      .659407   .5074753     1.30   0.194    -.3352263     1.65404

          interimfinstatement     .1868673   .4270562     0.44   0.662    -.6501474    1.023882

              governingbodies     .1681061   .4706286     0.36   0.721    -.7543089    1.090521

                 techcapacity            0  (omitted)

               humanresources            0  (omitted)

                 techcapacity     .4873944   .4703957     1.04   0.300    -.4345643    1.409353

               humanresources    -.2079684   .4370703    -0.48   0.634     -1.06461    .6486737

            projectmanagement     .1662721   .4303946     0.39   0.699    -.6772859     1.00983

              centralentities    -.5456767   .4185016    -1.30   0.192    -1.365925    .2745714

               politicalclass     .5507287   .5091324     1.08   0.279    -.4471524     1.54861

communicationanddocumentation     .9404649   .5214946     1.80   0.071    -.0816458    1.962576

    multidimensionalreporting    -.6673475   .5258877    -1.27   0.204    -1.698068    .3633734

           cashaccbasedsystem     1.518249   .6742461     2.25   0.024     .1967508    2.839747

                                                                                               

            levelofdisclosure        Coef.   Std. Err.      z    P>|z|     [95% Conf. Interval]

                                                                                               

Log likelihood = -117.64709                     Pseudo R2         =     0.0685

                                                Prob > chi2       =     0.1384

                                                LR chi2(12)       =      17.31

Ordered logistic regression                     Number of obs     =         42

Iteration 4:   log likelihood = -117.64709  

Iteration 3:   log likelihood = -117.64709  

Iteration 2:   log likelihood = -117.64992  

Iteration 1:   log likelihood = -117.95948  

Iteration 0:   log likelihood =  -126.3002  

note: techcapacity omitted because of collinearity

note: humanresources omitted because of collinearity

> anagement humanresources techcapacity humanresources techcapacity governingbodies interimfinstatement internalcontrol corruptpractices

. ologit levelofdisclosure cashaccbasedsystem multidimensionalreporting communicationanddocumentation politicalclass centralentities projectm


[image: image23.emf]                                                                                               

                       /cut22     16.94063    4.58038                      7.963246    25.91801

                       /cut21     16.46402   4.547782                      7.550529    25.37751

                       /cut20     16.11554   4.527801                      7.241217    24.98987

                       /cut19     15.37683   4.487962                      6.580581    24.17307

                       /cut18     15.18245   4.477574                       6.40657    23.95834

                       /cut17     15.00295   4.466938                      6.247908    23.75798

                       /cut16     14.82921   4.453651                      6.100211     23.5582

                       /cut15     14.49065   4.422913                      5.821895     23.1594

                       /cut14     14.04674   4.382076                      5.458025    22.63545

                       /cut13     13.77547   4.356233                      5.237405    22.31353

                       /cut12     13.63076   4.339294                      5.125899    22.13562

                       /cut11     13.07176   4.281369                      4.680431    21.46309

                       /cut10     12.81707   4.263528                      4.460708    21.17343

                        /cut9     12.57809   4.252224                      4.243885     20.9123

                        /cut8     12.34121   4.244992                      4.021176    20.66124

                        /cut7       12.077   4.236188                      3.774225    20.37978

                        /cut6     11.43463   4.219581                      3.164407    19.70486

                        /cut5     11.25119   4.221328                       2.97754    19.52484

                        /cut4     10.57615   4.240645                      2.264634    18.88766

                        /cut3     10.24975   4.251893                      1.916189     18.5833

                        /cut2     9.794418   4.266869                      1.431508    18.15733

                        /cut1     9.050384   4.316716                       .589777    17.51099

                                                                                               

             corruptpractices     .8401263   .4874008    -0.30   0.764      .269475    2.619212

              internalcontrol     1.933645   .9812773     1.30   0.194     .7151762     5.22806

          interimfinstatement     1.205467   .5148023     0.44   0.662     .5219689    2.783981

                 techcapacity     1.628069   .7658365     1.04   0.300     .6475468    4.093306

              governingbodies     1.183062   .5567828     0.36   0.721     .4703355    2.975824

               humanresources     .8122327   .3550028    -0.48   0.634     .3448622    1.913002

            projectmanagement     1.180894   .5082506     0.39   0.699     .5079939    2.745134

              centralentities     .5794495   .2425006    -1.30   0.192     .2551446    1.315967

               politicalclass     1.734517   .8830985     1.08   0.279     .6394465    4.704925

communicationanddocumentation     2.561172   1.335637     1.80   0.071     .9215983    7.117636

    multidimensionalreporting     .5130677    .269816    -1.27   0.204     .1830367    1.438173

           cashaccbasedsystem     4.564225   3.077411     2.25   0.024     1.217441    17.11143

                                                                                               

            levelofdisclosure   Odds Ratio   Std. Err.      z    P>|z|     [95% Conf. Interval]

                                                                                               

Log likelihood = -117.64709                     Pseudo R2         =     0.0685

                                                Prob > chi2       =     0.1384

                                                LR chi2(12)       =      17.31

Ordered logistic regression                     Number of obs     =         42

Iteration 4:   log likelihood = -117.64709  

Iteration 3:   log likelihood = -117.64709  

Iteration 2:   log likelihood = -117.64992  

Iteration 1:   log likelihood = -117.95948  

Iteration 0:   log likelihood =  -126.3002  

> anagement humanresources governingbodies techcapacity interimfinstatement internalcontrol corruptpractices, or

. ologit levelofdisclosure cashaccbasedsystem multidimensionalreporting communicationanddocumentation politicalclass centralentities projectm


[image: image24.emf]                                                                                               

                       /cut26      17.6716   3.423254                      10.96215    24.38106

                       /cut25     16.93491   3.341871                      10.38496    23.48486

                       /cut24     16.47487    3.30314                      10.00083     22.9489

                       /cut23     15.48009   3.243613                      9.122725    21.83745

                       /cut22     14.92868   3.227908                        8.6021    21.25526

                       /cut21     14.41759   3.216946                       8.11249    20.72269

                       /cut20     13.99324   3.206268                      7.709069    20.27741

                       /cut19     13.62895   3.197383                      7.362198    19.89571

                       /cut18     13.15696   3.182742                        6.9189    19.39502

                       /cut17     12.72114   3.160641                      6.526401    18.91588

                       /cut16     12.47928   3.146396                      6.312454     18.6461

                       /cut15      12.3941   3.141209                      6.237444    18.55076

                       /cut14     12.21787   3.129325                      6.084511    18.35124

                       /cut13      11.8433   3.100286                      5.766852    17.91975

                       /cut12     11.53407   3.073721                       5.50969    17.55846

                       /cut11     10.76155   2.992914                      4.895548    16.62756

                       /cut10     10.60264    2.97326                      4.775158    16.43012

                        /cut9     10.44091   2.953301                      4.652544    16.22927

                        /cut8     9.940746   2.909231                      4.238758    15.64273

                        /cut7      9.77276   2.904598                      4.079852    15.46567

                        /cut6     9.409124    2.90522                      3.714997    15.10325

                        /cut5     9.193369   2.908805                      3.492216    14.89452

                        /cut4     8.935448   2.915671                      3.220838    14.65006

                        /cut3     8.606584   2.926789                      2.870183    14.34299

                        /cut2     8.140183   2.950227                      2.357845    13.92252

                        /cut1     7.307884   3.025643                      1.377733    13.23804

                                                                                               

             corruptpractices    -.3751305   .3623105    -1.04   0.300    -1.085246     .334985

                 techcapacity            0  (omitted)

              internalcontrol     .2389941   .3824786     0.62   0.532    -.5106501    .9886383

          interimfinstatement     .8186303   .3506972     2.33   0.020     .1312764    1.505984

              governingbodies     .2988232   .2779625     1.08   0.282    -.2459733    .8436196

                 techcapacity     .2772203   .3457591     0.80   0.423     -.400455    .9548956

               humanresources     .2141109   .3609936     0.59   0.553    -.4934236    .9216454

            projectmanagement     .3505977   .3174895     1.10   0.269    -.2716702    .9728657

              centralentities            0  (omitted)

               politicalclass            0  (omitted)

communicationanddocumentation            0  (omitted)

    multidimensionalreporting            0  (omitted)

              centralentities      .751789   .3582607     2.10   0.036     .0496109    1.453967

               politicalclass     .3852305   .3322141     1.16   0.246    -.2658972    1.036358

communicationanddocumentation    -.4663943   .3857184    -1.21   0.227    -1.222389       .2896

    multidimensionalreporting     .7916644   .3999865     1.98   0.048     .0077052    1.575624

           cashaccbasedsystem    -.2983818   .3107487    -0.96   0.337     -.907438    .3106745

                                                                                               

            levelofdisclosure        Coef.   Std. Err.      z    P>|z|     [95% Conf. Interval]

                                                                                               

Log likelihood = -203.77227                     Pseudo R2         =     0.0711

                                                Prob > chi2       =     0.0019

                                                LR chi2(12)       =      31.18

Ordered logistic regression                     Number of obs     =         72

Iteration 5:   log likelihood = -203.77227  

Iteration 4:   log likelihood = -203.77227  

Iteration 3:   log likelihood =  -203.7723  

Iteration 2:   log likelihood = -203.81393  

Iteration 1:   log likelihood = -206.41309  

Iteration 0:   log likelihood = -219.36028  

note: techcapacity omitted because of collinearity

note: centralentities omitted because of collinearity

note: politicalclass omitted because of collinearity

note: communicationanddocumentation omitted because of collinearity

note: multidimensionalreporting omitted because of collinearity

> es interimfinstatement internalcontrol techcapacity corruptpractices

> mensionalreporting communicationanddocumentation politicalclass centralentities projectmanagement humanresources techcapacity governingbodi

. ologit levelofdisclosure cashaccbasedsystem  multidimensionalreporting communicationanddocumentation politicalclass centralentities multidi


[image: image25.emf]                                                                                               

                       /cut26      17.6716   3.423254                      10.96215    24.38106

                       /cut25     16.93491   3.341871                      10.38496    23.48486

                       /cut24     16.47487    3.30314                      10.00083     22.9489

                       /cut23     15.48009   3.243613                      9.122725    21.83745

                       /cut22     14.92868   3.227908                        8.6021    21.25526

                       /cut21     14.41759   3.216946                       8.11249    20.72269

                       /cut20     13.99324   3.206268                      7.709069    20.27741

                       /cut19     13.62895   3.197383                      7.362198    19.89571

                       /cut18     13.15696   3.182742                        6.9189    19.39502

                       /cut17     12.72114   3.160641                      6.526401    18.91588

                       /cut16     12.47928   3.146396                      6.312454     18.6461

                       /cut15      12.3941   3.141209                      6.237444    18.55076

                       /cut14     12.21787   3.129325                      6.084511    18.35124

                       /cut13      11.8433   3.100286                      5.766852    17.91975

                       /cut12     11.53407   3.073721                       5.50969    17.55846

                       /cut11     10.76155   2.992914                      4.895548    16.62756

                       /cut10     10.60264    2.97326                      4.775158    16.43012

                        /cut9     10.44091   2.953301                      4.652544    16.22927

                        /cut8     9.940746   2.909231                      4.238758    15.64273

                        /cut7      9.77276   2.904598                      4.079852    15.46567

                        /cut6     9.409124    2.90522                      3.714997    15.10325

                        /cut5     9.193369   2.908805                      3.492216    14.89452

                        /cut4     8.935448   2.915671                      3.220838    14.65006

                        /cut3     8.606584   2.926789                      2.870183    14.34299

                        /cut2     8.140183   2.950227                      2.357845    13.92252

                        /cut1     7.307884   3.025643                      1.377733    13.23804

                                                                                               

             corruptpractices     .6871996   .2489796    -1.04   0.300     .3378187    1.397919

              internalcontrol     1.269971   .4857367     0.62   0.532     .6001053    2.687572

          interimfinstatement     2.267392   .7951681     2.33   0.020     1.140283    4.508589

              governingbodies     1.348271   .3747688     1.08   0.282     .7819431    2.324767

                 techcapacity     1.319457   .4562142     0.80   0.423     .6700151    2.598399

               humanresources      1.23876   .4471845     0.59   0.553     .6105326    2.513423

            projectmanagement     1.419916   .4508084     1.10   0.269     .7621055    2.645515

              centralentities     2.120791    .759796     2.10   0.036     1.050862     4.28006

               politicalclass     1.469953   .4883392     1.16   0.246     .7665179    2.818932

communicationanddocumentation     .6272599   .2419457    -1.21   0.227     .2945258    1.335893

    multidimensionalreporting     2.207067    .882797     1.98   0.048     1.007735    4.833755

           cashaccbasedsystem      .742018   .2305811    -0.96   0.337     .4035568    1.364345

                                                                                               

            levelofdisclosure   Odds Ratio   Std. Err.      z    P>|z|     [95% Conf. Interval]

                                                                                               

Log likelihood = -203.77227                     Pseudo R2         =     0.0711

                                                Prob > chi2       =     0.0019

                                                LR chi2(12)       =      31.18

Ordered logistic regression                     Number of obs     =         72

Iteration 5:   log likelihood = -203.77227  

Iteration 4:   log likelihood = -203.77227  

Iteration 3:   log likelihood =  -203.7723  

Iteration 2:   log likelihood = -203.81393  

Iteration 1:   log likelihood = -206.41309  

Iteration 0:   log likelihood = -219.36028  

> anagement humanresources techcapacity governingbodies interimfinstatement internalcontrol corruptpractices, or

. ologit levelofdisclosure cashaccbasedsystem multidimensionalreporting communicationanddocumentation politicalclass centralentities projectm


[image: image26.emf]                                                                                               

                       /cut24     13.81176   2.537188                      8.838967    18.78456

                       /cut23     13.08011   2.429696                      8.317993    17.84223

                       /cut22     12.30266   2.359141                      7.678826    16.92649

                       /cut21     12.03882   2.340539                      7.451448    16.62619

                       /cut20     11.47297   2.310257                      6.944953      16.001

                       /cut19     10.97477   2.292917                      6.480735    15.46881

                       /cut18     10.77713   2.287616                      6.293489    15.26078

                       /cut17     10.68531   2.285096                      6.206607    15.16402

                       /cut16     10.13043   2.265987                      5.689181    14.57168

                       /cut15     9.786057   2.250668                      5.374829    14.19729

                       /cut14     9.652754   2.243257                      5.256051    14.04946

                       /cut13     9.389435   2.226677                      5.025229    13.75364

                       /cut12     9.008243   2.199487                      4.697329    13.31916

                       /cut11     8.946643   2.195122                      4.644283      13.249

                       /cut10     8.653259   2.176982                      4.386452    12.92007

                        /cut9     8.273079   2.160865                      4.037862     12.5083

                        /cut8     8.112451   2.156759                       3.88528    12.33962

                        /cut7     7.650509   2.146448                      3.443548    11.85747

                        /cut6      7.25446   2.137484                      3.065068    11.44385

                        /cut5     6.793657   2.132384                      2.614262    10.97305

                        /cut4     6.190533   2.140153                      1.995911    10.38516

                        /cut3     5.562129   2.162452                      1.323801    9.800457

                        /cut2     4.607157   2.229859                      .2367137      8.9776

                        /cut1     3.893902   2.338018                     -.6885285    8.476333

                                                                                               

             corruptpractices     .4454346   .4095439     1.09   0.277    -.3572567    1.248126

              internalcontrol      .560052   .3979089     1.41   0.159    -.2198352    1.339939

          interimfinstatement      .255244   .3180712     0.80   0.422    -.3681641    .8786521

              governingbodies     .0411163   .2940646     0.14   0.889    -.5352398    .6174724

                 techcapacity    -.5290503   .3047342    -1.74   0.083    -1.126318    .0682178

               humanresources     .4121422   .3122752     1.32   0.187     -.199906     1.02419

            projectmanagement    -.4011464   .3857062    -1.04   0.298    -1.157117    .3548239

              centralentities      .501868   .3984124     1.26   0.208    -.2790059    1.282742

               politicalclass     .2672621   .3369493     0.79   0.428    -.3931464    .9276706

communicationanddocumentation     .0409683   .2778979     0.15   0.883    -.5037015    .5856382

    multidimensionalreporting     .1382299   .2798244     0.49   0.621     -.410216    .6866757

           cashaccbasedsystem     .3499789    .284311     1.23   0.218    -.2072603    .9072182

                                                                                               

            levelofdisclosure        Coef.   Std. Err.      z    P>|z|     [95% Conf. Interval]

                                                                                               

Log likelihood =  -257.8283                     Pseudo R2         =     0.0497

                                                Prob > chi2       =     0.0077

                                                LR chi2(12)       =      27.00

Ordered logistic regression                     Number of obs     =         90

Iteration 4:   log likelihood =  -257.8283  

Iteration 3:   log likelihood =  -257.8283  

Iteration 2:   log likelihood = -257.82917  

Iteration 1:   log likelihood = -258.12326  

Iteration 0:   log likelihood = -271.32606  

> anagement humanresources techcapacity governingbodies interimfinstatement internalcontrol corruptpractices

. ologit levelofdisclosure cashaccbasedsystem multidimensionalreporting communicationanddocumentation politicalclass centralentities projectm


[image: image27.emf]                                                                                               

                       /cut24     13.81176   2.537188                      8.838967    18.78456

                       /cut23     13.08011   2.429696                      8.317993    17.84223

                       /cut22     12.30266   2.359141                      7.678826    16.92649

                       /cut21     12.03882   2.340539                      7.451448    16.62619

                       /cut20     11.47297   2.310257                      6.944953      16.001

                       /cut19     10.97477   2.292917                      6.480735    15.46881

                       /cut18     10.77713   2.287616                      6.293489    15.26078

                       /cut17     10.68531   2.285096                      6.206607    15.16402

                       /cut16     10.13043   2.265987                      5.689181    14.57168

                       /cut15     9.786057   2.250668                      5.374829    14.19729

                       /cut14     9.652754   2.243257                      5.256051    14.04946

                       /cut13     9.389435   2.226677                      5.025229    13.75364

                       /cut12     9.008243   2.199487                      4.697329    13.31916

                       /cut11     8.946643   2.195122                      4.644283      13.249

                       /cut10     8.653259   2.176982                      4.386452    12.92007

                        /cut9     8.273079   2.160865                      4.037862     12.5083

                        /cut8     8.112451   2.156759                       3.88528    12.33962

                        /cut7     7.650509   2.146448                      3.443548    11.85747

                        /cut6      7.25446   2.137484                      3.065068    11.44385

                        /cut5     6.793657   2.132384                      2.614262    10.97305

                        /cut4     6.190533   2.140153                      1.995911    10.38516

                        /cut3     5.562129   2.162452                      1.323801    9.800457

                        /cut2     4.607157   2.229859                      .2367137      8.9776

                        /cut1     3.893902   2.338018                     -.6885285    8.476333
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communicationanddocumentation     1.041819   .2895193     0.15   0.883     .6042897    1.796137

    multidimensionalreporting     1.148239   .3213055     0.49   0.621     .6635069    1.987099
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            levelofdisclosure   Odds Ratio   Std. Err.      z    P>|z|     [95% Conf. Interval]

                                                                                               

Log likelihood =  -257.8283                     Pseudo R2         =     0.0497

                                                Prob > chi2       =     0.0077

                                                LR chi2(12)       =      27.00

Ordered logistic regression                     Number of obs     =         90

Iteration 4:   log likelihood =  -257.8283  

Iteration 3:   log likelihood =  -257.8283  

Iteration 2:   log likelihood = -257.82917  

Iteration 1:   log likelihood = -258.12326  

Iteration 0:   log likelihood = -271.32606  

> anagement humanresources techcapacity governingbodies interimfinstatement internalcontrol corruptpractices, or

. ologit levelofdisclosure cashaccbasedsystem multidimensionalreporting communicationanddocumentation politicalclass centralentities projectm


[image: image28.emf]                                                                                               
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                        /cut7     8.001682   1.370086                      5.316364      10.687

                        /cut6     7.742584   1.381495                      5.034903    10.45026

                        /cut5      7.39718   1.401645                      4.650005    10.14435

                        /cut4     7.168323   1.419002                      4.387131    9.949516

                        /cut3     6.875676   1.447826                      4.037989    9.713362

                        /cut2     6.467117   1.504327                      3.518689    9.415545

                        /cut1     5.770331   1.662313                      2.512257    9.028405
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communicationanddocumentation     .2056317   .1693167     1.21   0.225     -.126223    .5374864

    multidimensionalreporting     .2657141   .1539419     1.73   0.084    -.0360064    .5674347
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              leveldisclosure        Coef.   Std. Err.      z    P>|z|     [95% Conf. Interval]

                                                                                               

Log likelihood = -839.93593                     Pseudo R2         =     0.0586

                                                Prob > chi2       =     0.0000

                                                LR chi2(12)       =     104.55

Ordered logistic regression                     Number of obs     =        274

Iteration 4:   log likelihood = -839.93593  

Iteration 3:   log likelihood = -839.93593  

Iteration 2:   log likelihood = -839.94367  

Iteration 1:   log likelihood = -842.26341  

Iteration 0:   log likelihood = -892.21135  
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              leveldisclosure   Odds Ratio   Std. Err.      z    P>|z|     [95% Conf. Interval]

                                                                                               

Log likelihood = -839.93593                     Pseudo R2         =     0.0586

                                                Prob > chi2       =     0.0000

                                                LR chi2(12)       =     104.55

Ordered logistic regression                     Number of obs     =        274

Iteration 4:   log likelihood = -839.93593  

Iteration 3:   log likelihood = -839.93593  

Iteration 2:   log likelihood = -839.94367  

Iteration 1:   log likelihood = -842.26341  

Iteration 0:   log likelihood = -892.21135  


1. OBJECTIVE 4

	Paired Samples Statistics

	
	Mean
	N
	Std. Deviation
	Std. Error Mean

	Pair 1
	Pre(Aud
	.10
	101
	.300
	.030

	
	PosAud
	.91
	101
	.286
	.028

	Pair 2
	PreAcc
	.09
	101
	.286
	.028

	
	PosAcc
	.85
	101
	.357
	.036

	Pair 3
	PreFin
	.12
	101
	.325
	.032

	
	PosFin
	.89
	101
	.313
	.031

	Pair 4
	PreLirs
	.07
	101
	.255
	.025

	
	PosLirs
	.86
	101
	.347
	.035

	Pair 5
	PreOverall
	.38
	101
	.773
	.077

	
	PosOverall
	3.51
	101
	.867
	.086

	Paired Samples Correlations

	
	N
	Correlation
	Sig.

	Pair 1
	PreAud & PosAud
	101
	-.129
	.198

	Pair 2
	PreAcc & PosAcc
	101
	.131
	.193

	Pair 3
	PreFin & PosFin
	101
	.030
	.765

	Pair 4
	PreLirs & PosLirs
	101
	.109
	.276

	Pair 5
	PreOverall & PosOverall
	101
	.111
	.269

	Paired Samples Test

	
	Paired Differences
	t
	df
	Sig. (2-tailed)

	
	Mean
	Std. Deviation
	Std. Error Mean
	95% Confidence Interval of the Difference
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	Lower
	Upper
	
	
	

	Pair 1
	PreAud - PosAud
	-.812
	.441
	.044
	-.899
	-.725
	-18.512
	100
	.000

	Pair 2
	PreAcc - PosAcc
	-.762
	.428
	.043
	-.847
	-.678
	-17.912
	100
	.000

	Pair 3
	PreFin – PosFin
	-.772
	.445
	.044
	-.860
	-.685
	-17.459
	100
	.000

	Pair 4
	PreLirs - PosLirs
	-.792
	.408
	.041
	-.873
	-.712
	-19.518
	100
	.000

	Pair 5
	PreOverall – PosOverall
	-3.139
	1.096
	.109
	-3.355
	-2.922
	-28.787
	100
	.000
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 levelofquality        Coef.   Std. Err.      z    P>|z|     [95% Conf. Interval]

                                                                                 

Log likelihood = -891.24068                     Pseudo R2         =     0.0327

                                                Prob > chi2       =     0.0000

                                                LR chi2(1)        =      60.19

Ordered logistic regression                     Number of obs     =        291

Iteration 4:   log likelihood = -891.24068  

Iteration 3:   log likelihood = -891.24068  

Iteration 2:   log likelihood = -891.24273  

Iteration 1:   log likelihood = -891.92595  

Iteration 0:   log likelihood =  -921.3336  
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CHAPTER FIVE

SUMMARY, CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

5.1
Introduction

This chapter discussed the summary, conclusion and recommendations to the study. The chapter also highlighted suggestions for further studies and gave the contributions of the study to knowledge.  


5.2
Summary

This study evaluated the adoption of International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSASs) and quality of financial reporting in Lagos State.  The study explored possible strategies for fast tracking the implementation of IPSASs in Lagos State and in Nigeria at large.  There were one dependent variable and one independent variable for the study.  Four research questions were asked to guide the study and two hypotheses were formulated and tested.

In order to gain more knowledge about the study, literature on the related studies was reviewed.  It was found that further developments are needed to be done, in line to characterize the nation’s whole regulations harmony with IPSASs.  It also informed the need to reform the government accounting system through the adoption of an accrual accounting based on IPSASs and further issues to consider in the transition towards successful full adoption of IPSASs.  Furthermore, the movement in the accounting systems from cash to an accrual basis is usually an element of a broader set of reforms in terms of reporting and performance measurement.  The World Bank, the United Nation Development Programme (UNDP), the International Monetary Fund (IMF) and the Asian Development Bank have been supporting IPSASs process.

The study is a mix of both descriptive and inferential statistics to aid easy understanding of the work.  The study focused on public sector accountants and auditors.  As a result, samples for the study were selected from ministry and department in Lagos State namely, auditor general’s office, accountant general’s office, ministry of finance and Lagos Internal Revenue Service (LIRS). Data were collected with the use of questionnaire on the adoption of IPSAS and quality of financial reporting and IPSASs adoption/disclosure checklist.  Results of the findings were analyzed using percentages, ordinal logistic regression and paired sampled t-test.  

Findings revealed that to a very great extent, the provisions of IPSASs were being adopted, complied with and disclosed by ministry and department, in Lagos State.  The report from this hypothesis revealed that percentages of respondents that strongly agreed and also agreed to the high level of adoption of IPSASs in Lagos State were at least 80% of the total number of all the respondents. The remaining 20% of the respondents were undecided, disagreed or strongly disagreed. 

Also, hypothesis two reported that out of the challenges examined by the study, the cost of adoption and IPSASs complexity of financial reporting were the most pressing variables that the respondents perceived as challenges facing the adoption of IPSASs.  A higher percentage of respondents (57.7%) agreed and strongly agreed that high cost incurred on the implementation is a major challenge facing the adoption of IPSASs. This could be said to be true particularly if the cost to be incurred by the implementation of IPSASs outweighs the benefits to be derived from it. Also, about 51.7% of the respondents agreed and strongly agreed that IPSASs increased the complexity of financial reporting.  This could also be said to be true if financial reporting entails more requirements to be followed than it is in cash accounting system

Moreover, hypothesis three showed that only acceptable Cash Accounting Based System (CABS), Interim Financial Statement Report (IFSR) and Continuous Testing of Internal Controls (CTIC) are significant determinants in explaining the determinants of the level of adoption of IPSASs.  Interestingly, an increase in these variables raises the odds likelihood of higher adoption of IPSASs.  As for some of the insignificant variables, an increase in some of the variables will raise the likelihood of higher adoption of IPSASs while an increase in other variables shows that there is the likelihood that the level of the adoption of IPSASs will reduce.

Furthermore, the results from hypothesis four depicted that there was a significant influence of adoption of IPSASs on quality of financial reporting using both paired sample t-test and ordinal logistic regression analysis. The included variables were jointly significant.  Therefore, it can be concluded that the adoption of IPSASs has contributed to the increase in the quality of financial reporting in the public sector in Lagos State.

5.3
Conclusion


International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSASs) are set of accounting standards issued by IPSASB for government accounting in response to calls for greater quality financial reporting. Since IPSASs are recognized and accepted from international bodies; countries are advised to adopt and harmonize their national accounting standards in line with international best practices, however, IPSASs deserves the attention of government regulators, policy-makers, practitioners and academic alike (kanellos & Evangelos, 2003).

This study has established that the adoption of International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSASs) had positive significant effect on the quality of financial reporting in Lagos State.  From this study, it was found that to a great extent the provisions of IPSASs were being adopted.  The cost of implementing IPSASs was perceived as the most pressing challenge facing the adoption of IPSASs.  Also, the study revealed that there was positive significant association between the level of adoption of IPSASs and determinant of level of adoption of IPSASs.  Lastly, it was revealed that the adoption of IPSASs had contributed to the increase in the quality of financial reporting.  Therefore, from the findings of the study, Governments which have undertaken to implement accrual accounting should endeavor to consider all these conditions carefully towards implementing IPSASs.

5.4
Recommendations


From the study, it was discovered that a lot has to be done towards facilitating implementation of IPSASs by the State Governments in Nigeria at large.  Therefore, Governments should endeavor to give the MDAs necessary support towards implementing IPSASs in their States.  In this regard, the Governments should;

1
Provide adequate financial resources devoted to implementation of IPSASs adoption and awareness activities.  Most other countries have adopted IPSASs in conjunction with a wider public financial management improvement programme, which requires additional investment. 

2
There is need for governments to provide in-depth training for accountants and auditors on the implementation of IPSASs.  Also, adequate provision in terms of information system needed to facilitate smooth running of the adoption of IPSASs should be provided.
3
Regulatory authorities should put adequate measures in place to ensure compliance from the people saddled with the responsibility to prepare and present public sector financial statement. Also, measures should be taken to enhance the quality disclosure of relevant financial reporting information that will help users take useful economic decisions.
4
The governments should endeavour to provide up-to-date financial reports.  This thereby ensures available and adequate financial reporting for enhancing effective qualify financial reporting.  

5
Lagos State Government should also endeavour to fully implement IPSASs in the preparation and presentation of their financial report.
5.5
Contribution to Knowledge

The study was able to provide information on the level of adoption of IPSASs in Lagos State and major factors influencing its adoption.  Also, the study identified major challenges confronting the adoption of IPSASs in Lagos State.  Finally, influence of adoption of IPSASs on the quality of financial reporting in the public sector in Lagos State was clearly identified.   
5.6
Limitation and Suggestion for Further Study

The study was conducted in only one state of the federation (Lagos State). Further study can include other States that comply with the adoption of IPSASs.  
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APPENDIX 1: QUESTIONNAIRE
DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL AND MANAGEMENT SCIENCES

BOWEN UNIVERSITY, IWO, OSUN STATE

Dear Sir/Ma,

I am a post graduate student in the department of Social and Management Sciences, conducting a research on the topic, “The Adoption of International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSASs) and Quality of Financial Reporting in Lagos State” in fulfillment of one of the requirements for the award of PhD degree in accounting.  This questionnaire has been designed mainly for collecting relevant information from public sector accountants and auditors.  The information required is purely for academic and research purposes and your response will be treated with utmost confidentiality it deserves.  Please respond to the items in the questionnaire honestly.

Thank you for your cooperation.

Yours faithfully,

Ifeoluwapo Adebimpe OYEWOBI

QUESTIONNAIRE

Questionnaire on the Adoption of International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSASs) and Quality of Financial Reporting in Lagos State

PART A

DEMOGRAPHIC BACKGROUND INFORMATION
Please kindly tick (() as appropriate

1. Gender:  Male(  )
Female(  )

2. Age at last birthday __________________________

3. Academic Qualifications: NCE ( ), OND ( ), HND ( ), B.Sc. ( ), M.Sc. ( ) others ( ).              Please specify_______________________________________

4. Professional Qualifications: ACCA (  ), ICAN (  ), ANAN (  ) Others (  ).

Please specify__________________________________

5. Years of experience in public sector: 1-5yrs ( ), 6-10yrs ( ), 11-15yrs ( ), 16yrs and above ( )

6. Years of experience as accountant/auditor 1-5yrs ( ), 6-10yrs ( ), 11-15yrs ( ), 16yrs and         above ( )

7. Years of Experience on the Present Job: 1-5yrs (   ), 6-10yrs (   ), 11-15yrs (   ), 16yrs and    above (   )

8. Job Title: Accountant (   ) Auditor (   ) 

PART B

ACHEIVEMENT OF STATED OBJECTIVES

SECTION I: Ascertaining the level of adoption of IPSASs in the public sector in Lagos State

Please kindly tick (() the level at which you agree with the level of compliance with IPSASs by your department/ministry.

Key to response: 5 = Strongly Agree (SA); 4= Agree (A); 3= Undecided (UN); 2= Disagree (D); 1= Strongly Disagree (SD).

	S/N
	STATEMENTS
	SA
	A
	UD
	D
	SD

	1.
	The department/ministry disclosed that the financial statements comply with IPSASs.
	
	
	
	
	

	2.
	The department/ministry disclosed through notes to the accounts its accounting policies.
	
	
	
	
	

	3.
	Net exchange differences at the beginning and end of the period was disclosed by the department/ministry
	
	
	
	
	

	4.
	The accounting policy adopted for borrowing costs was disclosed by the department/ministry. 
	
	
	
	
	

	5.
	The department/ministry disclosed the requirements for preparing and presenting consolidated financial statements.
	
	
	
	
	

	6.
	The department/ministry disclosed the amount of each significant category of revenue recognized during the period.
	
	
	
	
	

	7.
	The amount of inventories-down that is recognized as expenses during the period was disclosed by the department/ministry.
	
	
	
	
	

	8.
	The department/ministry disclosed non-adjusting events and adjusting events, stating its nature and financial effects.
	
	
	
	
	

	9.
	The department/ministry disclosed whether the fair value or the cost model is used.
	
	
	
	
	

	10.
	The exercise and amount of property, plant equipment whose title was restricted and pledged as security for liabilities was disclosed by the department/ministry  
	
	
	
	
	

	11.
	The department/ministry disclosed the accounting policies for provisions, contingent liability and contingent assets.
	
	
	
	
	

	12.
	The department/ministry disclosed the policies adopted for impairment losses in the income statement for classes of assets.
	
	
	
	
	

	13.
	Requirements for governments which elect to present information about the general government section were disclosed by the department/ministry. 
	
	
	
	
	

	14.
	The department/ministry disclosed the amount from non-exchange transactions (taxes and transfers).
	
	
	
	
	

	15.
	The department/ministry complied with the approved budget for which they are held publicly accountable.
	
	
	
	
	

	16.
	The department/ministry adopted the accounting treatment and disclosure for agricultural activities.
	
	
	
	
	

	17.
	The department/ministry clarified the classification of the instruments issued by the entity as a liability or as equity.
	
	
	
	
	

	18.
	The department/ministry disclosed the principles used for recognizing, derecognizing and measuring financial assets and financial liabilities.
	
	
	
	
	

	19.
	The department/ministry disclosed the carrying amounts of its financial assets and liabilities.
	
	
	
	
	

	20.
	Information about service concession arrangements was disclosed by the department/ministry.
	
	
	
	
	

	21.
	The department/ministry disclosed in the consolidated financial statements the list of all ministries’ and departments’ reports.
	
	
	
	
	

	22.
	The accruable employee benefits were disclosed by the department/ministry in the general purpose financial statements
	
	
	
	
	


SECTION II: Identifying the challenges faced on the adoption of IPSASs in the public sector in Lagos State

Key to response: 5 = Strongly Agree (SA); 4= Agree (A); 3= Undecided (UN); 2= Disagree (D); 1= Strongly Disagree (SD).

	S/N
	STATEMENTS
	SA 
	A 
	UD 
	D  
	SD 

	1.
	The implementation of IPSASs was too costly.
	
	
	
	
	

	2.
	IPSASs increased the complexity of financial reporting. 
	
	
	
	
	

	3.
	There was low number of skilled and competent manpower.
	
	
	
	
	

	4.
	There was lack of competent specialists on IPSASs.
	
	
	
	
	

	5.
	There was lack of IPSASs implementation guidelines.
	
	
	
	
	

	6.
	There was resistance to implementation and boredom at work.
	
	
	
	
	

	7.
	There was need for re-training on the adoption of IPSASs.
	
	
	
	
	

	8.
	There was complexity of software system.
	
	
	
	
	

	9.
	There was lack of proper instructions from the regulatory bodies.
	
	
	
	
	

	10.
	There was lack of organizational structure proportional to change.
	
	
	
	
	

	11.
	There was people’s dissatisfaction due to high work load, low salary and job security.
	
	
	
	
	

	12.
	IPSAS increase neglect of system capability and accountability.
	
	
	
	
	

	13.
	The adoption of IPSASs brought about ambiguous stance on the basis of accounting.
	
	
	
	
	

	14.
	There was lack of enlightenment and sensitization of political leaders on the adoption of IPSASs.
	
	
	
	
	

	15.
	There was unawareness of the benefits of the new financial system.
	
	
	
	
	


SECTION III: Investigating the determinants of the level of adoption of IPSASs in the public sector in Lagos State
Key to response: 5 = Strongly Agree (SA); 4= Agree (A); 3= Undecided (UN); 2= Disagree (D); 1= Strongly Disagree (SD).

	S/N
	STATEMENTS
	SA 
	A 
	UD 
	D
	SD

	1.
	There is acceptable cash accounting based system in place before migrating to accrual basis (CABS).
	
	
	
	
	

	2.
	Adequate multi-dimensional reporting requirements of accrual based IPSASs is available (MDRR). 
	
	
	
	
	

	3.
	There is awareness on the transition to IPSASs through all available means of communication, training and documentation (AOT). 
	
	
	
	
	

	4.
	There is total support and commitment from the political class (TSU).
	
	
	
	
	

	5.
	There is commitment of central entities and key officials with required technical skills such as accounting and information technology (CCEK).
	
	
	
	
	

	6.
	An effective project management structure for IPSASs implementation in accordance with IPSASs objectives is in place (EPMS).
	
	
	
	
	

	7.
	Budget for additional human resources to ensure effective implementation of IPSASs and adequate capacity to maintain future IPSASs compliance is available (BAHR).
	
	
	
	
	

	8.
	There is adequate technology capacity and information system aiding implementation of IPSASs (TCIS).
	
	
	
	
	


	9.
	There is regular update of the governing bodies on the progress made in the implementation of IPSASs in Lagos state (UGBP).
	
	
	
	
	

	10.
	Interim financial statements for review by external auditor(s) well ahead of final implementation date were prepared (IFSR).
	
	
	
	
	

	11.
	There is continuous testing of internal controls to ensure the accuracy of the data (CTIC). 
	
	
	
	
	

	12.
	There is prevention of corrupt practices such as bribery, embezzlement of fund and money laundering (PCP). 
	
	
	
	
	


SECTION IV: Examining the influence of IPSASs on the quality of financial reporting in the public sector in Lagos State 

Key to response: 5 = Strongly Agree (SA); 4= Agree (A); 3= Undecided (UN); 2= Disagree (D); 1= Strongly Disagree (SD).

The financial reports prepared in line with the provisions of IPSASs have been able to do the following.

	S/N
	STATEMENTS
	SA 
	A 
	UD 
	D 
	SD

	1.
	Provide better information for decision making.
	
	
	
	
	

	2.
	Ascertain legitimacy of transactions and their compliance with the established norms, regulations and statutes.
	
	
	
	
	

	3.
	Provide evidence of stewardship. 
	
	
	
	
	

	4.
	Assist planning and controlling.
	
	
	
	
	

	5.
	Assist objective and timely reporting.
	
	
	
	
	

	6.
	Enable stakeholders to have more confidence in the information presented in the financial reports.
	
	
	
	
	

	7.
	Communicate value relevance to beneficiaries of financial reports.
	
	
	
	
	

	8.
	Follow double entry principles in account preparation.
	
	
	
	
	

	9.
	Take cognizance of all accounting concepts and conventions.
	
	
	
	
	

	10.
	Ensure transparency and accountability in the preparation of financial statements.
	
	
	
	
	

	11.
	Enhance comparability of financial statements.
	
	
	
	
	

	12.
	Increase chances of direct foreign investments. 
	
	
	
	
	

	13.
	Increase local investors’ reliance on the financial statements. 
	
	
	
	
	

	14.
	Enhance more access to foreign soft loans. 
	
	
	
	
	

	15.
	Increase grants from foreign donors.
	
	
	
	
	

	16.
	More access to foreign capital and financial developmental partnership.
	
	
	
	
	

	17.
	Engender overall full representation of financial reports.
	
	
	
	
	

	18.
	Enhance public-private partnership arrangements.
	
	
	
	
	

	19.
	Enhance implementation of freedom of information (FOI).
	
	
	
	
	


APPENDIX 2: COMPLIANCE/DISCLOSURE CHECKLIST QUESTIONNAIRE

Lagos State…………………………………………………………

Year-end……….……………………………………………………………………...

	IPSAS
	Pronouncement
	Disclosed
	Not

Disclosed

	IPSAS 1
	Presentation of Financial Statements
	
	

	IPSAS 2
	Cash Flow Statements
	
	

	IPSAS 3
	Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors
	
	

	IPSAS 4
	The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates
	
	

	IPSAS 5
	Borrowing Costs
	
	

	IPSAS 6
	Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
	
	

	IPSAS 7
	Investments in Associates
	
	

	IPSAS 8
	Interests in Joint Ventures
	
	

	IPSAS 9
	Revenue from Exchange Transactions
	
	

	IPSAS 10
	Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies
	
	

	IPSAS 11
	Construction Contracts
	
	

	IPSAS 12
	Inventories
	
	

	IPSAS 13
	Leases
	
	

	IPSAS 14
	Events After the Reporting Date
	
	

	IPSAS 15
	Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation — superseded by IPSAS 28 and IPSAS 30
	
	

	IPSAS 16
	Investment Property
	
	

	IPSAS 17
	Property, Plant and Equipment
	
	

	IPSAS 18
	Segment Reporting
	
	

	IPSAS 19
	Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 
	
	

	IPSAS 20
	Related Party Disclosure
	
	

	IPSAS 21
	Impairment of Non-Cash-Generating Assets
	
	

	IPSAS 22
	Disclosure of Financial Information About the General Government Sector
	
	

	IPSAS 23
	Revenue from Non-Exchange Transactions (Taxes and Transfers)
	
	

	IPSAS 24
	Presentation of Budget Information in Financial Statements
	
	

	IPSAS 25
	Employee Benefits — superseded by IPSAS 39
	
	

	IPSAS 26
	Impairment of Cash-Generating Assets
	
	

	IPSAS 27
	Agriculture
	
	

	IPSAS 28
	Financial Instruments: Presentation
	
	

	IPSAS 29
	Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
	
	

	IPSAS 30
	Financial Instruments: Disclosures
	
	

	IPSAS 31
	Intangible Assets
	
	

	IPSAS 32
	Service Concession Arrangements: Grantor
	
	

	IPSAS 33
	First-time Adoption of Accrual Basis IPSASs
	
	

	IPSAS 34
	Separate Financial Statements
	
	

	IPSAS 35
	Consolidated Financial Statements
	
	

	IPSAS 36
	Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures
	
	

	IPSAS 37
	Joint Arrangements
	
	

	IPSAS 38
	Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
	
	

	IPSAS 39
	Employee Benefits
	
	

	IPSAS 40
	Public Sector Combinations
	
	

	
	Total
	
	


Source:  IPSAS in your pocket, 2017
APPENDIX 3: International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSASs)

	IPSAS
	Pronouncement
	Based on

	IPSAS 1
	Presentation of Financial Statements
	IAS 1

	IPSAS 2
	Cash Flow Statements
	IAS 7

	IPSAS 3
	Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors
	IAS 8

	IPSAS 4
	The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates
	IAS 21

	IPSAS 5
	Borrowing Costs
	IAS 23

	IPSAS 6
	Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
	IAS 27

	IPSAS 7
	Investments in Associates
	IAS 28

	IPSAS 8
	Interests in Joint Ventures
	IAS 31

	IPSAS 9
	Revenue from Exchange Transactions
	IAS 18

	IPSAS 10
	Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies
	IAS 29

	IPSAS 11
	Construction Contracts
	IAS 11

	IPSAS 12
	Inventories
	IAS 2

	IPSAS 13
	Leases
	IAS 17

	IPSAS 14
	Events After the Reporting Date
	IAS 10

	IPSAS 15
	Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation — superseded by IPSAS 28 and IPSAS 30
	

	IPSAS 16
	Investment Property
	IAS 40

	IPSAS 17
	Property, Plant and Equipment
	IAS 16

	IPSAS 18
	Segment Reporting
	IAS 14

	IPSAS 19
IPSAS 20
	Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets

Related Party Disclosures
	IAS 37

IAS 24

	IPSAS 21
IPSAS 22
	Impairment of Non-Cash-Generating Assets

Disclosure of Financial Information About the General Government Sector
	IAS 36

N/A



	IPSAS 23
	Revenue from Non-Exchange Transactions (Taxes and Transfers)
	N/A

	IPSAS 24
	Presentation of Budget Information in Financial Statements
	N/A

	IPSAS 25
	Employee Benefits — superseded by IPSAS 39
	

	IPSAS 26
	Impairment of Cash-Generating Assets
	IAS 36

	IPSAS 27
	Agriculture
	IAS 41

	IPSAS 28
	Financial Instruments: Presentation
	IAS 32

	IPSAS 29
	Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
	IAS 39

	IPSAS 30
	Financial Instruments: Disclosures
	IFRS 7

	IPSAS 31
	Intangible Assets
	IAS 38

	IPSAS 32
	Service Concession Arrangements: Grantor
	IFRIC 12

	IPSAS 33
	First-time Adoption of Accrual Basis IPSASs
	N/A

	IPSAS 34
	Separate Financial Statements
	IAS 27

	IPSAS 35
	Consolidated Financial Statements
	IFRS 10

	IPSAS 36
	Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures
	IAS 28

	IPSAS 37
	Joint Arrangements
	IFRS 11

	IPSAS 38
	Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
	IFRS 12

	IPSAS 39
	Employee Benefits
	IAS 19

	IPSAS 40
	Public Sector Combinations
	IFRS 3

	RPG 1
RPG 2
	Reporting on the Long-Term Sustainability of an Entity’s Finances

Financial Statement Discussion and Analysis
	N/A

N/A

	RPG 3
	Reporting Service Performance Information
	N/A

	
	The Conceptual Framework for General Purpose Financial Reporting by Public Sector Entities
	N   N/A

	
	Financial Reporting under the Cash-Basis of Accounting
	  N/A


IPSAS Summary as at January 1, 2017.

PSAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements
Effective date
Annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2008.

Objective
To set out the manner in which general-purpose financial statements shall be prepared under the accrual basis of accounting, including guidance for their structure and the minimum requirements for content.

Summary
Fundamental principles underlying the preparation of financial statements, including going-concern assumption, consistency of presentation and classification, accrual basis of accounting, and aggregation and materiality. 

A complete set of financial statements comprises: 

Statement of financial position 

Statement of financial performance 

Statement of changes in net assets/equity 

Cash flow statement 
When the entity makes it approved budget publicly available, a comparison of budget and accrual amounts 

Notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes 

An entity whose financial statements comply with IPSAS shall make an explicit and unreserved statement of such compliance in the notes. Financial statements shall not be described as complying with IPSAS unless they comply with all the requirements of IPSAS. 

Assets and liabilities, and revenue and expenses, may not be offset unless offsetting is permitted or required by another IPSAS. 

Comparative prior-period information shall be presented for all amounts shown in the financial statements and notes. Comparative information shall be included when it is relevant to an understanding of the current period’s financial statements. In the case presentation or classification is amended, comparative amounts shall be reclassified, and the nature, amount of, and reason for any reclassification shall be disclosed. 

The statement of changes in net assets/equity shows all changes in net assets/equity. 

Financial statements generally to be prepared annually. If the date of the year-end changes, and financial statements are presented for a period other than one year, disclosure thereof is required. 

Current/noncurrent distinction for assets and liabilities is normally required. In general, subsequent events are not considered in classifying items as current or noncurrent. An entity shall disclose for each asset and liability item that combines amounts expected to be recovered or settled both before and after 12 months from the reporting date, the amount to be recovered or settled after more than 12 months. 

IPSAS 1 specifies minimum line items to be presented on the face of the statement of financial position, statement of financial performance, and statement of changes in net assets/equity, and includes guidance for identifying additional line items, headings, and subtotals. 

Analysis of expenses in the statement of financial performance may be given by nature or by function. If presented by function, classification of expenses by nature shall be provided additionally. 

IPSAS 1 specifies minimum disclosure requirements for the notes. These shall include information about: 

Accounting policies followed 

The judgments that management has made in the process of applying the entity’s accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the financial statements 

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year 

The domicile and legal form of the entity 

A description of the nature of the entity’s operations 

A reference to the relevant legislation 

The name of the controlling entity and the ultimate controlling entity of the economic entity 

An appendix to IPSAS 1 provides illustrative statements of financial position, statements of financial performance, and statements of changes in net assets/equity. 

IPSAS 2 Cash Flow Statements
Effective date
Periods beginning on or after July 1, 2001.

Objective
To require the presentation of information about historical changes in a public sector entity’s cash and cash equivalents by means of a cash flow statement that classifies cash flows during the period according to operating, investing, and financing activities.

Summary
A cash flow statement must analyze changes in cash and cash equivalents during a period, classified by 

Cash equivalents include investments that are short term (less than three months from the date of acquisition), readily convertible to known amounts of cash, and subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Generally, they exclude equity investments. 

Cash flows for operating activities are reported using either the direct (recommended) or the indirect method. 

Public sector entities reporting cash flows from operating activities using the direct method are encouraged to provide a reconciliation of the surplus/deficit from ordinary activities with the net cash flow from operating activities. 

Cash flows from interest and dividends received and paid shall each be disclosed separately and classified as either operating, investing, or financing activities. 

Cash flows arising from taxes on net surplus are classified as operating unless they can be specifically identified with financing or investing activities. 

The exchange rate used for translation of cash flows arising from transactions denominated in a foreign currency shall be the rate in effect at the date of the cash flows. 

Aggregate cash flows related to acquisitions and disposals of controlled entities and other operating units shall be presented separately and classified as investing activities, with specified additional disclosures. 

Investing and financing transactions that do not require the use of cash shall be excluded from the cash flow statement, but they shall be separately disclosed. 

Illustrative cash flow statements are included in appendices to IPSAS 2. 

IPSAS 3 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors
Effective date
Annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2008.

Objective
To prescribe the criteria for selecting and changing accounting policies, together with the accounting treatment and disclosure of changes in accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates, and corrections of errors.

Summary
In the absence of an IPSAS that specifically applies to a transaction, other event or condition, management shall use judgment in developing and applying an accounting policy that results in information that is: 

Relevant to the decision-making needs of users 

Reliable, in that the financial statements: 

Represent faithfully the financial position, financial performance, and cash flows of the entity 

Reflect the economic substance of transactions, other events and conditions, and not merely the legal form 

Are neutral, i.e., free from bias 

Are prudent 

Are complete in all material aspects 

IPSAS 3 prescribes a hierarchy for choosing accounting policies: 

IPSAS, taking into account any relevant implementation guidance. 

In the absence of a directly applicable IPSAS, look at the requirements and guidance in IPSAS dealing with similar and related issues; and the definitions, recognition, and measurement criteria for assets, liabilities, revenue, and expenses described in other IPSASs. 

Management may also consider the most recent pronouncements of other standard-setting bodies and accepted public and private sector practices. 

Apply accounting policies consistently to similar transactions. 

Make a change in accounting policy only if it is required by an IPSAS, or it results in reliable and more relevant information. 

If a change in accounting policy is required by an IPSAS, follow that pronouncement’s transition requirements. If none are specified, or if the change is voluntary, apply the new accounting policy retrospectively by restating prior periods. If restatement is impracticable, include the cumulative effect of the change in net assets/equity. If the cumulative effect cannot be determined, apply the new policy prospectively. 

Changes in accounting estimates (for example, change in useful life of an asset) are accounted for in the current period, or the current and future periods (no restatement). 

In the situation a distinction between a change in accounting policy and a change in accounting estimate is unclear, the change is treated as a change in an accounting estimate. 

All material prior-period errors shall be corrected retrospectively in the first set of financial statements authorized for issue after their discovery, by restating comparative prior-period amounts or, if the error occurred before the earliest period presented, by restating the opening statement of financial position. 
IPSAS 4 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates
Effective date
Annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2010.

Objective
To prescribe the accounting treatment for an entity’s foreign currency transactions and foreign operations.

Summary
First, determine the reporting entity’s functional currency — the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates. 

Next, translate all foreign 

At the date of transaction, record using the spot exchange rate for initial recognition and measurement. 

At subsequent reporting dates: 

Use closing rate for monetary items 

Use transaction-date exchange rates for nonmonetary items carried at historical cost 

Use valuation-date exchange rates for nonmonetary items that are carried at fair value 

Exchange differences arising on settlement of monetary items and on translation of monetary items at a rate different from when initially recognized are included in surplus or deficit, with one exception: exchange differences arising from monetary items that form part of the reporting entity’s net investment in a foreign operation are recognized in the consolidated financial statements that include the foreign operation in a separate component of net assets/equity; these differences will be recognized in the surplus or deficit on disposal of the net investment. 

The results and financial position of an entity’s foreign operations whose functional currency is not the currency of a hyperinflationary economy are translated into a different presentation currency using the following procedures: 

Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented (including comparatives) are translated at the closing rate at the date of that statement of financial position. 

Revenue and expenses of each statement of financial performance (including comparatives) are translated at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. 

All resulting exchange differences are recognized as a separate component of net assets/equity. 

Special rules apply for translating into a presentation currency the financial performance and financial position of an entity whose functional currency is hyperinflationary. 

IPSAS 6 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
Effective date
Annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2008. IPSASs 34-38 (Interests in Other Entities) are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017, replacing IPSASs 6-8. Earlier application permitted.

Objective
To prescribe requirements for preparing and presenting consolidated financial statements for an economic entity under the accrual basis of accounting. To prescribe how to account for investments in controlled entities, jointly controlled entities, and associates in separate financial statements.

Summary
A controlled entity is an entity controlled by another entity, known as the controlling entity. Control is the power to govern the operating and financial policies. Consolidated financial statements are financial statements of an economic entity (controlling entity and controlled entities combined) presented as those of a single entity. 

Consolidated financial statements shall include all controlled entities, except when there is evidence that: 

Control is intended to be temporary because the controlled entity is acquired and held exclusively with a view to its subsequent disposal within 12 months from acquisition 

Management is actively seeking a buyer 

No exemption for controlled entity that operates under severe long-term funds transfer restrictions. A controlled entity is not excluded from consolidation because its activities are dissimilar to those of the other activities within the economic entity.

Balances, transactions, revenue, and expenses between entities within the economic entity are eliminated in full. 

Consolidated financial statements shall be prepared using uniform accounting policies for like transactions and other events in similar circumstances. 

Reporting dates of controlled entities cannot be more than three months different from reporting date of the controlling entity. 

Minority interest is reported in net assets/equity in the consolidated statement of financial position, separately from the controlling entity’s net assets/equity, and is not deducted in measuring the economic entity’s revenue or expense. However, surplus or deficit of the economic entity is allocated between minority and majority interest on the face of the statement of financial performance. 

In the controlling entity’s separate financial statements: Account for all of its investments in controlling entities, associates, and joint ventures either using the equity method, at cost or as financial instruments. 

IPSAS 7 Investments in Associates
Effective date
Annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2008. IPSASs 34-38 (Interests in Other Entities) are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017, replacing IPSASs 6-8. Earlier application permitted.

Objective
To prescribe the investor’s accounting for investments in associates where the investment in the associate leads to the holding of an ownership interest in the form of a shareholding or other formal equity structure.

Summary
Applies to all investments in which an investor has significant influence unless the investor is: 

A venture capital organization 

A mutual fund or unit trust or a similar entity, such as an investment-linked insurance fund 

That is measured at fair value, with changes in fair value recognized in surplus or deficit in the period of the change, in accordance with the relevant international or national accounting standard dealing with the recognition and measurement of financial instruments 

When there is evidence that the investment is acquired and held exclusively with a view to its disposal within 12 months from acquisition and that management is actively seeking a buyer, the investment shall be classified as held for trading and accounted for in accordance with the relevant international or national accounting standard dealing with the recognition and measurement of financial instruments. 

Otherwise, the equity method is used for all investments in associates over which the entity has significant influence. 

Rebuttable presumption of significant influence if investment held, directly or indirectly, is 20% or more of the voting power of the associate. 

Under the equity method, the investment is initially recorded at cost. It is subsequently adjusted by the investor’s share of the investee’s post acquisition change in net assets/equity. Investor’s statement of financial performance reflects its share of the investee’s post acquisition surplus or deficit. 

The investor’s financial statements shall be prepared using uniform accounting policies for like transactions and events in similar circumstances. 

Reporting dates of associates cannot be more than three months different from the investor’s reporting date. 

Even if consolidated accounts are not prepared, for example, because the investor has no controlled entities, equity accounting is required If application of the requirements in the relevant international or national accounting standard dealing with the recognition and measurement of financial instruments indicates that the investment may be impaired, an entity applies IPSAS 21. 

IPSAS 8 Interests in Joint Ventures
Effective date
Annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2008. IPSASs 34-38 (Interests in Other Entities) are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017, replacing IPSASs 6-8. Earlier application permitted.

Objective
To prescribe the accounting treatment required for interests in joint ventures, regardless of the structures or legal forms of the joint venture activities.

Summary
1 Applies to all investments in which the investor has joint control, unless the investor is: 

A venture capital organization 

A mutual fund or unit trust or a similar entity, such as an investment-linked insurance fund that is measured at fair value, with changes in fair value recognized in surplus or deficit in the period of the change, in accordance with the relevant international or national accounting standard dealing with the recognition and measurement of financial instruments 

The key characteristic of a joint venture is a binding arrangement whereby two or more parties are committed to undertake an activity that is subject to joint control. Joint ventures may be classified as jointly controlled operations, jointly controlled assets, and jointly controlled entities. Different accounting treatments apply for each type of joint venture.

2 Jointly controlled operations: Venturer recognizes the assets it controls, expenses and liabilities it incurs, and its share of revenue earned, in both its separate and consolidated financial statements. 

3 Jointly controlled assets: Venturer recognizes in its financial statements its share of the jointly controlled assets, any liabilities that it has incurred, and its share of any liabilities incurred jointly with the other venturers, revenue earned from the sale or use of its share of the output of the joint venture, its share of expenses incurred by the joint venture, and expenses incurred directly in respect of its interest in the joint venture. These rules apply to both separate and consolidated financial statements. 

4 Jointly controlled entities: Two accounting policies are permitted: 
Proportionate consolidation: Under this method, the venturer’s statement of financial position includes its share of the assets that it controls jointly and its share of the liabilities for which it is jointly responsible. Its statement of financial performance includes its share of the revenue and expenses of the jointly controlled entity. 
The equity method, as described in IPSAS 7. 

5 When there is evidence that the interest in a joint venture is acquired and held exclusively with a view to its disposal within 12 months from acquisition and that management is actively seeking a buyer, the interest shall be classified as held for trading and accounted for in accordance with the relevant international or national accounting standard dealing with the recognition and measurement of financial instruments. 

IPSAS 9 Revenue from Exchange Transactions
Effective date
Periods beginning on or after July 1, 2002.

Objective
To prescribe the accounting treatment for revenue arising from exchange transactions and events.

Summary
IPSAS 9 applies to revenue arising from the following exchange transactions and events: 

The rendering of services 

The sale of goods 

The use of others of entity assets yielding interest, royalties, and dividends 

1 Revenue shall be measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. 

2 Recognition: 
From sale of goods: When significant risks and rewards have been transferred to purchaser, loss of effective control by seller, amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is likely that the economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the entity, and the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably. 

From rendering of services: Reference to the stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting date, provided the outcome of the transaction can be estimated reliably. If the outcome of the transaction cannot be estimated reliably, revenue must be recognized only to the extent of the expenses recognized that are recoverable. 

For interest, royalties, and dividends: Recognized when it is probable that economic benefits or service potential will flow to the entity, and the amount of the revenue can be measured reliably. 

Interest — on a time proportion basis that takes into account the effective yield on the asset. 
Royalties — as they are earned in accordance with the substance of the relevant agreement. 
Dividends or their equivalents — when the shareholder’s or the entity’s right to receive payment are established. 
IPSAS 10 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies
Effective date
Periods beginning on or after July 1, 2002.

Objective
To prescribe specific standards for entities reporting in the currency of a hyperinflationary economy, so that the financial information (including the consolidated financial information) provided is meaningful.

Summary
The financial statements of an entity that reports in the currency of a hyperinflationary economy shall be stated in terms of the measuring unit current at the reporting date. 

Comparative figures for prior period(s) and any information in respect of earlier periods shall be stated into the same measuring unit current at the reporting date. 

The surplus or deficit on the net monetary position shall be separately disclosed in the statement of financial performance. 

When entities in the public sector include in their financial statements the related budgetary information, the budgetary information shall also be restated into the same current measuring unit. 

Generally, an economy is hyperinflationary when there is a 100% cumulative rate of inflation over three years. 

IPSAS 11 Construction Contracts
Effective date
Periods beginning on or after July 1, 2002.

Objective
To prescribe the accounting treatment for revenue and costs associated with construction contracts in the financial statements of the contractor.

Summary
Contract revenue shall comprise the initial amount agreed in the contract together with variations in contract work, claims, and incentive payments to the extent that it is probable that they will result in revenues and can be measured reliably. 

Contract revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. 

Contract costs shall comprise costs that relate directly to the specific contract, costs that are attributable to general contract activity and that can be allocated to the contract on a systematic and rational basis, together with such other costs as are directly attributable to the customer under the terms of the contract. 

Where the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably, revenue and costs shall be recognized by reference to the stage of completion of contract activity at the reporting date (the percentage of completion method of accounting). 

If the outcome cannot be estimated reliably, no surplus shall be recognized. Instead, contract revenue shall be recognized only to the extent that contract costs incurred are expected to be recovered, and contract costs shall be expensed as incurred. 

In respect of construction contracts in which it is intended at inception of the contract that contract costs are to be fully recovered from the parties to the construction contract: if it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected deficit shall be recognized immediately. 

IPSAS 12 Inventories
Effective date
Annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2008.
Objective
To prescribe the accounting treatment of inventories, including cost determination and expense recognition, including any write-down to net realisable value. It also provides guidance on the cost formulas that are used to assign costs to inventories.

Summary
Inventories are required to be measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Where inventories are acquired through a non-exchange transaction, their cost shall be measured as their fair value as at the date of acquisition. However, inventories are required to be measured at the lower of cost and current replacement cost where they are held for: 

Distribution at no charge or for a nominal charge 

Consumption in the production process of goods to be distributed at no charge or for a nominal charge 

Costs include all purchase cost, conversion cost (materials, labour, and overhead), and other costs to bring inventory to its present location and condition, but not foreign exchange differences and selling costs. Trade discounts, rebates, and other similar items are deducted in determining the costs of purchase. 

For inventory items that are not interchangeable, specific costs are attributed to the specific individual items of inventory. 

An entity shall apply the same cost formula for all inventories having similar nature and use to the entity; a difference in geographical location of inventories by itself is not sufficient to justify the use of different cost formulas. 

For interchangeable items, cost is determined on either a first-in, first-out or weighted-average basis. Last-in, first-out is not permitted. 

For inventories with a different nature or use, different cost formulas may be justified. 

When inventories are sold, exchanged, or distributed, the carrying amount shall be recognized as an expense in the period in which the related revenue is recognized. If there is no related revenue, the expense is recognized when the goods are distributed or related services have been rendered. 

Write-downs to net realizable value are recognized as an expense in the period the loss or the write-down occurs. Reversals arising from an increase in net realizable value are recognized as a reduction of the inventory expense in the period in which they occur. 

IPSAS 13 Leases
Effective date
Annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2008.

Objective
To prescribe, for lessees and lessors, the appropriate accounting policies and disclosures to apply in relation to finance and operating leases.

Summary
A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset. The title may or may not be eventually transferred. Examples: 

Lease covers substantially all of the asset’s life and/or 

Present value of lease payments is substantially equal to the asset’s fair value 

All other leases are classified as operating lease. The land and building elements of a lease are considered separately for the purposes of lease classification. 

Finance leases — lessee’s accounting: 

Recognize asset and liability at the lower of the present value of minimum lease payments and the fair value of the asset, determined at the inception of the lease. The discount rate applicable for calculating the present value shall be the interest rate implicit in the lease or the incremental borrowing rate. 

Depreciation policy — as for owned assets. 

Finance lease payment — apportioned between interest and reduction in outstanding liability. 

Finance leases — lessor’s accounting: 

Recognize as a receivable in the statement of financial position at an amount equal to the net investment in the lease 

Recognize finance revenue based on a pattern reflecting a constant periodic rate of return on the lessor’s net investment 

Operating leases — lessee’s accounting: 

Recognize lease payments as an expense in the statement of financial performance on a straight-line basis over the lease term, unless another systematic basis is representative of the time pattern of the user’s benefit. 

Operating leases — lessor’s accounting: 

Assets held for operating leases shall be presented in the lessor’s statement of financial position according to the nature of the asset. 

Lease revenue shall be recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term, unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern of the benefits. 

Lessors of operating leases shall add initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognize them as an expense over the lease term on the same basis as the lease revenue. 

Accounting treatment of sale and leaseback transactions depends on whether these are essentially finance or operating leases. 

IPSAS 16 Investment Property
Effective date
Annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2008
Objective
To prescribe the accounting treatment for investment property and related disclosures
Summary
Investment property is land or buildings held (whether by the owner or under a finance lease) to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both, rather than for: 

Use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes 

Sale in the ordinary course of operations Investment property shall be recognized as an asset when and only when: 

It is likely that the future economic benefits or service potential that are associated with the investment property will flow to the entity. 

The cost or fair value of the investment property can be measured reliably. 

IPSAS 16 does not apply to owner-occupied property or property that is being constructed or developed for future use as investment property, or property held for sale in the ordinary course of business. 

Investment property shall be measured initially at its cost. Transaction costs shall be included in this initial measurement. Where an investment is acquired through a non-exchange transaction at no cost, or for a nominal charge, its cost shall be measured at its fair value as at the date of acquisition. 

After recognition, an entity shall choose as its accounting policy either the fair value model or cost model: 

Fair value model: Investment property is measured at fair value, and changes in fair value are recognized in surplus or deficit for the period in which it arises. 

Cost model: Investment property is measured at depreciated cost, less any accumulated impairment losses. Fair value of the investment property shall still be disclosed. 

The chosen measurement model shall be applied to all of the entity’s investment property. 

If an entity uses the fair value model but, when a particular property is acquired, there is clear evidence that the entity will not be able to determine fair value on a continuing basis, the cost model is used for that property and it shall continue to be used until disposal of the property. In that case, the residual value of the investment property shall be assumed to be zero. 

Change from one model to the other shall be made only if the change will result in a more appropriate presentation (highly unlikely for change from fair value to cost model). 

A property interest held by a lessee under an operating lease can qualify as investment property provided that the lessee uses the fair value model of IPSAS 16. In this case, the lessee accounts for the lease as if it were a finance lease. 

IPSAS 17 Property, Plant and Equipment
Effective date
Annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2008
Objective
To prescribe the principles for the initial recognition and subsequent accounting (determination carrying amount and the depreciation charges and impairment losses) for property, plant and equipment so that users of financial statements can discern information about an entity’s investment in its property, plant and equipment and the changes in such investment.

Summary
Items of property, plant and equipment shall be recognized as assets if, and only if, it is probable that the future economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to the entity, and the cost or fair value of the item can be measured reliably. 

IPSAS 17 does not require or prohibit the recognition of heritage assets. An entity which recognizes heritage assets is required to comply with the disclosure requirements of IPSAS 17 with respect to those heritage assets that have been recognized and may, but is not required to, comply with other requirements of IPSAS 17 in respect of those heritage assets. 

Special military equipment will normally meet the definition of property, plant and equipment and shall be recognized as an asset. Infrastructure assets, such as road networks, sewer systems, and communication networks, shall be accounted for in accordance with this IPSAS. 

Initial recognition at cost, which includes all costs necessary to get the asset ready for its intended use. Where an asset is acquired at no cost, or for a nominal cost, its cost is its fair value as at the date of acquisition. If payment is deferred, interest shall be recognized. 

Subsequent to acquisition, IPSAS 17 allows a choice of accounting model for an entire class of property, plant and equipment: 

Cost model: The asset is carried at cost, less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 

Revaluation model: The asset is carried at revalued amount, which is fair value at revaluation date, less subsequent depreciation and impairment losses. 

Under the revaluation model, revaluations shall be carried out regularly. All items of a given class shall be revalued. Revaluation increases shall be credited directly to revaluation surplus. However, the increase shall be recognized as revenue in surplus or deficit to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease of the same class of assets previously recognized as an expense in surplus or deficit. Revaluation decreases are debited first against the revaluation surplus related to the same class of assets and any excess against surplus or deficit. When the revalued asset is disposed of, the revaluation surplus is transferred directly to accumulated surpluses or deficits and is not recycled through surplus or deficit. 

Revaluation increases and decreases related to individual assets within a class of property, plant and equipment must be offset against one another within that class but must not be offset in respect of assets in different classes. 

Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the item shall be depreciated separately. 

Depreciation is charged systematically over the asset’s useful life. The depreciation method must reflect the pattern in which the asset’s future economic benefits or service potential is expected to be consumed by the entity. The residual value must be reviewed at least annually and shall equal the amount the entity would receive currently if the asset were already of the age and condition expected at the end of its useful life. If operation of an item of property, plant and equipment (for example, an aircraft) requires regular major inspections, when each major inspection is performed, its cost is recognized in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement, if the recognition criteria are satisfied. If expectations differ from previous estimates, the change must be accounted for as a change in an accounting estimate in accordance with IPSAS 3. 

Land and buildings are separable assets and are accounted for separately, even when they are acquired together. Land normally has an unlimited useful life, and therefore is not depreciated. 

To determine whether an item of property, plant and equipment is impaired, an entity applies IPSAS 21 or IPSAS 26, as appropriate. 

All exchanges of property, plant and equipment shall be measured at fair value, including exchanges of similar items, unless the exchange transaction lacks commercial substance or the fair value of neither the asset received nor the asset given up is reliably measurable. 

The carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment must be derecognized: 

On disposal 

When no future economic benefits or service potential is expected from its use or disposal 

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment shall be included in surplus or deficit when the item is derecognized. Gains shall not be classified as revenue; the gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment must be determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the item. 

IPSAS 17 contains transitional provisions allowing entities to not recognize property, plant and equipment for reporting periods beginning on a date within five years following the date of first adoption of accrual accounting in accordance with International Public Sector Accounting Standards. 

The transitional provisions allow entities to recognize property, plant and equipment at cost or fair value on first adopting this standard. 

IPSAS 18 Segment Reporting
Effective date
Periods beginning on or after July 1, 2003
Objective
To establish principles for reporting financial information by segments to better understand the entity’s past performance and to identify the resources allocated to support the major activities of the entity, and enhance the transparency of financial reporting and enable the entity to better discharge its accountability obligations.

Summary
An entity which prepares and presents financial statements under the accrual basis of accounting shall apply IPSAS 18 in the presentation of segment information. 

If both consolidated financial statements of a government or other economic entity and the separate financial statements of the controlling entity are presented together, segment information need be presented only on the basis of the consolidated financial statements. 

Requires entities to report on segments on a basis appropriate for assessing the entity’s past performance in achieving its objectives and for making decisions about the future allocation of resources. 

An entity normally looks to its organizational structure and internal reporting system for the purpose of identifying its service segments and geographical segments. 

Government departments and agencies are usually managed and report internally along service lines because this reflects the way in which major outputs are identified, their achievements monitored, and their resource needs identified and budgeted. Where this occurs, the internal reporting system reflects a service segment structure. 

An entity may be organized and reports internally to the governing body and the senior manager on a regional basis — whether within or across national, state, local, or other jurisdictional boundaries. Where this occurs, the internal reporting system reflects a geographical segment structure. 

Segments will usually be based on the major goods and services the entity provides, the programs it operates, or the activities it undertakes. 

Guidance is provided on which segments are reportable, but IPSAS 18 does not specify quantitative thresholds that must be applied in identifying reportable segments. 

A primary and secondary segment reporting structure may be adopted with only limited disclosures made about secondary segments. 

Segment information shall be based on the same accounting policies as the consolidated group or entity. 

Assets that are jointly used by two or more segments must be allocated to segments if, and only if, their related revenues and expenses are also allocated to those segments. 

If a segment is identified as a segment for the first time, prior-period segment data that is presented for comparative purposes shall be restated to reflect the newly reported segment as a separate segment. 

IPSAS 19 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets
Effective date
Periods beginning on or after January 1, 2004
Objective
To prescribe appropriate recognition criteria and measurement bases for provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets, and to ensure that sufficient information is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements to enable users to understand their nature, timing, and amount. IPSAS 19 thus aims to ensure that only genuine obligations are dealt within the financial statements. Planned future expenditure, even where authorized by management, is excluded from recognition, as are accruals for self-insured losses, general uncertainties, and other events that have not yet taken place.

Summary
Recognize a provision only when: 

A past event has created a present legal or constructive obligation 

An outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or service potential required to settle the obligation is probable 

And the amount of the obligation can be estimated reliably 

Amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of settlement amount of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at reporting date. 

Requires a review of provisions at each reporting date to adjust for changes to reflect the current best estimate. 

If it is no longer probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or service potential is required to settle the obligation, the provision shall be reversed. 

Utilize provisions only for the purposes for which they were originally intended. 

Examples of provisions may include onerous contracts, restructuring provisions, warranties, refunds, and site restoration. 

A restructuring provision shall include only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which are those that are both: 

Necessarily entailed by the restructuring 

Not associated with the ongoing activities of the entity Contingent liability arises when: 

There is a possible obligation to be confirmed by a future event that is outside the control of the entity 

A present obligation may, but probably will not, require an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or service potential 

A sufficiently reliable estimate of the amount of a present obligation cannot be made (this is rare) 

Contingent liabilities require disclosure only (no recognition). If the possibility of outflow is remote, then no disclosure. 

Contingent asset arises when the inflow of economic benefits or service potential is probable, but not virtually certain, and occurrence depends on an event outside the control of the entity. 

Contingent assets require disclosure only (no recognition). If the realisation of revenue is virtually certain, the related asset is not a contingent asset and recognition of the asset and related revenue is appropriate. 

If an entity has an onerous contract, the present obligation (net of recoveries) under the contract shall be recognized and measured as a provision. 

IPSAS 20 Related Party Disclosures
Effective date
Annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2004
Objective
To ensure that financial statements disclose the existence of related-party relationships and transactions between the entity and its related parties. This information is required for accountability purposes and to facilitate a better understanding of the financial position and performance of the reporting entity.

Summary
Related parties are parties that control or have significant influence over the reporting entity (including controlling entities, owners and their families, major investors, and key management personnel) and parties that are controlled or significantly influenced by the reporting entity (including controlled entities, joint ventures, associates, and postemployment benefit plans). If the reporting entity and another entity are subject to common control, these entities are also considered related parties. 
Requires disclosure of: 
Relationships involving control, even when there have been no transactions in between 
Related-party transactions 
Management compensation (including an analysis by type of compensation) 
For related-party transactions, disclosure is required of the nature of the relationship, the types of transactions that have occurred, and the elements of the transactions necessary to clarify the significance of these transactions to its operations and sufficient to enable the financial statements to provide relevant and reliable information for decision making and accountability purposes. 
Examples of related-party transactions that may lead to disclosures by a reporting entity: 
Purchases or transfers/sales of goods (finished or unfinished) 
Purchases or transfers/sales of property and other assets 

Rendering or receiving of services 
Agency arrangements 
Leases 
Transfers of research and development 
Transfers under license agreements 
Transfers under finance arrangements (including loans and equity contributions) 
Provision of guarantees or collateral 
IPSAS 21 Impairment of Non-Cash-Generating Assets
Effective date
Annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2006
Objective
To ensure that noncash-generating assets are carried at no more than their recoverable service amount, and to prescribe how recoverable service amount is calculated.
Summary
IPSAS 21 applies to all non-cash-generating assets, except assets arising from construction contracts (see IPSAS 11), inventories (see IPSAS 12), financial assets that are included in the scope of IPSAS 29, investment property measured at fair value (see IPSAS 16), non-cash-generating property, plant and equipment that is measured at revalued amounts (see IPSAS 17), and other assets in respect of which accounting requirements for impairment are included in another IPSAS. 
Public sector entities that hold cash-generating assets shall apply IPSAS 26 to such assets. 
An impairment loss of a non-cash-generating asset is the amount by which the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable service amount. 
An impairment loss shall be recognized immediately in surplus or deficit. 
After the recognition of an impairment loss, the depreciation (amortization) charge for the asset shall be adjusted in future periods to allocate the asset’s revised carrying amount, less its residual value (if any), on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life. 
Recoverable service amount is the higher of a non-cash-generating asset’s fair value, less costs to sell and its value in use. Value in use of a non-cash-generating asset is the present value of the asset’s remaining service potential. The present value of the remaining service potential of the asset is determined using any one of the following three approaches, and depends on the availability of data and the nature of the impairment: 
Depreciated replacement cost approach: The present value of the remaining service potential of an asset is determined as the depreciated replacement cost of the asset. The replacement cost of an asset is the cost to replace the asset’s gross service potential. This cost is depreciated to reflect the asset in its used condition. An asset may be replaced either through reproduction (replication) of the existing asset or through replacement of its gross service potential. The depreciated replacement cost is measured as the reproduction or replacement cost of the asset, whichever is lower, less accumulated depreciation calculated on the basis of such cost, to reflect the already consumed or expired service potential of the asset.
Restoration cost approach: The present value of the remaining service potential of the asset is determined by subtracting the estimated restoration cost of the asset from the current cost of replacing the remaining service potential of the asset before impairment. The latter cost is usually determined as the depreciated reproduction or replacement cost of the asset whichever is lower. 
Service units approach: The present value of the remaining service potential of the asset is determined by reducing the current cost of the remaining service potential of the asset before impairment to conform with the reduced number of service units expected from the asset in its impaired state. As in the restoration cost approach, the current cost of replacing the remaining service potential of the asset before impairment is usually determined as the depreciated reproduction or replacement cost of the asset before impairment, whichever is lower 
At each reporting date, review assets to assess for any indication that an asset may be impaired. If impairment is indicated, the entity shall estimate recoverable service amount. Reversal of prior years’ impairment losses allowed in certain instances. 

IPSAS 22 Disclosure of Financial Information about the General Government Sector
Effective date
Annual periods beginning on or after April 1, 2009
Objective
To prescribe disclosure requirements for governments which elect to present information about the GGS in their consolidated financial statements. The disclosure of appropriate information about the GGS of a government can provide a better understanding of the relationship between the market and nonmarket activities of the government and between financial statements and statistical bases of financial reporting.

Summary
Financial information about the GGS shall be disclosed in conformity with the accounting policies adopted for preparing and presenting the consolidated financial statements of the government, with two exceptions: 
The GGS shall not apply the requirements of IPSAS 6, “Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements” in respect of entities in the public financial corporations and public nonfinancial corporations sectors. 
The GGS shall recognize its investment in the public financial corporations and public nonfinancial corporations sectors as an asset and shall account for that asset at the carrying amount of the net assets of its investees. 
Disclosures made in respect of the GGS shall include at least of the following: 
Assets by major class, showing separately the investment in other sectors 
Liabilities by major class 
Net assets/equity 
Total revaluation increments and decrements and other items of revenue and expense recognized directly in net assets/equity 
Revenue by major class 
Expenses by major class 
Surplus or deficit 
Cash flows from operating activities by major class 
Cash flows from investing activities 
Cash flows from financing activities 
The manner of presentation of the GGS disclosures shall be no more prominent than the government’s financial statements prepared in accordance with IPSAS. 
Disclosures of the significant controlled entities that are included in the GGS and any changes in those entities from the prior period must be made, together with an explanation of the reasons why any such entity that was previously included in the GGS is no longer included. 
The GGS disclosures shall be reconciled to the consolidated financial statements of the government showing separately the amount of the adjustment to each equivalent item in those financial statements. 

IPSAS 24 Presentation of Budget Information in Financial Statements
Effective date
Annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2009
Objective
To ensure that public sector entities discharge their accountability obligations and enhance the transparency of their financial statements by demonstrating compliance with the approved budget for which they are held publicly accountable and, where the budget and the financial statements are prepared on the same basis, their financial performance in achieving the budgeted results.
Summary
IPSAS 24 applies to public sector entities, other than GBEs, that are required or elect to make publicly available their approved budget. 

Original budget is the initial approved budget for the budget period. 
Approved budget means the expenditure authority derived from laws, appropriation bills, government ordinances, and other decisions related to the anticipated revenue or receipts for the budgetary period. 
Final budget is the original budget adjusted for all reserves, carry over amounts, transfers, allocations, supplemental appropriations, and other authorized legislative, or similar authority, changes applicable to the budget period. 
An entity shall present a comparison of budget and actual amounts as additional budget columns in the primary financial statements only where the financial statements and the budget are prepared on a comparable basis. 
An entity shall present a comparison of the budget amounts either as a separate additional financial statement or as additional budget columns in the financial statements currently presented in accordance with IPSAS. The comparison of budget and actual amounts shall present separately for each level of legislative oversight: 
The original and final budget amounts 
The actual amounts on a comparable basis 
By way of note disclosure, an explanation of material differences between the budget and actual amounts, unless such explanation is included in other public documents issued in conjunction with the financial statements and a cross reference to those documents is made in the notes 
An entity shall present an explanation of whether changes between the original and final budget are a consequence of reallocations within the budget, or of other factors: 
By way of note disclosure in the financial statements 
In a report issued before, at the same time as, or in conjunction with the financial statements, and shall include a cross reference to the report in the notes to the financial statements 
All comparisons of budget and actual amounts shall be presented on a comparable basis to the budget. 
An entity shall explain in notes to the financial statements the budgetary basis and classification basis adopted in the approved budget, the period of the approved budget, and the entities included in the approved budget. 
An entity shall identify in notes to the financial statements the entities included in the approved budget. 

The actual amounts presented on a comparable basis to the budget shall, where the financial statements and the budget are not prepared on a comparable basis, be reconciled to the following actual amounts presented in the financial statements, identifying separately any basis, timing, and entity differences: 
If the accrual basis is adopted for the budget, total revenues, total expenses and net cash flows from operating activities, investing activities, and financing activities 
If a basis other than the accrual basis is adopted for the budget, net cash flows from operating activities, investing activities, and financing activities 
The reconciliation shall be disclosed on the face of the statement of comparison of budget and actual amounts or in the notes to the financial statements.

IPSAS 26 Impairment of Cash-Generating Assets
Effective date
Periods beginning on or after April 1, 2009, earlier application is encouraged.

Objective
To prescribe the procedures that an entity applies to determine whether a cash-generating asset is impaired and to ensure that impairment losses are recognized. This standard also specifies when an entity shall reverse an impairment loss and prescribes disclosures.

Summary
IPSAS 26 applies to the accounting for the impairment of all cash-generating assets except inventories (see IPSAS 12), assets arising from construction contracts (see IPSAS 11), financial assets that are within the scope of IPSAS 29, investment property measured at fair value (see IPSAS 16), cash-generating property, plant, and equipment that is measured at revalued amounts (see IPSAS 17), deferred tax assets, assets arising from employee benefits (see IPSAS 25), intangible assets that are regularly revalued to fair value, goodwill, biological assets related to agricultural activity measured at fair value less estimated point-of-sale costs, deferred acquisition costs and intangible assets arising from an insurer’s contractual rights under insurance contracts, noncurrent assets classified as held for sale and discontinued operations, and other cash-generating assets in respect of which accounting requirements for impairment are included in another IPSAS. 

Impairment is a loss in the future economic benefits or service potential of an asset, over and above the systematic recognition of the loss of the asset’s future economic benefits or service potential through depreciation. 

The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. 

An impairment loss of a cash-generating asset is the amount by which the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. 

An entity shall assess at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the entity shall estimate the recoverable amount of the asset. 

An entity shall test an intangible asset with an indefinite useful life or an intangible asset not yet available for use for impairment annually by comparing its carrying amount with its recoverable amount. This impairment test may be performed at any time during the reporting period, provided it is performed at the same time every year. 

If, and only if, the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset shall be reduced to its recoverable amount. That reduction is an impairment loss. 

An impairment loss shall be recognized immediately in surplus or deficit. When the amount estimated for an impairment loss exceeds the carrying amount of the asset to which it relates, an entity shall recognize a liability if, and only if, that is required by another IPSAS. 

After the recognition of an impairment loss, the depreciation (amortization) charge for the asset shall be adjusted in future periods to allocate the asset’s revised carrying amount, less its residual value (if any), on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life. 

Value in use of a cash-generating asset is the present value of estimated future cash flows expected to be derived from the continuing use of an asset, and from its disposal at the end of its useful life. 

Discount rate is the pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. The discount rate shall not reflect risks for which future cash flows have been adjusted and shall equal the rate of return that investors would require if they were to choose an investment that would generate cash flows equivalent to those expected from the asset. 

If it is not possible to determine the recoverable amount for the individual cash-generating asset, then determine recoverable amount for the asset’s cash-generating unit. 

If an active market exists for the output produced by an asset or group of assets, that asset or group of assets shall be identified as a cash-generating unit, even if some or all of the output is used internally. If the cash inflows generated by an asset or cash-generating unit are affected by internal transfer pricing, an entity shall use management’s best estimate of future prices that could be achieved in arm’s length transactions in estimating: 

– The future cash inflows used to determine the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use 

The future cash outflows used to determine the value in use of any other assets or cash-generating units that are affected by the internal transfer pricing 

In allocating an impairment loss, an entity shall not reduce the carrying amount of an asset below the highest of: 

Its fair value less costs to sell (if determinable) 

Its fair value in use (if determinable) 

Zero 

Where a non-cash-generating asset contributes to a cash-generating unit a proportion of the carrying amount of that non-cash-generating asset shall be allocated to the carrying amount of the cash-generating unit prior to estimation of the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit. The carrying amount of the non-cash-generating asset shall reflect any impairment losses at the reporting date which have been determined under the requirements of IPSAS 21. 

An impairment loss recognized in prior periods for an asset shall be reversed if, and only if, there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognized. If this is the case, the carrying amount of the asset shall be increased to its recoverable amount. That increase is a reversal of an impairment loss. 

The redesignation of an asset from a cash-generating asset to a non-cash-generating asset or from a non-cash-generating asset to a cash-generating asset shall only occur when there is clear evidence that such a redesignation is appropriate. A redesignation, by itself, does not necessarily trigger an impairment test or a reversal of an impairment loss. Instead, the indication for an impairment test or a reversal of an impairment loss arises from, as a minimum, the listed indications applicable to the asset after redesignation. 

An entity shall disclose the criteria developed by the entity to distinguish cash-generating assets from non-cash-generating assets. Other disclosure requirements are applicable. 

IPSAS 27 Agriculture
Effective Date
Periods beginning on or after April 1, 2011
Objective
To prescribe the accounting treatment and disclosures for agricultural activity
Summary
Agricultural activity is the management by an entity of the biological transformation of living animals or plants (biological assets) for sale, or for distribution at no charge, or for a nominal charge, or for conversion into agricultural produce, or into additional biological assets. 

All biological assets (including those acquired biological assets through a non-exchange transaction) are measured at fair value less costs to sell, unless fair value cannot be measured reliably. 

Agricultural produce is measured at fair value at the point of harvest less costs to sell. Because harvested produce is a marketable commodity, there is no ‘measurement reliability’ exception for produce. 

Any change in the fair value of biological assets during a period is reported in surplus or deficit. 

Exception to fair value model for biological assets: If there is no active market at the time of recognition in the financial statements, and no other reliable measurement method, then the cost model is used for the specific biological asset only. The biological asset is measured at depreciated cost less any accumulated impairment losses. 

Quoted market price in an active market generally represents the best measure of the fair value of a biological asset or agricultural produce. If an active market does not exist, IPSAS 27 provides guidance for choosing another measurement basis. 

Fair value measurement stops at harvest. IPSAS 12 applies after harvest. 
IPSAS 28 Financial Instruments: Presentation
Effective date
Periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013
Objective
To prescribe principles for classifying and presenting financial instruments as liabilities or net assets/equity, and for offsetting financial assets and liabilities.

Summary
Financial guarantee contracts are those contracts that require the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the original or modified terms of a debt instrument. An entity uses the application guidance in IPSAS 28 to determine whether a financial guarantee is a contract or not. 

An entity applies IPSAS 28 to financial guarantee contracts (both exchange and non-exchange), if the issuer applies IPSAS 29 in recognizing and measuring the contracts, but shall apply the relevant international or national accounting standard dealing with insurance contracts if the issuer elects to apply that standard in recognizing and measuring them. An entity may apply IPSAS 29 to insurance contracts which involve the transfer of financial risk. 

Assets and liabilities in the public sector arise out of both contractual and no contractual arrangements. Assets and liabilities arising out of no contractual arrangements are not financial instruments. 

Contractual and no contractual arrangements may be none change in nature. Assets and liabilities arising from non-exchange transactions are accounted for in accordance with IPSAS 23. If non-exchange transactions are contractual, an entity assesses if the assets or liabilities arising from such transactions are financial instruments by using IPSAS 28. An entity uses the guidance in IPSAS 28 and IPSAS 23 in assessing whether a none-change transaction gives rise to a liability or an equity instrument (contribution from owners). 

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. 

Issuer’s classification of an instrument either as a liability or an equity instrument: 

Based on substance, not form, of the instrument 

Classification is made at the time of issue and is not subsequently altered 

An instrument is a financial liability if the issuer may be obligated to deliver cash or another financial asset or the holder has a right to demand cash or another financial asset 

An instrument that does not give rise to such a contractual obligation is an equity instrument 

Interest, dividends or similar distributions, losses and gains relating to a financial instrument or a component that is a financial liability are reported as revenue or expense 

Put table instruments and instruments that impose on the entity an obligation to deliver a pro rata share of net assets only on liquidation that (a) are subordinate to all other classes of instruments and (b) meet additional criteria, are classified as equity instruments even though they would otherwise meet the definition of a liability. 

At issue, an issuer classifies separately the debt and net assets/equity components of a single compound instrument such as convertible debt. 

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset and the net amount reported when, and only when, an entity has a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts, and intends either to settle on a net basis or simultaneously. 

Cost of treasury shares is deducted from net assets/equity, and resales of treasury shares are net assets/equity transactions. 

Costs of issuing or reacquiring equity instruments are accounted for as a deduction from net assets/equity, net of any related income tax benefit. 

Members’ shares in co-operative entities are liabilities unless the co-op has the legal right not to redeem on demand. 

IPSAS 29 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
Effective date
Periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013
Objective
To establish principles for recognizing, derecognizing, and measuring financial assets and financial liabilities.

Summary
All financial assets and financial liabilities, including all derivatives and certain embedded derivatives, are recognized in the statement of financial position. 

When a financial asset or financial liability is recognized initially, an entity shall measure it at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset or financial liability not at fair value through surplus or deficit, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial liability. 

An entity has an option of recognizing normal purchases and sales of securities in the market place consistently either at trade date or settlement date. If settlement-date accounting is used, IPSAS 29 requires recognition of certain value changes between trade and settlement dates. 

Concessionary loans are loans granted to or received by an entity on below-market terms. Any difference between the fair value of the concessionary loan and the loan proceeds is treated as follows: 

The entity receiving the loan considers whether the difference shall be accounted for in accordance with IPSAS 23 

The entity granting the loan treats the difference as an expense in surplus or deficit at initial recognition 

Financial guarantee contracts provided for no consideration or for a consideration that is not a fair value are initially recognized at fair value, determined by observation of a price in an active market, a valuation technique that does not directly relate to an active market or in accordance with IPSAS 19. 

For the purpose of measuring a financial asset subsequent to initial recognition, IPSAS 29 classifies financial assets into four categories: 

Financial assets measured at fair value through surplus or deficit 

Held-to-maturity (HTM) investments 

Loans and receivables 

Available-for-sale financial assets (AFS) 

After initial recognition, an entity shall measure financial assets, including derivatives that are assets, at their fair values, without any deduction for transaction costs it may incur on sale or other disposal, except for the following financial assets: 

(a) Loans and receivables, which shall be measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method 

(b) Held-to-maturity investments, which shall be measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method 

(c) Investments in equity instruments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured and derivatives that is linked to and must be settled by delivery of such unquoted equity instruments, which shall be measured at cost 

Financial assets that are designated as hedged items are subject to measurement under the hedge accounting requirements. All financial assets except those measured at fair value through profit or loss are subject to review for impairment. 

After acquisition, most financial liabilities are measured at original recorded amount less principal repayments and amortization. Three categories of liabilities are measured at fair value with value changes recognized in surplus or deficit: 

Derivative liabilities (unless designated as a hedging instrument in an effective cash flow hedge) 

Liabilities held for trading (short sales) 

Any liabilities that the entity designates, at issuance, to be measured at fair value through surplus or deficit (the ‘fair value option’) 

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. The fair value hierarchy in IPSAS 29: 

Best is quoted market price in an active market 

Otherwise use a valuation technique that makes maximum use of market inputs and includes recent arm’s length market transactions, reference to the current fair value of another instrument that is substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis, and option pricing models 

IPSAS 29 establishes conditions for determining when control over a financial asset or liability has been transferred to another party and, therefore, when it shall be removed from the statement of financial position (derecognized). Derecognition of a financial asset is not permitted to the extent to which the transferor has retained (1) substantially all risks and rewards of the transferred asset or part of the asset, or (2) control of an asset or part of an asset for which it has neither retained nor transferred substantially all risks and rewards. 

Hedge accounting (recognizing the offsetting effects of both the hedging instrument and the hedged item in the same period’s surplus or deficit) is permitted in certain circumstances, provided that the hedging relationship is clearly designated and documented, measurable, and actually effective. 

IPSAS 29 provides for three types of hedges: 

Fair value hedge: If an entity hedges a change in fair value of a recognized asset or liability or firm commitment, the change in fair values of both the hedging instrument and the hedged item are recognized in surplus or deficit when they occur 

Cash flow hedge: If an entity hedges changes in the future cash flows relating to a recognized asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction, then the change in fair value of the hedging instrument is recognized directly in net assets/equity until such time as the hedged future cash flows occur 

Hedge of a net investment in a foreign entity: This is treated like a cash flow hedge 

A hedge of foreign currency risk in a firm commitment may be accounted for as a fair value hedge or as a cash flow hedge. 

The foreign currency risk of a highly probable intragroup transaction is permitted to qualify as the hedged item in a cash flow hedge in the consolidated financial statements, provided that the transaction is denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the entity entering into that transaction and the foreign currency risk will affect the consolidated surplus or deficit. 

If the hedge of a forecast intragroup transaction qualifies for hedge accounting, any gain or loss that is recognized directly in net assets/equity in accordance with the hedging rules in IPSAS 29 is reclassified from net assets/equity to surplus or deficit in the same period or periods in which the foreign currency risk of the hedged transaction affects surplus or deficit. 

IPSAS 29 permits an entity to reclassify non-derivative financial assets out of the fair value through surplus or deficit and AFS categories in limited circumstances. The standard specifies criteria for reclassification, and requirements for measurement at the reclassification date and subsequently. 

IPSAS 29 prohibits reclassification out of fair value through surplus or deficit if an entity is unable to separately measure the embedded derivative on reclassification. In such circumstances the entire (combined) contract remains classified as at fair value through surplus or deficit. 

A portfolio hedge of interest rate risk (hedging an amount rather than a specific asset or liability) can qualify as a fair value hedge. 

IPSAS 31 Intangible Assets
Effective date
Periods beginning on or after April 1, 2011
Objective
To prescribe the accounting treatment for intangible assets that are not dealt with specifically in another IPSAS.
Summary
IPSAS 31 does not apply to intangible assets acquired in an entity combination from a non-exchange transaction, and to powers and rights conferred by legislation, a constitution, or by equivalent means, such as the power to tax. 

An intangible asset, whether purchased or self-created, is recognized if: 

It is probable that the future economic benefits or service potential that are attributable to the asset will flow to the entity 

The cost or fair value of the asset can be measured reliably 

Additional recognition criteria for internally generated intangible assets. Internally generated goodwill shall not be recognized as an asset. 

All research costs are charged to expense when incurred. 

Development costs are capitalized only after technical and commercial feasibility of the resulting product or service have been established. 

Internally generated brands, mastheads, publishing titles, lists of customers, or users of services and items similar in substance shall not be recognized as intangible assets. 

If an intangible item does not meet both the definition and the recognition criteria for an intangible asset, expenditure on the item is recognized as an expense when it is incurred, except if the cost is incurred as part of an entity combination, in which case it forms part of the amount recognized as purchase premium/goodwill at the acquisition date. 

For the purpose of accounting subsequent to initial acquisition, intangible assets are classified as: 

Indefinite life: No foreseeable limit to the period over which the asset is expected to generate net cash inflows for the entity. (Note — ‘indefinite’ does not mean ‘infinite’) 

Finite life: A limited period of benefit to the entity 

Intangible assets may be accounted for using a cost model or a revaluation model (permitted only in limited circumstances — see below). Under the cost model, assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortization and any accumulated impairment losses. 

If an intangible asset has a quoted market price in an active market (which is uncommon), an accounting policy choice of a revaluation model is permitted. Under the revaluation model, the asset is carried at a revalued amount, which is fair value at revaluation date less any subsequent depreciation and any subsequent impairment losses. 

To determine whether an intangible asset is impaired, an entity applies IPSAS 21 or IPSAS 26, as appropriate. 

An impairment loss of a cash-generating asset is the amount by which the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of a cash-generating asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. 

An impairment loss of a non-cash-generating asset is the amount by which the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable service amount, which is the higher of a non-cash-generating asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. 

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortized but are tested for impairment on an annual basis. If recoverable amount of a cash-generating asset or recoverable service amount of a non-cash-generating asset is lower than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognized. The entity also considers whether the intangible continues to have an indefinite life. 

Under the revaluation model, revaluations are carried out regularly. All items of a given class are revalued (unless there is no active market for a particular asset). Revaluation increases are credited directly to revaluation surplus. Revaluation decreases are charged first against the revaluation surplus related to the specific asset, and any excess against surplus or deficit. When the revalued asset is disposed of, the revaluation surplus is transferred directly to accumulated surpluses or deficit and is not reclassified to surplus or deficit. 

Normally, subsequent expenditure on an intangible asset after its purchase or completion is recognized as an expense. Only rarely are the asset recognition criteria met. 

IPSAS 32 Service Concession Arrangements: Grantor
Effective date
Periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014
Objective
To prescribe the accounting for service concession arrangements by the grantor, a public sector entity.

Summary
IPSAS 32 does not address the accounting for the operator side of such arrangements. The standard provides a mirror image of IFRIC 12 Service concession arrangements, which addresses the accounting for the operator side. 

The grantor recognizes a service concession asset if: 

The grantor controls or regulates what services the operator must provide with the asset, to whom it must provide them, and at what price 

The grantor controls through ownership, beneficial entitlement, or otherwise any significant residual interest in the asset at the end of the term of the arrangement 

For a ‘whole-of-life’ asset, only the conditions under (a) need to be met
The grantor recognizes assets provided by the operator; existing assets of the grantor are reclassified as service concession assets. 

The grantor recognizes a liability, depending on the way the grantor compensates the operator: 

Financial liability model: The grantor compensates the operator for the construction, development, acquisition, or upgrade of a service concession asset by making a predetermined series of payments. The IPSAS standards relating to financial instruments (IPSAS 28, 29 and 30) apply to this financial liability. 

Grant of a right to the operator model: The grantor compensates the operator for the construction, development, acquisition, or upgrade of a service concession asset and related services by granting the operator the right to earn revenue from third-party users of the service concession asset or another revenue-generating asset. The grantor accounts for this liability as the unearned portion of the revenue arising from the exchange of assets between the grantor (a service concession asset) and the operator (an intangible asset). 

The grantor’s treatment of revenues and expenses depends on these models: 

Financial liability model: The grantor allocates payments to the operator according to their substance as a reduction in the liability, a finance charge, and charges for services provided by the operator. 

Grant of a right to the operator model: The grantor earns the benefit associated with the assets received in the service concession arrangement in exchange for the right granted to the operator over the period of the arrangement. The grantor recognizes revenue and reduces the liability according to the economic substance of the service concession arrangement. 
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